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ABOUT THIS REPORT
We have added a few helpful features to make this report simpler to read:

We have used the following symbol to refer to further information in a 
certain section within the report:µ  xxxxxx..

With our environmental brand “This is green.” (Das ist grün.), we make 
our green transformation visible both externally and internally – including 
on our website nachhaltigkeit.deutschebahn.com/en.

This Integrated Report was prepared in accordance with the international 
standards of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). The symbol shows the 
chapters and sub-chapters in which the relevant content is located.

The download icon indicates that the corresponding content can be down
loaded online as an Excel file.

Passages of text that do not fall within the scope of the statutory audit of 
the management report with reasonable assurance are marked with arrows 
at the beginning and end and are highlighted with gray font color. These 
sections have been audited by an auditing firm as part of a limited as
surance engagement.

Online report
An online version and a PDF version of this Integrated Report are available 
online: db.de/ib-e.

ONLINE ADDITIONS
Interactive key figures
You can find our interactive key figure  
comparison at: db.de/keyfigures.
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SELECTED KEY FIGURES 2024 2023

Change

absolute %

K E Y  F I N A N C I A L  F I G U R E S  ( €   M I L L I O N )

Revenues 1) 26,203 26,087 + 116 + 0.4
Loss before taxes on income 1) – 1,367 – 2,854 + 1,487 – 52.1
Net loss for the year 1) – 1,770 – 2,701 + 931 – 34.5
EBITDA adjusted 1) 2,943 882 + 2,061 –
EBIT adjusted 1) – 333 – 2,180 + 1,847 – 84.7
Equity as of Dec 31 17,203 12,126 + 5,077 + 41.9
Net financial debt as of Dec 31 32,574 33,953 – 1,379 – 4.1
Total assets as of Dec 31 83,898 77,472 + 6,426 + 8.3
Capital employed as of Dec 31 52,166 48,300 + 3,866 + 8.0
Return on capital employed (ROCE) 1) (%) – 0.6 – 4.5 + 3.9 –
Debt coverage 1) (%) 6.0 0.8 + 5.2 –
Gross capital expenditures 1) 18,247 15,917 + 2,330 + 14.6
DB-financed net capital expenditures 1), 2) 5,944 5,341 + 603 + 11.3
Cash flow from operating activities 4,567 3,044 + 1,523 + 50.0
K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  F I G U R E S

Passengers (million) 2,429 2,385 + 44 + 1.8
R A I L  PA S S E N G E R  T R A N S P O RT

Punctuality DB passenger transport (rail) in Germany (%) 89.5 90.3 – 0.8 –
	 Punctuality DB Long-Distance (%) 62.5 64.0 – 1.5 –
Passengers (million) 1,867 1,837 + 30 + 1.6
	 thereof DB Long-Distance 133.4 140.3 – 6.9 – 4.9
Volume sold (million pkm) 84,707 82,943 + 1,764 + 2.1
	 thereof DB Long-Distance 44,106 45,459 – 1,353 – 3.0
Volume produced (million train-path km) 566.7 578.0 – 11.3 – 2.0
R A I L  F R E IG H T  T R A N S P O RT

Freight carried (million t) 179.8 197.6 – 17.8 – 9.0
	 thereof German companies 148.6 163.7 – 15.1 – 9.2
Volume sold (million tkm) 68,545 74,458 – 5,913 – 7.9
	 thereof German companies 46,435 51,905 – 5,470 – 10.5
T R AC K  I N F R A S T R U CT U R E

Punctuality (rail) in Germany 3) (%) 88.1 88.9 – 0.8 –
	 Punctuality DB Group (rail) in Germany (%) 89.4 90.1 – 0.7 –
Train kilometers on track infrastructure (million train-path km) 1,103 1,118 – 15 – 1.3
	 thereof non-Group railways 448.8 437.8 + 11.0 + 2.5
	 Share of non-Group railways (%) 40.7 39.2 + 1.5 –
Station stops (million) 160.1 159.6 + 0.5 + 0.3
	 thereof non-Group railways 49.3 47.8 + 1.5 + 3.1
B U S  T R A N S P O RT

Passengers (million) 562.2 547.8 + 14.4 + 2.6
Volume sold (million pkm) 6,266 6,024 + 242 + 4.0
Volume produced (million bus km) 555.4 530.8 + 24.6 + 4.6
A D D I T I O N A L  K E Y  F I G U R E S

Order book in passenger transport as of Dec 31 1) (€ billion) 91.7 89.0 + 2.7 + 3.0
Length of line operated as of Dec 31 (km) 33,478 33,464 + 14 –
Passenger stations as of Dec 31 5,700 5,697 + 3 + 0.1
Rating Moody’s/S&P Global Ratings Aa 1/AA– Aa 1/AA– – –
Employees as of Dec 31 1)  (FTE) 225,560 219,713 + 5,847 + 2.7
Share of women as of Dec 31 (%) 26.2 25.3 + 0.9 –
Employee satisfaction (SI) 3.8 – – –
Absolute  CO₂e emissions compared to 2019 4) (%)
	 Scope 1 and 2 emissions – 19.2 – 11.7 – 7.5 –
	 Scope 3 emissions 5) – 17.0 + 8.2 – 25.2 –
Share of renewable energies in the DB traction current mix 6) (%) 69.8 68.0 + 1.8 –
Track kilometers noise-remediated in total as of Dec 31 (km) 2,324 2,255 + 69 + 3.1
1)	�� Continuing operationsContinuing operationsµ 37 f37 f.. Figures for 2023 adjusted due to reclassification of reclassification of DBDB Arriva Arrivaµ 120 120..
2)	 Excluding additional equity increases by the Federal Governmentadditional equity increases by the Federal Governmentµ 46 f.46 f. for infrastructure financing.
3)	��� Non-Group and DB Group train operating companies.
4)	��� Includes DB Fahrzeuginstandhaltung GmbH from the Subsidiaries/Other area and DB Cargo AG and foreign subsidiaries without their stationary facilities from DB Cargo. 
5)	 Includes the material Scope 3 categories 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 and 3.11. 
6)	��� In Germany. The data for 2024  represents a forecast as of February 2025. The data for 2023 corresponds to the status of the statutory electricity labeling (November 2024)  

pursuant to the German Energy Industry Act (Energiewirtschaftsgesetz; EnWG) and may therefore deviate from the preliminary disclosures in the 2023 Integrated Report.  
Since 2023, the share of renewable energies is presented separately without support from the Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz; EEG). 
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Deutsche Bahn Foundation supports children from socioeco-
nomically disadvantaged families in school and extracurric-
ular activities. In conjunction with Teach First Deutschland 
and Rock Your Life!, young people from socioeconomically 
disadvantaged families are supported in making the transi-
tion to work.

The Deutsche Bahn Foundation’s annual call for funding 
applications was a targeted response to the political situation 
in the 2024 state election year, aimed at promoting dialog 
between people with different opinions and experiences and 
actively confronting conspiracy thinking and misinformation. 
Sixteen charitable projects were supported.

Integration

The Deutsche Bahn Foundation provides uncomplicated 
and rapid support by offering direct assistance to people in 
existential or psychosocial emergencies. It works closely 
with the Verein Bahnhofsmission Deutschland (German 
Association of Train Station Welfare Center) and about 100 
Bahnhofsmissionen (train station welfare centers) to carry 
out longer-term projects for people in need of help in the 
station area, in addition to short-term cooperation in crisis 
situations.

At the same time, it aims to raise public awareness of 
social issues such as homelessness and help destigmatize 
mental illness. Together with the German Depression Aid 
and Suicide Prevention Foundation, the Deutsche Bahn Foun-
dation supports the German Alliance against Depression, 
which is active in about 80 cities and regions. In 2024, the 
joint annual German depression barometer study examined 
the issue of “Depression and family.” A long-standing and 
close partnership also exists with the nationwide Off Road 
Kids Foundation, and with the help of the the online plat-
form sofahopper.de, which is promoted by the Deutsche 
Bahn Foundation, young people at risk of homelessness can 
access a qualified contact and counseling center through-
out Germany.

The Deutsche Bahn Foundation also continues to be ac-
tive in the field of humanitarian aid. In Afghanistan, it sup-
ported an emergency aid program for girls, women and fam-
ilies in 2024 in conjunction with the Development Works 
Alliance, the alliance member DAHW German Leprosy and 
Tuberculosis Relief Association (GLRA) and the locally active 
partner organization Afghan Volunteer Women’s Association 
(AFV) The program has provided free access to education 
and improved the school infrastructure in rural Afghanistan.

Volunteering

The Deutsche Bahn Foundation makes the commitment of 
volunteers visible and recognizes their achievements. 2024 
saw the launch of the new traveling exhibition “Ehrenwert” 
to strengthen and appreciate volunteering. It is aimed at em-
phasizing the diversity and importance of volunteering and 
further encouraging people to volunteer themselves. 2024 is 
the ninth time that DB employees who are involved in char-
itable organizations in their free time have applied for fund-
ing from the Deutsche Bahn Foundation. The program “Ehren
sache” supported 212 projects.

The Christmas campaign “Wunscherfüller:in” is aimed spe-
cifically at DB employees. Together, DB employees were also 
able to fulfill the wishes of people in need in 2024. The project 
was also expanded to include a fundraising campaign for the 
first time. DB employees were able to quickly and easily sup-
port a children’s home in northern Syria with a sum of money.

DB Museum

The Deutsche Bahn Foundation operates the DB Museum 
with its locations in Nuremberg, Koblenz and Halle (Saale). 
Founded in 1882, the museum aims to explore, collect, pres-
ent and communicate the history of German railways. It also 
maintains one of the world’s largest collections of vehicles 
with about 600 locomotives and carriages as well as proba-
bly the oldest and most extensive collections of archival 
documents, objects, film and photographs on German rail-
way history.

The number of visitors across all locations in 2024 was 
very high with more than 220,000 guests. The slightly lower 
figures at the Nuremberg main building (–4%) were largely 
contrasted by overall double-digit growth at the two loca-
tions in Koblenz and Halle (Saale).
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Ecosystems and partnerships
The global crises and a tense economic situation worldwide 
are making market conditions more difficult. The pressure 
on established market players is also increasing due to many 
uncertainties. Companies tend to cut back on innovations, 
in particular, which are often associated with uncertainty. 
To tap efficiency potential in this environment and ensure 
the long-term competitiveness of DB Group, it is still neces-
sary to act as an ecosystem-oriented company.

DB Group stands for openness to innovation, which is be
ing systematically expanded in particular through partner-
ships with the help of “Beyond1435” and “DB Mindbox.” Po-
tential partners and their solutions are tested in non-binding 
pilot projects. If this is promising, integration into DB Group’s 
value chain is possible via various cooperation models to make 
the innovative strength and expertise of these partners avail-
able on a long-term and binding basis.

The DB innovation initiatives are aimed at achieving a 
rapid efficiency effect: for example, AI technologies in vehi-
cle maintenance are used to optimize the search for spare 
parts and duplicate recognition in warehousing.

The productive use of generative AI is also made possible 
by partnerships within DB Group. With the DataHub Europe 
initiative, DB Group and the Schwarz Group are working to-
gether to strengthen Europe’s digital sovereignty, among 
other things. The DataHub Europe is a platform that provides 
and curates high-quality data (e.g. from media and publish-
ing houses) to enable “AI made in Europe.” Among other 
things, the DataHub Europe is intended to enable highly 
sensitive data (such as audit data) to be made available on 
a protected IT infrastructure in Germany in compliance with 
the applicable EU legal framework to build own AI applica-
tions with such data. 

Digital Rail for Germany
Digitalization, automation and AI are the central keys to 
higher capacity and optimal utilization of the rail network. 
Digital Rail for GermanDigital Rail for Germanyy ( (Digitale Schiene Deutschland; Digitale Schiene Deutschland; DSDDSD)) ∫ No. 145No. 145 
is working on a digital, highly automated rail system. Digi-
tal interlockings (DSTW), the European Train Control System 
(ETCS) and automated driving (ATO) serve as a basis.

The flagship project of Digital Rail for Germany in 2024 was 
the Stuttgart Digital Hub (Digitaler Knoten Stuttgart; DKS). 
In the Stuttgart area, a major junction in Germany will be 
equipped with digital command and control technology 
(digital interlockings, ETCS Level 2 without signals and other 
DSD technologies) for the first time – but probably a year 
later than scheduled in 2026. The BMDV has published a 
vehicle funding directive to support the vehicle refitting. In 
a first wave, a total of 491 regional and S-Bahn (metro) mul-
tiple units are to be equipped. 

Digital and electronic interlockings are important foun-
dations and prerequisites for the use of ETCS. As part of this, 
the DSTWDSTW Meitingen-Mertingen Meitingen-Mertingenµ 164164 started operation in 2024. 
Two more electronic interlocking systems (ESTW) were put 
into operation in 2024. The ESTW in Baden-Baden replaced 
a relay interlocking that was operated with old analog tech-
nology. The first measures to digitalize the line between 
Flensburg and Maschen and modernize the command and 
control technology between Halle/Leipzig and Berlin also 
began in 2024. As well as being equipped with ETCS, numer-
ous interlockings and control units, such as level crossings, 
are being digitalized on both lines.

In addition to the implementation projects, we also made 
progress in the development of fully automated, driverless 
driving in 2024 as part of the DSD. In 2024 this focused on 
projects for the automated setup and shutdown of trains in 
the Automated Train project. In 2024, the DSD also underwent 
strategic realignment and adjustments. The reason for this 
is insufficient funding and the resulting need to prioritize. 
Among other things, the DSD target image was adapted so 
that a central goal is the complete refitting of all interlock-
ings to modern ESTW or DSTW. With regard to ETCS equip-
ment, a comprehensive portfolio will be tackled in the next 
few years, with the priorities DKS, Rhine-Alpine corridor, TEN 
ScanMed corridor and high-performance corridors.

The political and legal requirements for DSD (including 
equipment planning for ETCS, radio and ATO) were also 
updated by way of the notification of the National Imple-
mentation Plan to the European Commission by the BMDV 
in July 2024.

∏
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In conjunction with the German Center for Rail Transport 
Research (DZSF) and our partners from industry, we intend 
to continue to advance the research and development of 
noise and vibration protection measures for track infrastruc-
ture and rolling stock. At InnoTrans 2024, the EBA and DB 
InfraGO signed a cooperation agreement that provides for 
long-term collaboration on the construction and operation 
of an innovative test noise barrier in the DZSF’s open digital 
test field. This facility will make a significant contribution to 
researching and testing new noise reduction technologies.

The loud function test of the macrophones of our loco-
motives and multiple units is disturbing for residents living 
near rail facilities. Until now, this had to be carried out daily 
due to safety requirements. Together with the Association 
of German Transport Companies (VDV), DB Regional, DB 
Long-Distance and DB Cargo are developing a procedure for 
ending the acoustic function test of the macrophone. In this 
way, DB Regional and DB Long-Distance were able to deter-
mine as early as 2024 that no unmanageable risks would arise 
from the elimination of the acoustic macrophone test (except 
ICE 2) in the preparatory service. On this basis, the daily 
acoustic function tests of the macrophonesmacrophones ∫ No. 34No. 34 are no 
longer necessary. DB Cargo is working intensively on exten-
sive testing to implement the same procedure while at the 
same time ensuring the necessary safety standards.

We are also focusing on the further development of noise 
protection measures on our vehicles. We have therefore suc-
cessfully further developed the innovative wheel sets with 
absorber rings tested as part of the BMVI “Innovative freight 
wagon” project with the manufacturer and subjected them 
to further operational testing. This has shown that the re-
quired operational capability is fulfilled, but the expected 
effectiveness in practical application could not be proven. 
The measure will, therefore, not be implemented. 

Deviations from the forecast

OUTLOOK FOR THE  
2024 FINANCIAL YEAR 2023 

2024 
(Mar 2024 

forecast)   

2024 
(Jul 2024 
forecast)  2024 

Track kilometers noise-remediated  
in total as of Dec 31 (km) 2,255 2,320 2,320 2,324

The development of the track kilometer noise-remediated 
corresponds to our forecast in the 2023 Integrated Report.

Further disclosures

A I R  Q U A L I T Y  C O N T R O L

ABSOLUTE PARTICULATE EMISSIONS AS OF DEC 31  /  t 2024 2023 2022

Passenger transport 1) 200 213 155
Freight transport 1) 190 236 222
Other transport 19 10 4
Stationary facilities 1) 109 94 89
DB Group 1) 518 553 469
DB Group including discontinued operations 2) 3,528 3,739 3,764
	 thereof discontinued operations 2) 3,010 3,186 3,295

Individual figures are rounded and therefore may not add up.
Combustion-related, well-to-wheel (WTW), scope 1 – 3. 
1)	� Figures for 2023 and 2022 adjusted due to the reclassification of reclassification of DBDB Schenker Schenkerµ 120120  

and the sale of sale of DBDB Arriva Arrivaµ 120120.
2)	 Discontinued operations excluding stationary consumption. Previous year’s figures adjusted.

ABSOLUTE NITROGEN OXIDE (NOX) EMISSIONS  
AS OF DEC 31  /  t 2024 2023 2022

Passenger transport 1) 5,922 6,186 5,918
Freight transport 5,699 6,238 7,420
Other transport 1) 452 172 173
Stationary facilities 1,150 731 724
DB Group 1) 13,222 13,328 14,234
DB Group including discontinued operations 2) 74,561 84,192 90,678
	 thereof discontinued operations 2) 61,338 70,864 76,444

Individual figures are rounded and therefore may not add up.
Combustion-related, well-to-wheel (WTW), scope 1 – 3.  
1)	� Figures for 2023 and 2022 adjusted due to the reclassification of reclassification of DBDB Schenker Schenkerµ 120120  

and the sale of sale of DBDB Arriva Arrivaµ 120120.
2)	 Discontinued operations excluding stationary consumption. Previous year’s figures adjusted.

ABSOLUTE SULFUR DIOXIDE (SO₂) EMISSIONS AS OF DEC 31  /  t 2024 2023 2022

Passenger transport 1) 2,404 2,339 1,014
Freight transport 1) 1,067 1,223 1,322
Other transport 252 197 42
Stationary facilities 1) 927 737 1,024
DB Group 1) 4,651 4,496 3,403
DB Group including discontinued operations 2) 18,848 20,602 18,969
	 thereof discontinued operations 2) 14,198 16,106 15,567

Individual figures are rounded and therefore may not add up.
Combustion-related, well-to-wheel (WTW), scope 1 – 3.  
1)	� Figures for 2023 and 2022 adjusted due to the reclassification of reclassification of DBDB Schenker Schenkerµ 120120  

and the sale of sale of DBDB Arriva Arrivaµ 120120.
2)	 Discontinued operations excluding stationary consumption. Previous year’s figures adjusted.

ABSOLUTE HYDROCARBON EMISSIONS (NMHC)  
AS OF DEC 31  /  t 2024 2023 2022

Passenger transport 1) 659 663 493
Freight transport 1) 601 618 686
Other transport 99 68 57
Stationary facilities 1) 132 126 251
DB Group 1) 1,490 1,475 1,487
DB Group including discontinued operations 2) 13,720 6,914 7,447
	 thereof discontinued operations 2) 12,230 5,439 5,960

Individual figures are rounded and therefore may not add up.
Combustion-related, well-to-wheel (WTW), scope 1 – 3.  
1)	� Figures for 2023 and 2022 adjusted due to the reclassification of reclassification of DBDB Schenker Schenkerµ 120120  

and the sale of sale of DBDB Arriva Arrivaµ 120120.
2)	 Discontinued operations excluding stationary consumption. Previous year’s figures adjusted.
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In 2024, as a result of the planned sale of sale of DBDB Schenker Schenkerµ 120120,, 
the corresponding current and non-current assets and liabil-
ities were classified as discontinued operationdiscontinued operationµ 237237 and reported 
separately as current assets held for sale or as liabilities which 
are due to mature in the short term relating to assets held for 
sale. Comparability with the end of the previous year is, there-
fore, limited for individual balance sheet items.

Total assets were significantly higher:
	◊ Non-current assets were roughly at the level of the end 

of the previous year. The increase in property, plant and 
equipment (€ +1,990 million) due to continued high net 
capital expenditures (partially offset by the reclassification reclassification 
of of DBDB Schenker Schenkerµ 120120)) and receivables and other assets 
(€ +278 million) was opposed by a decrease in intangible 
assets (€ –1,423 million), which was mainly due to the 
reclassification of DB Schenker and mainly related to good-
will. The decline in deferred tax assets (€ –600 million) 
above all as a result of the full impairment at DB AG also 
had an offsetting effect.

	◊ Current assets increased significantly. The main factors 
were:

	◊ significantly higher assets held for sale (€ +7,318 mil-
lion) as a result of the reclassification of DB Schenker, 
and

	◊ the increase in cash and cash equivalents (€ +1,539 
million) mainly due to the inflow of funds from grants 
by the Federal Government at the end of 2024.

	◊ Lower trade receivables (€ –2,249 million) and lower 
other receivables and assets (€ –636 million), mainly 
due to the reclassification of DB Schenker, had a par-
tially offsetting effect.

The structure of the assets side has changed as a result of 
the reclassification of DB Schenker. The proportion of current 
assets has increased significantly.

On the liabilities side, equity increased, mainly due to
	◊ the equity increases by the Federal Government (€ +5,500 

million in total) to finance capital expenditures in rail infrastruc-finance capital expenditures in rail infrastruc-
turetureµ 46 f.46 f.,,

	◊ the increase in changes recorded in the reserves in con-
junction with the revaluation of pensions (€ +589 million, 
partially offsetting effect in other changes in generated 
profit in conjunction with the sale of sale of DBDB Arriva Arrivaµ 120120),), and

	◊ higher changes recorded in the reserves in conjunction 
with the fair value measurement of cash flow hedges 
(€ +170 million) and currency translation (€ +136 million; 
partially offsetting effect in other changes in generated 
profit in conjunction with the sale of DB Arriva).

	◊ This was offset in particular by the net loss for the year 
(€ –806 million), and

	◊ other changes in generated profit (€ –470 million) mainly 
in conjunction with the sale of DB Arriva (reclassifications 
of changes recorded in the reserves in conjunction with 
the revaluation of pensions and currency translation).

The disproportionately high increase in equity compared to 
total assets led to a higher equity ratio.

	◊ Non-current liabilities decreased slightly. In essence, this 
development was characterized by:

	◊ lower non-current financial debfinancial debttµ 129 f.129 f. (€ –641 million),
	◊ a decrease in pension obligations (€ –174 million), part

ly as a result of a higher interest rate at the revaluation 
and the reclassification of DB Schenker, 

	◊ lower non-current provisions (€ –172 million; partly 
due to a decrease in the provision for impending losses 
at DB Regional), and

	◊ the reclassification of DB Schenker.
	◊ The increase in accruals (€ +310 million) had a par-

tially offsetting effect.
	◊ Current liabilities increased significantly. In essence, this 

development was characterized by:
	◊ higher liabilities held for sale (€ +4,042 million) as a 

result of the reclassification of DB Schenker,
	◊ increased other provisions (€ +858 million), largely 

due to additions for revenue reductions at DB Regional.
	◊ the increase in financial liabilities falling due in the 

short term (€ +656 million), mainly as a result of a 
higher volume of outstanding commercial paper as of 
December 31, 2024 due to issuances.

	◊ The decrease in trade payables (€ –2,767 million), 
other liabilities falling due in the short term (€ –715 
million) and tax liabilities (€ –111 million) above all 
due to the reclassification of DB Schenker had a par-
tially offsetting effect.
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DB Long-Distance business unit

B U S I N E S S  M O D E L
DB Long-Distance offers passengers comfortable and envi-
ronmentally friendly travel within Germany and into neigh-
boring countries. Regularly scheduled daily services with 
the ICE/Intercity/EC fleet form the backbone of long-dis-
tance transport.

The most important targets figures are passenger satis-
faction, punctuality (operational and whole journey), volume 
sold, employee satisfaction and operating profit (EBIT). 
Steering is particularly based on the performance figures of 
volume produced and seat utilization ratio on trains (load 
factor). Costs largely correlate with the planned volume 
produced, which is derived from the services offered. Some 
of the expenses, such as for train-paths, station stops and 
energy, depend on the actual volume produced. Resource 
assignments of personnel and facilities are aligned with the 
annual schedule in order to optimize the cost per unit per 
train kilometer traveled. The key cost drivers here are vehi-
cle, personnel and infrastructure expenses, which is why the 
business is fixed-cost-intensive. Only a small portion of ex-
penses varies with the load factor of the trains.

The most important sources of income for long-distance 
transport which is operated on a purely commercial basis are 
revenues from the sale of tickets and BahnCards.

The employees, a modern vehicle fleet and a high-qual-
ity infrastructure are crucial for the success of DB Long-Dis-
tance. This is why intra-Group infrastructure companies and 
service providers as well as the vehicle industry are import-
ant partners. Furthermore, cooperation with other European 
train operating companies is of great importance for 
cross-border connections and night train services.

M A R K E T S  A N D  S T R AT E G Y
At the heart of the strategy of DB Long-Distance is the long-
term growth path of the Strong RailStrong Railµ 5353 strategy aimed at 
promoting the shift in the mode of transport to climate- 
friendly rail transport. The main goal remains to double 
volume sold compared to the year 2015 to more than 70 bil
lion pkm per year. In addition to connecting regions, the 
further development of offers focuses on more international 
services and more ICE Sprinter and transfer-free direct con-
nections in Germany.

At the same time, the framework conditions in the 
long-distance market have changed significantly due to in-
flation and changes in travel behavior, for example as a result 
of working from home and the Germany-Ticket. In addition, 
2024 was characterized by a poor operational situation. Rea-
sons for this included numerous construction works and se-
vere weather conditions such as the storm Radha. To return 
to the target path of the Strong Rail strategy despite the 
changed framework conditions and to offer an attractive and 
economical service again, DB Long-Distance has initiated  
a comprehensive performance and transformation program 
as part of the S3 restructuring programS3 restructuring programµ 54 ff.54 ff. In the future,  
resources will be deployed in an even more focused manner 
where they offer the greatest benefit for passengers. The 
core targets are improving profitability and stabilizing ope
rations. DB Long-Distance is helping to improve punctuality 
mainly through vehicles that are less prone to failure and 
resilient operational concepts. To increase profitability, we 
aim to reduce capital employed and increase personnel 
productivity, among other things. By way of its contribution 
to the S3 restructuring program, DB Long-Distance wants to 
create the conditions so as to continue the growth path of 
the Strong Rail strategy.

TextText

DB TRACK INFRASTRUCTURE  
SELECTED KEY FIGURES  /  in Germany 2024 2023

Change

absolute %

Infrastructure customers 460 464 – 4 – 0.9
	 Intra-Group railways 17 17 – –
	 Non-Group railways 443 447 – 4 – 0.9
Train-path demand (million train-path km) 1,103 1,117 – 15 – 1.3
	 Intra-Group railways 654.1 679.7 – 25.6 – 3.8
	 Non-Group railways 448.8 437.7 + 11.1 + 2.5
	� Share of non-Group railways  (%) 40.7 39.2 + 1.5 + 3.8
Station stops (million) 160.1 159.6 + 0.5 + 0.3
	 Intra-Group railways 110.8 111.8 – 1.0 – 0.9
	 Non-Group railways 49.3 47.8 + 1.5 + 3.1

Individual figures are rounded and thus may not add up.
Figures include Usedomer Bäderbahn (UBB). UBB is not part of DB InfraGO.

	◊ Train-path demand fell in 2024. Impairments resulted 
from one-off events (strikes and severe weather condi-
tions), construction-related closures (e.g. as part of the 
general modernization of the Riedbahn) and economic 
declines in rail freight transport. On the other hand, the 
increase in demand for regional rail passenger transport 
had a positive effect.

	◊ The number of station stops increased slightly in 2024, 
despite a continuing high level of construction activity 
and weather-related influences (e.g. storm Radha). 
Rental revenues in the stations in 2024 were above the 
previous year’s level.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

JAN 1 THROUGH DEC 31  /  € million Note 2024 2023 1)

Loss before taxes on income – 1,367 – 2,854
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (8) 3,218 3,124
Write-ups/write-downs on non-current financial assets (9) – 5
Result of the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (3), (7) 110 37
Result of the disposal of financial assets (3), (7) 0 – 3
Result of the disposal of consolidated companies (3), (7) – 1 16
Interest and dividend income (9), (10) – 171 – 169
Interest expenses (9) 935 721
Foreign currency result – 4 – 36
Result of investments accounted for using the equity method – 13 – 8
Other non-cash expenses and income 2) 2,875 2,251
Changes in inventories, receivables and other assets – 1,283 – 599
Changes in liabilities, provisions and deferred items 207 – 891
Cash generated from operating activities 4,506 1,594
Interest received 127 117
Received dividends and capital distributions 12 669
Interest paid – 707 – 540
Paid (–)/reimbursed (+) taxes on income – 39 – 44
Cash flow from operating activities (continuing operations) 3,899 1,796
Cash flow from operating activities (discontinued operations) 668 1,248
Cash flow from operating activities 4,567 3,044

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 149 143
Payments for capital expenditures in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets – 17,874 – 15,743
Proceeds from investment grants 9,218 9,286
Payments for repaid investment grants – 48 – 105
Proceeds from the sale and disposal of financial assets 88 77
Payments for investments in financial assets – 37 – 332
Proceeds from the sale of shares in consolidated companies less net cash and cash equivalents sold 1,225 –
Payments for the acquisition of shares in consolidated companies less net cash and cash equivalents  
acquired as well as for the acquisition of share in companies – 9 –
Proceeds from the disposal of investments accounted for using the equity method 0 0
Payments for additions of investments accounted for using the equity method 0 – 1
Cash flow from investing activities (continuing operations) – 7,288 – 6,675
Cash flow from investing activities (discontinued operations) – 469 – 705
Cash flow from investing activities – 7,757 – 7,380

Proceeds from capital injections (25) 5,500 1,125
Profit distribution to shareholder (26) – – 650
Distribution of profits to non-controlling interests and hybrid capital investors – 33 – 28
Payments for redemption of leasing liabilities – 503 – 507
Payments for redemption of IFRIC 12 leasing liabilities – 19 – 17
Proceeds from issue of senior bonds 1,107 3,010
Payments for redemption of senior bonds – 1,913 – 1,886
Payments for redemption and repayment of interest-free loans from the Federal Government – 155 – 155
Proceeds from taking out financial loans and commercial paper 3) 3,531 2,370
Payments for redemption of financial loans and commercial paper 3) – 1,157 – 270
Cash flow from financing activities (continuing operations) 6,358 2,992
Cash flow from financing activities (discontinued operations) – 606 – 663
Cash flow from financing activities 5,752 2,329

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,562 – 2,007
Cash and cash equivalents as of Jan 1 (22) 2,631 5,138
Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in the scope of consolidation – 0
Changes in cash and cash equivalents of non-current assets held for sale (23) – 1,037 – 431
Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to changes in exchange rates 14 – 69
Cash and cash equivalents as of Dec 31 (22) 4,170 2,631
1)	 Figures for 2023 adjusted due to classification of DBDB Schenker as discontinued operation Schenker as discontinued operationµ 236 f236 f..
2)	 Including additions to other provisions.
3)	 Including change in short-term bank borrowings between reporting dates.

√
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( 2 2 )  C A S H  A N D  C A S H  E Q U I VA L E N T S 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and checks, bank depos-

its with daily maturities and fixed-term deposits with a term of up to three 

months. 

Cash and cash equivalents are recognized at nominal value (at amor-

tized cost).

Cash and cash equivalents included:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million 2024 2023

Bank deposits/cash in hand 4,170 2,631
Cash equivalents 0 0
Total 4,170 2,631

The interest rates for short-term bank deposits in 2024 were in a corridor 
between 2.50% and 4.08% (previous year: between 1.81% and 4.08%) and 
resulted from cash investments in euros. The terms of the investments 
range from one day to three months. 

For the definition of cash and cash equivalents, see Notes to the statement Notes to the statement 
of cash flowsof cash flowsµ 270 f.270 f. ).). 

( 2 3 )  �A S S E T S  H E L D  F O R  S A L E  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S  
I N  C O N N E C T I O N  W I T H  A S S E T S  H E L D  F O R  S A L E

Assets and liabilities associated with these assets are classified as assets 

and liabilities held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 if their carrying 

amount is to be realized through sale and not through continued use. This 

may relate to an individual asset, a disposal group or a division of a com-

pany. Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of carry-

ing amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Non-current assets held for sale and liabilities in connection with assets 
held for sale developed as follows:

�€ million
Jan 1,  
2024 Disposal Addition

Dec 31, 
2024

Property, plant and equipment 1,362 – 1,362 3,868 3,868
Intangible assets 81 – 81 1,555 1,555
Investments accounted for using  
the equity method 32 – 32 9 9
Available for sale financial assets 2 – 2 9 9
Inventories 68 – 68 9 9
Receivables and other assets 1,299 – 1,299 3,861 3,861
Derivative financial instruments 0 0 1 1
Cash and cash equivalents 445 – 445 1,146 1,146
Deferred tax assets 17 – 17 166 166
Assets 3,306 – 3,306 10,624 10,624
Financial debt 536 – 536 1,728 1,728
Other liabilities 1,011 – 1,011 3,883 3,883
Derivative financial instruments 0 0 2 2
Pension obligations 47 – 47 124 124
Other provisions 224 – 224 360 360
Deferred income 243 – 243 26 26
Deferred tax liabilities 96 – 96 76 76
Liabilities 2,157 – 2,157 6,199 6,199

The balance sheet disclosure as of December 31, 2024, related to the dis-
continued operation DB Schenker and one company from the DB Cargo 
segment. The disposals resulted from the completed sale of the remaining 
subsidiaries of DB Arriva.

( 2 4 )  S U B S C R I B E D  C A P I TA L 
The share capital of DB AG amounts to € 2,150 million. It is divided into 
430,000,000 no-par-value bearer shares. All shares are held by the Federal 
Government.

( 2 5 )  R E S E R V E S
a)	 Capital reserves 
The capital reserves are reserves that were not part of the profit. In the 
2024 Federal budget, the Federal Government has earmarked € 4.375 bil-
lion in addition to the funds from the 2030 Climate Action Program (in 
the year under review: € 1.125 billion) to increase DB AG’s equity for the 
preservation of the rail infrastructure. The disbursement of the equity 
funds totaling € 5.500 billion was made on June 27, 2024, and November 
15, 2024. The funds will be used exclusively for capital expenditures in rail 
infrastructure and were passed on to DB InfraGO AG to increase its equity.

b)	 Reserve from measurement recognized directly in equity 
R E S E R V E  F O R  C U R R E N C Y  T R A N S L AT I O N  D I F F E R E N C E S
The currency translation effects resulting from the functional currency 
method (IAS 21) are reported separately as a component of consolidated 
equity.

R E S E R V E  F O R  T H E  FA I R  VA L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T  O F  S E C U R I T I E S  
A N D  I N V E S T M E N T S
The reserve includes changes in the fair value of financial instruments 
recognized directly in equity. The reserve must be reversed through profit 
or loss upon the sale, maturity or reclassification of a financial instrument 
or, if it is an equity instrument, derecognized.

R E S E R V E  F R O M  T H E  FA I R  VA L U E  M E A S U R E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F L O W  H E D G E S 
The development of the reserve is shown below: 

� € million 2024 2023

As of Jan 1 89 188
Change in fair value – 19 – 31
Hedging results reclassified to the carrying amount  
of the acquired inventories during the year – 1 – 28
R E C L A S S I F I C AT I O N S

	 Financial result 168 – 93
	 Net interest income 0 – 3
	 Cost of materials 26 49
Change in deferred taxes – 4 7
As of Dec 31 259 89

Text
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R E S E R V E  F O R  T H E  R E VA L U AT I O N  O F  P E N S I O N S
The effects resulting from the remeasurement of defined benefit plans in 
accordance with IAS 19 (Employee Benefits) are recognized in other com-
prehensive income.

O T H E R  C H A N G E S  I N  R E S E R V E S 
This item mainly includes amounts resulting from transactions relating to 
reductions or increases in non-controlling interests between the share-
holders of DB AG and the non-controlling interests. 

( 2 6 )  G E N E R AT E D  P R O F I T S
Generated profits include the total net profit generated since January 1, 
1994, less the goodwill offset under HGB up to December 31, 2002, and 
the dividends paid to the shareholder.

This item also includes the effects on equity from the first-time appli-
cation of IFRS, insofar as they do not fall under reserves from measurement 
recognized directly in equity.

( 2 7 )  �H Y B R I D  C A P I TA L  A N D  N O N - C O N T R O L L I N G  
I N T E R E S T S

In October 2019, Deutsche Bahn Finance GmbH (DB Finance) issued two 
subordinated hybrid bonds with a total volume of € 2 billion. The hybrid 
bonds have unlimited terms with a first right of termination for the issuer 
after 5.5 years (coupon: 0.95%) and ten years (coupon: 1.6%); the issue 
proceeds amounted to € 997 million and € 995 million. The two bonds do 
not provide for any repayment obligation or right of termination in favor 
of the creditors. In addition, any retained interest payments may not have 
to be made until a dividend is paid. In accordance with IAS 32 (Financial 
Instruments: Presentation), the hybrid bonds are therefore to be classified 
in full as equity, as there is neither a regular repayment obligation for the 
hybrid bonds nor a right of termination for the bondholders. Interest pay-
ments to be made to bondholders are recognized directly in equity, net of 
taxes on income. In the year under review, interest payments of € 25 million 
were made (previous year: € 25 million). 

Non-controlling interests included the share of third parties in the net 
assets of consolidated subsidiaries. Minority interests in the currency re-
serve amounted to € –24 million (as of December 31, 2023: € –24 million). 

( 2 8 )  F I N A N C I A L  D E B T 
In accordance with IFRS 9, financial debt and other non-current liabilities 

are initially measured at fair value, taking into account transaction costs 

and premiums/discounts. Subsequently, they are recognized at amortized 

cost using the effective interest method. The differences between the dis-

bursement amount less transaction costs and the repayment amount are 

recognized in profit or loss over the term. 

Interest-free loans granted in connection with capital expenditures in 

infrastructure are recognized at the present value of the repayment amounts 

and compounded over the term to their nominal repayment amount. The 

difference between the nominal loan amount and the present value is rec-

ognized as an interest benefit granted under deferred income. Income from 

the pro rata temporis reversal of these deferred income items is recognized 

as other operating income.

Liabilities from leases for which a right of use must be recognized in ac-

cordance with IFRS 16 are recognized as liabilities at the present value of 

the following lease payments: fixed payments less payments received from 

the lessor, variable payments based on an index, expected payments for 

residual value guarantees, the purchase price for purchase options that 

are likely to be exercised, probable compensation payments in the event 

of early termination. The measurement of the lease liability also includes 

lease payments due to the reasonably certain utilization of extension op-

tions. The leasing installments are divided into an interest portion and a 

repayment portion. The interest portion of the lease payment is recognized 

as an expense in the statement of income. The interest rate used corre-

sponds to the implicit interest rate of the lease or, if this is not known, the 

term-dependent incremental borrowing rate. Lease liabilities are not al-

located to any of the IFRS 9 categories.

Some transport contracts include the leasing of rail vehicles in par-

ticular from contracting organizations or independent financial service 

providers, whereby these receive a debt service guarantee, a replacement 

guarantee or similar from the operating authority. The present value of 

these payment obligations is reported under financial liabilities from 

transport concessions.

All interest-bearing liabilities, including interest-free loans recognized at 
present value (fully repaid as of December 31, 2024), are reported under 
financial debt. Financial debt has the following residual maturity structure:
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In comparison to the carrying amounts, the fair values are summarized as 
follows:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million

2024 2023

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Interest-free loans – – 152 152
Senior bonds 29,140 26,675 30,042 27,306
Commercial paper 1,503 1,503 358 358
Bank borrowings 3,642 3,642 2,574 2,574
Leasing liabilities 3,125 3,011 4,787 4,323
Financing liabilities from transport  
concessions 614 611 151 144
Other financial liabilities 99 99 44 44
Total 38,123 35,541 38,108 34,901

The differences between the carrying amounts and the fair values of the 
financial debt are due to the mostly changed market interest rates for fi-
nancial debt with a comparable risk profile. The other financial liabilities 
do not show any material differences between the carrying amounts and 
the fair values due to short maturities and, consequently, interest rates 
close to the market.

The interest-free loans resulted almost exclusively from financing 
provided by the Federal Government for capital expenditures in the ex-
pansion and replacement of rail lines. The basis for this is the responsibil-
ity for the transport needs of the general public enshrined in the German 
Basic Law (Article 87e Para. 4 GG) and specified in the Federal Rail Infra-
structure Development Act (Bundesschienenwegeausbaugesetz; BSWAG). 
They were fully repaid as of December 31, 2024.

The repayment of the loans is regulated in individual and collective 
financing agreements. The loans are usually repaid in equal annual install-
ments, the amount of which is based on the corresponding annual depre-
ciation amounts of the financed assets.

Interest-free loans developed as follows:

�€ million 2024 2023

As of Jan 1 152 298
Redemption – 155 – 155
Compounding 3 9
As of Dec 31 0 152

The senior bonds issued break down as follows as of the balance sheet date:

Text

�€ million

Residual maturity

TotalUp to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years
More than  

5 years
Total more  

than 1 year

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4

Interest-free loans – – – – – – – –
Senior bonds 1,979 2,261 2,806 2,091 1,786 18,217 27,161 29,140
Commercial paper 1,503 – – – – – – 1,503
Bank borrowings 582 2,500 500 – 60 – 3,060 3,642
Leasing liabilities 541 405 361 314 277 1,227 2,584 3,125
Financing liabilities from transport concessions 90 84 79 77 67 217 524 614
Other financial liabilities 98 0 0 0 0 1 1 99
Total 4,793 5,250 3,746 2,482 2,190 19,662 33,330 38,123
	 thereof to related parties and persons 0 – – – – – – 0

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3

Interest-free loans 152 – – – – – – 152
Senior bonds 1,966 1,973 2,216 2,801 2,101 18,985 28,076 30,042
Commercial paper 358 – – – – – – 358
Bank borrowings 566 8 2,000 – – – 2,008 2,574
Leasing liabilities 1,052 788 610 470 361 1,506 3,735 4,787
Financing liabilities from transport concessions 21 21 20 19 18 52 130 151
Other financial liabilities 22 0 0 21 0 1 22 44
Total 4,137 2,790 4,846 3,311 2,480 20,544 33,971 38,108
	 thereof to related parties and persons 153 – – – – – – 153
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SENIOR BONDS AS OF DEC 31  /  € million
Issue

volume
Issue

currency

Residual  
maturity 
( years)

Effective  
interest rate  

(%)

2024 2023

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

U N L I S T E D  S E N I O R  B O N D S

DB Finance 829 AUD, JPY, EUR 2.4–7.8 784 741 1,141 1,086
Total 784 741 1,141 1,086
L I S T E D  S E N I O R  B O N D S  I S S U E D  B Y  D B  F I N A N C E

Bond 2010–2025 500 EUR 0.5 3.870 500 502 499 505
Bond 2012–2024 83 CHF 0.0 1.586 – – 108 108
Bond 2012–2024 500 EUR 0.0 3.119 – – 500 499
Bond 2012–2072 75 GBP 47.9 4.524 72 56 69 64
Bond 2013–2028 50 EUR 3.1 2.707 50 50 50 49
Bond 2013–2025 202 NOK 0.2 4.017 127 127 133 133
Bond 2013–2026 497 GBP 1.6 3.351 511 501 486 477
Bond 2014–2024 59 AUD 0.0 5.395 – – 55 55
Bond 2014–2024 246 CHF 0.0 1.522 – – 324 324
Bond 2014–2029 500 EUR 4.2 2.886 497 503 497 501
Bond 2015–2025 600 EUR 0.8 1.391 599 594 599 584
Bond 2015–2030 366 NOK 5.8 2.760 288 260 302 287
Bond 2015–2025 115 AUD 0.8 3,864 107 106 110 109
Bond 2015–2030 650 EUR 5.8 1.707 647 609 647 602
Bond 2015–2025 161 CHF 0.9 0.143 186 185 189 184
Bond 2016–2026 500 EUR 1.2 0.880 499 490 499 478
Bond 2016–2031 750 EUR 6.5 0.964 745 664 745 653
Bond 2016–2028 500 EUR 3.7 0.765 497 467 497 455
Bond 2016–2024 41 HKD 0.0 2.100 – – 41 40
Bond 2017–2032 79 NOK 7.1 2.514 59 52 62 58
Bond 2017–2032 500 EUR 7.9 1.541 498 453 498 450
Bond 2017–2025 341 GBP 0.5 1.437 362 355 345 329
Bond 2017–2032 55 SEK 7.6 2.226 46 42 48 43
Bond 2017–2030 261 CHF 5.9 0.463 318 316 324 305
Bond 2017–2024 300 EUR 0.0 FRN – – 300 301
Bond 2018–2027 1,000 EUR 3.0 1.086 998 959 997 935
Bond 2018–2033 750 EUR 8.6 1.680 747 678 746 664
Bond 2018–2028 346 CHF 3.5 0.470 426 425 433 417
Bond 2018–2031 500 EUR 6.2 1.508 496 461 495 454
Bond 2018–2043 125 EUR 18.9 1.866 125 95 125 96
Bond 2019–2028 1,000 EUR 4.0 1.235 996 944 995 927
Bond 2019–2026 340 GBP 1.1 1.944 362 351 345 329
Bond 2019–2034 103 NOK 9.1 2.732 84 73 89 83
Bond 2019–2029 310 CHF 4.5 0.135 371 364 377 354
Bond 2019–2034 133 CHF 9.5 0.516 159 155 162 148
Bond 2019–2039 47 SEK 14.4 2.025 44 35 45 37
Bond 2020–2035 500 EUR 10.5 0.819 497 394 496 384
Bond 2020–2024 300 EUR 0.0 – 0.062 – – 300 299
Bond 2020–2032 150 EUR 7.2 0.257 150 124 150 121
Bond 2020–2027 900 EUR 2.3 0.639 897 861 896 839
Bond 2020–2040 750 EUR 15.3 1.433 744 567 744 574
Bond 2020–2029 850 EUR 4.5 0.411 849 766 848 755
Bond 2020–2039 650 EUR 14.5 0.977 641 463 640 467
Bond 2020–2035 48 SEK 10.5 1.544 44 36 45 37
Bond 2020–2050 1,000 EUR 25.9 0.656 993 526 992 550
Bond 2021–2036 370 CHF 11.1 0.100 426 390 433 373
Bond 2021–2026 339 GBP 1.9 0.523 361 335 344 312
Bond 2021–2026 494 SEK 1.1 0.524 436 425 450 423
Bond 2021–2036 1,000 EUR 11.3 0.759 986 764 984 745
Bond 2021–2033 296 CHF 8.4 0.211 345 330 351 315
Bond 2021–2041 168 AUD 16.4 3.124 155 110 159 112
Bond 2021–2051 1,000 EUR 26.4 1.159 992 601 992 628
Bond 2021–2036 196 NOK 11.5 2.241 169 133 177 154
Bond 2021–2031 750 EUR 6.7 0.393 748 636 748 622
Bond 2021–2031 279 CHF 6.8 0.241 319 309 324 298
Bond 2022–2042 191 AUD 17.0 3.350 178 129 184 133
Bond 2022–2027 200 EUR 2.1 0.791 200 193 200 189
Bond 2022–2034 750 EUR 9.2 1.389 747 653 747 641
Bond 2022–2030 900 EUR 5.4 1.992 893 859 892 850
Bond 2022–2040 52 SEK 15.7 3.511 48 48 49 49
Bond 2022–2032 308 CHF 7.7 1.903 319 349 324 340
Bond 2022–2034 51 NOK 9.7 4.370 42 41 44 48
Bond 2022–2042 500 EUR 17.8 3.924 495 525 495 538
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Bank borrowings are shown in detail in the following table:

COMMERCIAL PAPER ISSUES AS OF DEC 31  /  € million
Issue

volume
Issue

currency

Residual  
maturity 

(days)

Nominal  
interest rate  

(%)

2024 2023

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

December 28, 2024 215 EUR 13 3.050 214.7 214.7 – –
December 28, 2024 215 EUR 13 3.050 214.7 214.7 – –
December 28, 2024 215 EUR 13 3.050 214.7 214.7 – –
December 28, 2024 215 EUR 13 3.050 214.7 214.7 – –
December 28, 2024 215 EUR 13 3.050 214.7 214.7 – –
December 28, 2024 215 EUR 13 3.050 214.7 214.7 – –
December 28, 2024 215 EUR 13 3.050 214.7 214.7 – –
December 11, 2023 54 USD 0 5.552 – – 48 48
December 11, 2023 60 EUR 0 3.940 – – 60 60
December 11, 2023 50 EUR 0 3.940 – – 50 50
December 11, 2023 50 EUR 0 3.940 – – 50 50
December 11, 2023 50 EUR 0 3.940 – – 50 50
December 11, 2023 50 EUR 0 3.940 – – 50 50
December 11, 2023 50 EUR 0 3.940 – – 50 50
Total 1,869 1,503 1,503 358 358

SENIOR BONDS AS OF DEC 31  /  € million
Issue

volume
Issue

currency

Residual  
maturity 
( years)

Effective  
interest rate  

(%)

2024 2023

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Bond 2022–2042 151 CHF 17.9 2.285 159 193 161 187
Bond 2023–2037 750 EUR 13.0 3.664 747 779 747 781
Bond 2023–2033 600 EUR 8.4 3.413 593 613 592 618
Bond 2023–2035 287 CHF 10.7 1.927 291 323 296 314
Bond 2023–2027 600 EUR 2.7 3.590 599 616 598 617
Bond 2023–2033 149 AUD 8.9 6.053 149 157 153 163
Bond 2023–2043 650 EUR 18.9 4.140 638 694 639 707
Bond 2024–2038 500 EUR 13.1 3.512 493 504 – –
Bond 2024–2039 1,325 NOK 14.1 4.136 112 106 – –
Bond 2024–2034 500 EUR 9.3 3.425 498 512 – –
Total 28,369 25,934 28,930 26,220
Adjustment from derivatives – 13 – – 29 –
Total amount of senior bonds 29,140 26,675 30,042 27,306

In 2024, two fixed-interest unlisted senior bonds of AUD 425 million (€ 285 
million) and JPY 12,000 million (€ 100 million) and six fixed-interest listed 
senior bonds of DB Finance of CHF 100 million (€ 83 million), € 500 million, 
AUD 90 million (€ 59 million), CHF 300 million (€ 246 million), HKD 350 mil
lion (€ 41 million) and € 300 million as well as a floating-rate listed senior 
bond of € 300 million with a total value of € 1,914 million were redeemed 
as scheduled.

In 2024, DB Finance issued three fixed-interest listed senior bonds with 
a total value of € 1,117 million. These are two issues of € 500 million each 
and one issue of NOK 1,325 million (€ 117 million). Some of the fixed-inter-

est euro bonds were swapped for floating-rate bonds. This resulted in a 
decrease in the carrying amounts of the bond portfolio by € 13 million (as 
of December 31, 2023: € 29 million).

Commercial paper issues were made as part of short-term liquidity 
management. As of December 31, 2024, commercial paper in the amount 
of € 1,503 million was outstanding (as of December 31, 2023: € 358 million). 
They are made up as follows:

BANK BORROWINGS AS OF DEC 31  /  € million Currency

Residual  
maturity 

(years)

Nominal  
interest rate 

(%)

2024 2023

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Bank loan 2023–2026 EUR 1.5 variable 500 500 500 500
Bank loan 2023–2026 EUR 1.5 variable 500 500 500 500
Bank loan 2023–2026 EUR 1.9 variable 500 500 500 500
Bank loan 2023–2026 EUR 1.9 variable 500 500 500 500
Bank loan 2024–2027 EUR 2.0 variable 500 500 – –
Bank loan 2024–2026 EUR 1.9 variable 500 500 – –
Other 642 642 574 574
Total 3,642 3,642 2,574 2,574
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The increase in bank borrowings as of December 31, 2024, was mainly the 
result of taking out two additional bank loans as bridge financing in antic-
ipation of the cash inflow from the proceeds of a sale.

Other bank borrowings mainly included collateral due in the short term 
(as of December 31, 2024: € 574 million; as of December 31, 2023: € 524 
million), which resulted from hedging agreements as part of derivative 
transactions.

Liabilities are generally not collateralized in DB Group.
DB Group had access to further guaranteed credit facilities with a total 

volume of € 4,695 million as of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: 
€ 4,797 million). Of this, € 2,050 million was attributable to back-up lines for 
DB AG’s € 3.0 billion commercial paper program (as of December 31, 2023: 

€ 2,100 million). None of these back-up lines had been utilized as of De-
cember 31, 2024. Global credit facilities totaling € 2,645 million (as of De-
cember 31, 2023: € 2,697 million) are used for working capital and guaran-
tee financing for the globally active subsidiaries, primarily in the former 
DB Schenker segment.

Obligations from leases ((NoteNote ( (1313))µ 246 ff.246 ff. )) are secured by the les-
sor’s rights to the leased assets. The leased assets had a carrying amount 
of € 2,888 million as of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: 
€ 4,266 million). 

The nominal values of the lease liabilities are distributed as follows:

Text

LEASING LIABILITIES  /  € million

Residual maturity

TotalUp to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years
More than  

5 years
Total more  

than 1 year

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4

Nominal values of lease payments 548 473 418 361 315 1,478 3,045 3,593

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3

Nominal values of lease payments 1,064 885 686 532 408 1,828 4,339 5,403

The decline in the nominal value of lease liabilities was mainly due to the 
reclassification of DB Schenker as a discontinued operation.

The financing liabilities from transport concessions in accordance with  
IFRIC 12 are shown in detail in the following overview:

Text Text

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million Currency

Residual  
maturity 

(years)

2024 2023

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Network 3b Gäu-Murr electric multiple units (2017) EUR 1.0 4 4 – –
Network 9a Breisgau East-West electric multiple units (2019) EUR 8.0 55 51 – –
Network 4 Rhine Valley Lot 1 Electric multiple units (2020) EUR 8.0 68 65 – –
Network 4 Rhine Valley Lot 2 electric multiple units (2020) EUR 8.0 56 53 – –
Diesel network Allgäu Diesel multiple units (2020) EUR 5.0 26 26 30 30
Nuremberg S-Bahn electric multiple units (2020) EUR 6.0 46 46 53 52
S-Bahn Rhine-Neckar electric multiple units (2020) EUR 10.0 96 90 8 7
S-Bahn Rhine-Neckar electric multiple units (2021) EUR 10.0 51 48 56 51
Karlsruhe network 7b Lot 1 electric multiple units (2022) EUR 11.0 51 54 – –
Karlsruhe network 7b lot 2 electric multiple units (2022) EUR 14.0 25 27 – –
Taunusnetze hydrogen multiple units (2022) EUR 10.0 86 94 – –
S-Bahn Rhein-Ruhr Lot B Electric multiple units (2023) EUR 4.0 42 44 – –
Network 54 Regionalbahn Bodensee-Oberschwaben diesel multiple units (2023) EUR 9.0 8 9 – –
Other EUR – – 4 4
Total 614 611 151 144

Various multiple units were leased from the responsible contracting orga-
nizations to provide local rail passenger transport services. In 2024, various 
existing contracts were included in the financing liabilities from transport 
concessions for the first time or in full. This resulted from an adjusted as-
sessment of the accounting treatment of the contracts concerned.

Financing liabilities from transport concessions are offset by receivables 
from transport concessions ((NoteNote ( (1919))µ 251 ff251 ff.. 

The fair values of non-current financial liabilities are allocated to the 
following measurement hierarchies:

Text Text

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million

2024 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S   –  N O N - C U R R E N T

Interest-free loans – – – – – – – – 
Senior bonds – 24,706 – 24,706 3,036 22,310 – 25,346
Commercial paper – – – – – – – –
Bank borrowings – 3,060 – 3,060 – 2,008 – 2,008
Leasing liabilities – 2,470 – 2,470 – 3,271 – 3,271
Financing liabilities from transport concessions – 521 – 521 – 123 – 123
Other financial liabilities – 1 – 1 – 22 – 22
Total – 30,758 – 30,758 3,036 27,734 – 30,770
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The slight decrease in trade liabilities overall (excluding discontinued op-
erations) was attributable to the DB Long-Distance segment with € 157 
million and to the DB Regional segment with € 138 million; in contrast, 
the DB InfraGO segment recorded an increase of € 263 million. Miscella-
neous and other liabilities increased in the DB InfraGO (€ +285 million), 
DB Regional (€ +190 million) and DB Long-Distance (€ +107 million) seg-
ments and decreased in the Subsidiaries/Other segment (€ –109 million). 
For further information, please refer to Segment informationSegment informationµ 232 f232 f.. 

Non-financial liabilities and advance payments received are not allo-
cated to any category under IFRS 9. 

The miscellaneous and other liabilities related in detail to:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million 2024 2023

P E R S O N N E L- R E L AT E D  L I A B I L I T I E S

Liabilities for vacation entitlements 224 302
Outstanding overtime liabilities 336 297
Liabilities within the framework of social security 11 101
Liabilities for severance payments 72 56
Liabilities for Christmas bonus 1 6
Liabilities for vacation pay 8 23
Other personnel obligations 725 1,120
O T H E R  TA X E S

Value-added tax 12 43
Wage and church tax, solidarity surcharge 143 178
Miscellaneous other taxes 33 72

Interest payables 216 199
Revenue reductions 46 50
Deferred investment grants 517 273
Independent acknowledgments of debt issued  
for delivery transactions 627 537
Liabilities pursuant to the Railway Crossing Act 2 2
Miscellaneous liabilities 1,200 1,610
Total  4,173 4,869

The interest-free loans recognized at amortized cost at the end of the pre-
vious year are calculated by discounting the nominal values of the inter-
est-free loans, which are divided into residual maturity slices, using the DB 
yield curve (market yield curve plus current DB spread; source: Thomson 
Reuters or Bloomberg).

DB Finance senior bonds were allocated to Level 2 as the market activ-
ity does not meet the requirements of an active market. The fair values of 
these senior bonds were determined on the basis of binding offers from 
sources including Thomson Reuters and Bloomberg, which were verified 
using the valuation models, taking into account parameters observable on 
the market such as yield curves and exchange rates.

The fair value of the leases and the financing liabilities from transport 
concessions was determined by discounting the outstanding lease install-
ments using the DB yield curve (market yield curve plus current spread; 
source: Thomson Reuters and Bloomberg).

( 2 9 )  L I A B I L I T I E S
In accordance with IFRS 9, liabilities are initially measured at fair value, 

taking into account transaction costs and premiums/discounts. Subse-

quently, non-current liabilities are recognized at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. The differences between the disbursement amount 

less transaction costs and the repayment amount are recognized in profit 

or loss over the term.

The fair values of the balance sheet items other liabilities, trade pay-

ables and other liabilities essentially correspond to the carrying amounts.

Severance package commitments for agreements made as of the bal-

ance sheet date are recognized as other liabilities and – if they are not yet 

included in individual agreements and if they are part of a restructuring 

commitment in accordance with IAS 37 – are stated as other provisions.

Liabilities developed as follows:	

!!!

�€ million

Residual maturity

TotalUp to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years
More than  

5 years
Total more  

than 1 year

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4

Trade liabilities including advance payments received 3,457 29 32 17 8 9 95 3,552
Miscellaneous and other liabilities 3,283 503 19 16 20 332 890 4,173
Total 6,740 532 51 33 28 341 985 7,725
	 thereof non-financial liabilities 1,646 7 5 3 1 3 19 1,665
	 thereof advance payments received 92 2 2 2 1 2 9 101
	� thereof to related parties 499 – – – – – – 499

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3

Trade liabilities including advance payments received 6,224 38 18 43 10 6 115 6,339
Miscellaneous and other liabilities 3,998 96 242 164 17 352 871 4,869
Total 10,222 134 260 207 27 358 986 11,208
	 thereof non-financial liabilities 2,281 6 3 3 2 3 17 2,298
	 thereof advance payments received 90 2 2 2 1 3 10 100
	� thereof to related parties 237 – – – – – – 237
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As of December 31, 2024, the liabilities were still secured with € 0 million.
Within other liabilities, obligations from independent acknowledg-

ments of debt in the amount of € 627 million (as of December 31, 2023: 
€ 537 million) were recognized in the balance sheet, which have been paid 
out in full to the suppliers. In 2024 there were additions (€ +172 million) 
and disposals (€ –82 million) due to incoming and outgoing payments. 
The average payment term was two to three years.

( 3 0 )  I N C O M E  TA X  L I A B I L I T I E S 
As of December 31, 2024, income tax liabilities continued to relate in partic
ular to obligations to the tax authorities in Germany and Canada. 

( 3 1 )  P E N S I O N  O B L I G AT I O N S 
DB Group grants post-employment benefits to its employees in numerous 

countries. The structure of the pension commitments depends on the legal, 

economic and tax conditions of the respective country. 

DB Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution pension 

schemes. Defined benefit obligations are measured and recognized in ac-

cordance with IAS 19. Significant pension obligations only exist in Germany 

and the United Kingdom. For this reason, only these are described in more 

detail below.

Germany
DB Group’s pension obligations in Germany include those for both civil 

servants and employees.

Civil servants assigned to DB Group companies receive retirement 

benefits from Federal Railway Fund (Bundeseisenbahnvermögen; BEV) 

in accordance with the Civil Servants’ Pension Act after retirement.

Payments are only made to the BEV during the active employment of 

the assigned civil servants for DB Group as part of the as-if settlement as 

for newly hired employees (Section 21 (1) DBGrG). This also includes no-

tional shares for statutory pension insurance contributions and notional 

expenses in accordance with the collective agreements on the supplemen-

tary company pension scheme (ZversTV) and the company pension scheme 

(bAV-TV) for DB AG employees. The payments to the BEV for the retirement 

benefits of civil servants are defined contribution pension plans.

The pension obligations with regard to employees mainly relate to 

the following:

a) Employees who were employed by Deutsche Bundesbahn before 

DB AG was established (January 1, 1994) enjoy supplementary benefits in 

view of their former membership of the public sector. The employees are 

entitled to benefits from this additional pension insurance from Deutsche 

Rentenversicherung Knappschaft-Bahn-See (KBS). As an official authority, 

KBS has not only assumed responsibility for managing and paying the 

statutory pension for DB Group employees; it also continues the additional 

pension insurance for the transferred employees who are beneficiaries. 

During the active phase of the employment agreement, a pro forma 

refund of expenses is also provided to the BEV for these employees. When 

the employees retire, this payment is no longer made to the BEV.

The BEV bears the costs of these additional benefits, less the contribution 

made by the employees themselves (Section 14 (2) DBGrG). Accordingly, 

DB AG does not set aside any provisions for these public sector benefits.

b) Employees of the former Deutsche Reichsbahn and employees who 

were recruited after January 1, 1994, and before December 31, 2021, receive 

an additional company pension from DB AG within the framework of the 

ZVersTV. This supplementary company pension is a defined benefit scheme, 

which is linked to salary and length of service. The current pension benefits 

are adjusted every year in line with the regulations of the Company Pen-

sions Act (Betriebsrentengesetz). Retirement benefits, invalidity benefits 

and benefits to surviving dependents are provided in the form of a lifetime 

pension. No plan assets are created for this scheme.

In addition, the employees in most Group companies receive a monthly 

contribution to the company pension plan in the amount of 3.3 % of the 

employee’s monthly standard salary as well as of most of the salary ele-

ments paid in the month. The monthly contribution is paid into a pension 

plan (DEVK-Pensionsfonds). It is not necessary for provisions to be created 

for this purpose.

c) Various defined benefit pension obligations exist with regard to 

executives in DB Group who were granted an executive commitment be-

fore January 1, 2007. The extent of the benefits depend on the length of 

service and the salary of the beneficiary. In general, retirement benefits, 

invalidity benefits and benefits to surviving dependents are provided in 

the form of a lifetime pension. With the exception of a small number of 

reinsurance policies, there are no plan assets. 

d) Managers of DB Group who received a management commitment 

after December 31, 2006, are generally granted a pension in the form of 

a defined contribution plan. For this purpose, a benefit module is calcu-

lated in each year of service, depending on the salary and age of the 

beneficiaries. These benefits are financed by way of a contractual trust 

arrangement (CTA), namely Deutsche Bahn Pension Trust e.V. The extent 

of the benefits depends on the yield of the CTA, whereby a minimum re-

turn is guaranteed (guarantees up to and including 2014: 2.25 % p. a.; 

guarantees from 2015 onwards: only maintenance of contribution). Lon-

gevity risks are avoided by the fact that the benefits are generally granted 

in the form of a five-year installment payment. The assets of the CTA are 

classified as plan assets. The pension obligation is covered by the plan 

assets on the assumption that the CTA produces a corresponding perfor-

mance, thus minimizing investment risks. There are no legal or regulatory 

obligations requiring Deutsche Bahn Pension Trust e.V. to make minimum 

payments into the scheme. The contributions are invested in line with the 

fundamental assumption that the benefit commitment is guaranteed by 

a corresponding guarantee element. For each payment relating to an 

individual beneficiary, an age-related amount is invested in prime zero 

bonds. The investment amount remaining after the payment has been 

made into the guarantee element is mainly invested in passively managed 

European equity and bond funds (or equivalent products) with the aim 

of optimizing returns. 

e) Executives are able to participate in a deferred compensation pro-

gram. This employee-financed form of company pension plan constitutes 

a defined benefit obligation.

Text

∏

Text Text
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United Kingdom
The company pension scheme of DB Cargo (UK) Holdings Limited is es-

sentially a defined benefit pension plan (linked to salary and length of 

service) within the British Railway Pension Scheme. The plan assets are 

managed by an independent trustee. The process of collating the data 

of members in the plan for the purpose of compliance with legal require-

ments in relation to the members of the plan is generally carried out 

every three years. As of the intermediate valuation dates, the obligations 

in the plan are measured on the basis of the correspondingly updated 

data. The pension plan is based on final salary, and lifetime pensions are 

provided as benefits. The pension obligations are covered by plan assets. 

Investments are made by the trustee of the plan assets in coordination 

with DB Group.

Critical estimations and assessments
In the case of the defined benefit pension obligations in Germany and 

abroad, the actuarial risks are borne by DB Group. Actuarial methods 

have been used for measuring defined benefit pension commitments as 

well as benefit commitments which are similar to pensions and the resul-

tant expenses and income. The valuations are based on actuarial assump-

tions. There are the following actuarial risks which are considered to be 

typical for companies with defined benefit schemes:

	◊ Interest risk: The discount factors which are used reflect the interest 

rates (giving due consideration to the duration of the underlying obli-

gation) which are achieved on the balance sheet date for high-quality 

fixed-interest senior bonds with a corresponding duration. A change 

in the discount rate results in a change in the present value of the total 

obligation (DBO).

	◊ Inflation risk: Part of the pension obligations, particularly as a result 

of adjustments to current pensions, is linked to the development of 

inflation.

	◊ Longevity risk: A longevity risk may occur in the form of extended 

periods in which pensions are paid out as a result of an increase in life 

expectancy in future.

	◊ Investment risk: In the case of externally financed pension plans, the 

values of the corresponding plan assets or the refund claims are based 

on the fair values as of the balance sheet date. The capital investment 

is exposed to numerous risks, which may have an impact on the pres-

ent value recognized for the plan assets. In the case of pension schemes 

with an obligation to pay into the scheme, the amount of future con-

tributions may be affected by the investment risk.

Key assumptions for expenses and income attributable to pension com-

mitments and benefit commitments similar to pensions are to some extent 

based on current market conditions. Expenses and income relating to 

pension commitments and benefit commitments similar to pensions may 

change as a result of changes to these underlying key assumptions.

The figures stated for pension provisions in the balance sheet are detailed 
in the following table:

The total pension commitment has developed as follows:

�€ million

Germany Europe (excluding Germany) Rest of world Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Commitments as of Jan 1 3,889 3,121 1,703 4,001 51 51 5,643 7,173
Service cost, excluding employee contributions 137 117 15 36 3 2 155 155
Employee contributions 3 3 10 24 0 1 13 28
Interest expense 124 123 75 162 2 2 201 287
Payments – 112 – 108 – 101 – 178 – 3 – 4 – 216 – 290
	 thereof pension payments – 112 – 108 – 101 – 178 – 3 – 4 – 216 – 290
	 thereof payments for settlements 0 – – – – – 0 –
Past service costs and profit or losses from settlements 5 5 – 14 – 3 – 0 – 9 2
Transfers – 237 181 – 180 – 2,541 – 52 0 – 469 – 2,360
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 – 0 0 – – 0 0
	 thereof additions to scope of consolidation 0 – – – – – 0 –
	 thereof disposals from scope of consolidation – – 0 0 – – 0 0
Actuarial gains (–)/losses (+) – 185 447 – 224 116 – 1 – – 410 563
	 from revaluations based on experience – 80 – 2 16 95 0 – 4 – 64 89
	 from changes in demographic assumptions 2 – 4 – 1 – 48 0 1 1 – 51
	 from changes in financial assumptions – 107 453 – 239 69 – 1 3 – 347 525
Exchange rate effects – – 105 86 0 – 1 105 85
Scope of commitments as of Dec 31 3,624 3,889 1,389 1,703 0 51 5,013 5,643

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million

Germany Europe (excluding Germany) Rest of world Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Commitments for funded benefits 383 581 1,380 1,653 0 38 1,763 2,272
Commitments for unfunded benefits 3,241 3,308 9 50 0 13 3,250 3,371
Total obligations 3,624 3,889 1,389 1,703 0 51 5,013 5,643
Fair value of the plan assets – 320 – 555 – 1,477 – 1,723 – – 32 – 1,797 – 2,310
Effects due to cost sharing – – – 4 – 6 – – – 4 – 6
Amount not recognized as an asset as a result of the IAS 19.64 restriction 0 54 – – – – 0 54
Asset recorded on the balance sheet as receivables from plan assets – – 106 111 – – 106 111
Net obligations recognized in the balance sheet 3,304 3,388 14 85 0 19 3,318 3,492
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The transfers related to the reclassification of pension provisions of the 
former DB Schenker segment (previous year: former DB Arriva segment) 
to liabilities in connection with assets held for sale as a result of the planned 
sale. 

The development of the plan assets is detailed in the following overview:

�€ million

Germany Europe (excluding Germany) Rest of world Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Fair value of plan assets as of Jan 1 555 271 1,723 3,949 32 33 2,310 4,253
Employer contributions 42 37 15 73 1 2 58 112
Employee contributions 0 0 10 24 0 0 10 24
Notional return from plan assets 20 17 80 165 1 1 101 183
Payments – 18 – 18 – 96 – 171 – 2 – 3 – 116 – 192
	 thereof pension payments – 18 – 18 – 96 – 171 – 2 – 3 – 116 – 192
	 thereof payments for settlements – – – – – – – –
Transfers – 275 236 – 122 – 2,468 – 35 0 – 432 – 2,232
Changes in the scope of consolidation – – 0 – – – 0 –
Revaluation – 4 12 – 240 75 3 0 – 241 87
Administrative costs: costs of pension assurance – – – 3 – 8 0 – 1 – 3 – 9
Exchange rate effects – – 110 84 0 0 110 84
Present value of plan assets as of Dec 31 320 555 1,477 1,723 0 32 1,797 2,310

The transfers related almost exclusively to plan assets relating to the for­
mer DB Schenker segment (previous year: the former DB Arriva segment). 

The reported plan assets are broken down as follows:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million

Germany Europe (excluding Germany) Rest of world Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Stocks and other securities 35 24 396 377 – 8 431 409
	 thereof with market price listing 35 24 396 377 – 8 431 409
Interest-bearing securities 196 190 979 1,190 – 22 1,175 1,402
	 thereof with market price listing 196 190 979 1,190 – 22 1,175 1,402
Reinsurance 46 66 18 98 – – 64 164
	 thereof with market price listing – 66 18 91 – – 18 157
	 thereof without market price listing 46 – – 7 – – 46 7
Private equity – – 74 76 – – 74 76
	 thereof without market price listing – – 74 76 – – 74 76
Investments in infrastructure – – – 1 – – – 1
	 thereof with market price listing – – – 1 – – – 1
Cash and other assets 43 275 10 – 19 0 2 53 258
	 thereof with market price listing 43 41 10 – 28 0 0 53 13
	 thereof without market price listing – 234 – 9 – 2 – 245

320 555 1,477 1,723 0 32 1,797 2,310
	 thereof assets recorded as receivables from plan assets – – – 106 – 111 – 0 – 106 – 111

320 555 1,371 1,612 0 32 1,691 2,199
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The actuarial parameters used for assessing the value of most of the pen­
sion provision are set out in the following:

�% 2024 2023

I N T E R E S T  R AT E

Germany and rest of world  
(excluding the United Kingdom) 3.40 3.20
United Kingdom 5.40 4.50
E X P E C T E D  R AT E  O F  S A L A R Y  I N C R E A S E S

Germany and rest of world 
(excluding the United Kingdom) 4.10 4.10
United Kingdom 3.20 3.10
E X P E C T E D  P E N S I O N  T R E N D 
( D E P E N D I N G  O N  T H E  G R O U P  O F  P E O P L E )

Germany and rest of world 
(excluding the United Kingdom) 2.25 2.25
United Kingdom 2.20 2.10

The 2018 G mortality tables by Prof. Dr. Klaus Heubeck were used un­
changed to measure the pension obligations for the German Group com­
panies. Country- or benefit-scheme-specific mortality tables have been 
used for valuing the pension obligations of the other Group companies. 

Sensitivities and additional information:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million 2024 2023

Total obligation with a 1 percentage point  
higher interest rate 4,376 4,905
Total obligation with a 1 percentage point  
lower interest rate 5,823 6,578
Total obligation with a 0.5% higher  
salary increase 5,024 5,667
Total obligation with a 0.5% higher  
pension development 5,278 5,930
Total obligation in the event of a 1-year 
increased life expectancy 5,140 5,792
Total obligations 5,013 5,644
	 thereof active beneficiaries 2,225 2,504
	 thereof former employees 688 798
	 thereof pensioners 2,100 2,341
Expected payments into the plan assets for next year 52 63
Direct pension payments for next year 130 128
Duration of benefit obligation (years) 14.8 15.4

The sensitivity figures have been established using the method which was 
used for calculating the extent of the commitment. One assumption was 
modified while the other assumptions were retained, which means that 
interdependencies between the individual assumptions were disregarded.

Text

�€ million

Germany
Europe  

(excluding Germany) Rest of world Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Provision as of Jan 1 3,388 2,850 85 102 19 18 3,492 2,970
Pension expenses 251 232 – 2 38 4 5 253 275
	 thereof service cost 137 117 15 36 3 2 155 155
	 thereof employee contributions 3 2 – – 0 1 3 3
	 thereof interest income and interest expenses 106 108 – 6 – 3 1 1 101 106
	 thereof administrative expenses – – 3 8 0 1 3 9
	 �thereof past service costs and profits or losses from settlements 5 5 – 14 – 3 – 0 – 9 2
Employer contributions – 42 – 36 – 15 – 73 – 1 – 2 – 58 – 111
Payments – 94 – 90 – 4 – 7 – 1 – 1 – 99 – 98
	 thereof pension payments – 94 – 90 – 4 – 7 – 1 – 1 – 99 – 98
	 thereof payments for settlements 0 – – – 0 – 0 –
Transfers – 29 5 – 58 11 – 17 0 – 104 16
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 – 0 0 – – 0 0
	 thereof additions to scope of consolidation 0 – – – – – 0 –
	 thereof disposals from scope of consolidation – – 0 0 – – 0 0
Revaluation – 170 427 19 21 – 4 0 – 155 448
	 from revaluations based on experience – 80 – 2 16 65 0 – 4 – 64 59
	 from changes in demographic assumptions 2 – 4 – 1 – 37 0 0 1 – 41
	 from changes in financial assumptions – 107 453 – 237 54 – 1 3 – 345 510
	 Difference between actual income and theoretical income from plan assets 4 – 12 241 – 61 – 3 1 242 – 72
	 Changes to the asset value limit 11 – 8 – 0 – – 11 – 8
Exchange rate effects – – 0 2 0 – 1 0 1
Change in recognized assets – – – 11 – 9 0 – – 11 – 9
Provision as of Dec 31 3,304 3,388 14 85 0 19 3,318 3,492

Changes in the net pension provisions are detailed in the following:
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( 3 2 )  O T H E R  P R O V I S I O N S
Other provisions are recognized if a legal or constructive commitment exists 

as a result of a past event, the probability of its utilization is greater than 

50 % and it will lead to an outflow of resources, and if a reliable estimate 

of the extent of the commitment can be made (IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 

Liabilities and Contingent Assets).

Non-current provisions are discounted using market interest rates. 

Provisions for environmental protection for the rehabilitation of existing 

ecological damage are discounted on the basis of real interest rates, which 

are adjusted to reflect the risk and the period until fulfillment. The differ-

ence between the nominal value of the expected outflows and the present 

value recognized for the provisions for environmental protection of DB AG 

for transferred liabilities for the elimination of existing damage from the 

time previous to the foundation of DB AG is stated under deferred items, 

and represents the interest benefit resulting from the longer-term release 

of the provision. The compounding expense attributable to other provisions 

is recognized in net interest income. Provisions for impending losses are 

measured as the lower of the amount of the expected costs for fulfilling the 

agreement and the expected costs for terminating the agreement.

Critical estimations and assessments
The process of determining all types of provisions is associated with esti-

mates regarding the extent and/or timing of obligations.

The provisions for environmental protection relate primarily to the 

commitment of DB AG to remedy the ecological burdens which arose before 

January 1, 1994, on the land of the former Deutsche Bundesbahn and the 

former Deutsche Reichsbahn. Ecological burdens are defined as contam-

ination of soil and groundwater that requires rehabilitation and that pose 

risks, considerable disadvantages or considerable problems for private 

individuals or society at large. The legal basis for deriving remediation 

obligations is summarized in the soil and water laws of the Federal Gov-

ernment and the Federal states. The process of dealing with ecological 

burdens also comprises necessary rehabilitation measures for existing 

sewers, in order to avoid soil and groundwater contamination caused by 

leaks from the sewer system, as well as measures for shutting down old 

landfill sites.

The provision has been calculated on the basis of a discounting method 

using the present value, where remediation measures are probable, the 

remediation costs can be reliably estimated and no future benefit is expected 

to be derived from these measures.

The estimation of future remediation costs is subject to various factors:

S E W E R  M A N A G E M E N T :
	◊ Sewer meters: The need for renovation and decommissioning at the 

site only becomes concrete as part of the renovation planning and can 

then be precisely determined after completion of the renovation work 

(and thus the sewer meters).

	◊ Sewer aging: As the sewer ages, an increasing degree of damage can 

be assumed.

	◊ Regulations/legal requirements: Work in the track area in particu-

lar means additional work due to loading, securing, night work and 

line closures.

	◊ Capacities/market conditions: Depending on the market situation, 

executing companies are available and thus capacities (personnel); 

however, the market situation and the restructuring procedures to be 

defined as part of the measures also determine their price.

S O I L / G R O U N D W A T E R  R E M E D I A T I O N :
	◊ Environmental laws/regulatory orders: Changes in environmental 

legislation and official orders can lead to unplanned additional costs. 

	◊ Remediation risks: In the course of remediation measures, additional 

quantities for soil excavation or longer running times for groundwater 

extraction and purification arise, as remediation target values have 

not yet been reached. This leads to additional costs. 

	◊ Increase in damage: There is a risk that new soil/groundwater contam-

ination that meets the criteria for the utilization of provisions may be 

discovered, e.g. in the course of infrastructure construction activities.

For the valuation of provisions as of the balance sheet date, the investi

gation and rehabilitation obligations which are currently known have  

been used as the basis for estimating the expected costs in relation to the 

current price level. The provision is discounted on the basis of expected 

cash outflows using a risk-adjusted interest rate of 0.23 % (as of December 

31, 2023: 0.18 %).

Provisions for impending losses from pending transactions are cre-

ated if a loss is probable and can be reliably estimated. In view of the 

uncertainty associated with this assessment, the actual losses may differ 

from the original estimates and may thus also differ from the amount of 

the provision. In DB Group, such uncertainty results particularly from the 

estimation of future income from transport contracts, the associated 

material- and personnel-related expenses as well as any penalty pay-

ments. Changes in the estimations of these impending losses from pend-

ing transactions may have a considerable impact on the future results 

of operations.

The provisions for decommissioning are measured mainly on the basis 

of estimations that, for decommissioning and disposal costs, are derived 

mainly from sector-specific appraisals. The provisions are shown with their 

discounted settlement amount at the point at which they originate.

For the measurement of provisions for decommissioning, opportunities 

and risks arise from deviations from the underlying measurement assump-

tions, project plans and changes in (regulatory) framework conditions.

Valuation risks arise in particular in connection with:

	◊ interest rate and price assumptions against the backdrop of the very 

long-term project period

	◊ technical, organizational or capacity-related delays or optimization 

compared to the assumed project plan for the decommissioning of the 

power plant

	◊ higher/lower pollutant/radioactive loads from excavated materials and 

residual materials

	◊ delayed or early receipt of permits
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Personnel-related provisions
Benefits arising on the occasion of the termination of employment agree-

ments (severance packages) become payable if employees are released 

from their duties under the terms of early retirement or part-time working 

in the lead-up to retirement scheme before the regular retirement age (which 

would not involve any reduction of retirement benefits) or if employees 

voluntarily terminate their employment contract in return for a severance 

package. Severance payments are recognized if there is a demonstrable 

commitment either to terminate the employment agreements of current 

employees in accordance with a detailed formal plan that cannot be re-

versed or to make severance payments if the employment contract is vol-

untarily terminated by employees within the framework of employment 

contract termination agreements.

Severance package commitments for agreements made as of the bal-

ance sheet date are recognized as other liabilities and – if they are not yet 

included in individual agreements and if they are part of a restructuring 

commitment in accordance with IAS 37 – are stated as other provisions. 

Individual contractual agreements on part-time working in the lead-up 

to retirement are usually based on the block model. The top-up amounts 

paid by DB Group during the period of partial retirement in addition to 

the salary as well as additional contributions to the statutory pension 

insurance are accrued pro rata until the end of the active phase of partial 

retirement and deferred in accordance with IAS 19. The compensation 

backlog (plus the employer’s contributions to social security insurance) 

for the additional work performed during the employment phase is also 

shown with the present pro rata present value as another non-current 

employee benefit. 

Under certain conditions, DB Group offers employees the opportunity 

under collective agreements to reduce their working hours below their reg-

ular working hours (special part-time working for older employees). In these 

cases, the number of working hours is reduced to 81 % of the reference or 

regular working hours, while the employees’ remuneration is topped up to 

90 %. Payments into the company pension plan are granted on the basis of 

100 % of the reference or regular working hours.

Movements in other provisions are shown in the following:

�€ million

Personnel-related
provisions

Revenue
reductions

Provisions for  
impending losses

Decommissioning 
obligations

Environmental  
protection Other provisions Total

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

As of Jan 1 898 828 3,654 2,604 517 545 431 465 1,353 1,383 1,480 1,745 8,333 7,570
Currency translation effects 0 – 2 1 0 2 1 – – 0 0 4 – 5 7 – 6
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 0 – – – 1 0 – – 0 – – 1 0 – 2 0
	 thereof additions to scope of consolidation – – – – – – – – – – – – – –
	 thereof disposals from scope of consolidation 0 0 – – – 1 0 – – 0 – – 1 0 – 2 0
Amounts used – 303 – 265 – 726 – 502 – 151 – 151 – 54 – 49 – 51 – 46 – 334 – 355 – 1,619 – 1,368
Reversals – 42 – 52 – 326 – 286 – 75 – 38 – 17 – 10 – 5 0 – 125 – 217 – 590 – 603
Reclassifications – 154 – 14 – 3 142 – 6 – 70 – – 0 – 2 – 263 – 136 – 426 – 80
Additions 433 390 1,921 1,696 90 223 31 29 79 30 681 444 3,235 2,812
Compounding and discounting 25 13 – – 18 7 23 – 4 – 4 – 12 19 4 81 8
As of Dec 31 857 898 4,521 3,654 394 517 414 431 1,372 1,353 1,461 1,480 9,019 8,333

The following table breaks down the other provisions into current and non- 
current amounts, and also details their estimated residual maturity:

�€ million

Residual maturity

TotalUp to 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years
More than  

5 years
Total more  

than 1 year

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4

Personnel-related provisions 396 141 103 57 39 121 461 857
Revenue reductions 4,521 – – – – – – 4,521
Provisions for impending losses 191 70 54 25 19 35 203 394
Decommissioning obligations 44 45 43 43 43 196 370 414
Environmental protection 57 65 68 65 71 1,046 1,315 1,372
Other provisions 1,105 98 105 61 38 54 356 1,461
Total 6,314 419 373 251 210 1,452 2,705 9,019

A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3

Personnel-related provisions 413 137 103 62 45 138 485 898
Revenue reductions 3,654 – – – – – – 3,654
Provisions for impending losses 220 126 60 44 25 42 297 517
Decommissioning obligations 53 49 44 45 45 195 378 431
Environmental protection 63 61 67 54 62 1,046 1,290 1,353
Other provisions 1,053 85 122 70 59 91 427 1,480
Total 5,456 458 396 275 236 1,512 2,877 8,333
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The personnel-related provisions were structured as follows:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million 2024 2023

Personnel contractual commitments 519 454
Early retirement and part-time working in the  
lead-up to retirement obligations 174 188
Service anniversary provisions 62 89
Other 102 167
Total 857 898

The personnel-related provisions included commitments arising from em­
ployment agreements that result from the entitlement of many employees 
under labor law and the willingness of DB AG not to terminate employment 
contracts for operational reasons. In such cases, DB Group will incur losses 
in the form of personnel expenses which will have to be borne until the 
employment contract is terminated or the employee is placed with another 
company; no reciprocal benefit will be provided in return for these expenses 
(commitment surpluses relating to employment agreements). In addition, 
the contractual personnel obligations as of December 31, 2024, included 
unchanged provisions for restructuring measures.

With an allocation of € 502 million as of December 31, 2024 (as of De­
cember 31, 2023: € 330 million), the provision for surplus obligations from 
employment relationships accounted for a large proportion of DB Group’s 
personnel-related provisions. It is the result of DB AG’s contractual obliga­
tions to safeguard jobs as set out in the Demography Collective Agreement 
(Demografietarifvertrag; DemografieTV). The main reasons for the higher 
allocation compared to the end of the previous year were the updated 
pension obligations for the transformation of DB Cargo and for the Together 
Strong project as part of DB Group’s S3 restructuring program.

The provisions for part-time working in the lead-up to retirement and 
early retirement commitments take into account the commitments arising 
from collective bargaining agreements, and have been calculated on the 
basis of actuarial reports. The provisions of the DemografieTV for special 
part-time work in old age included an amount of € 75 million as of Decem­
ber 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: € 90 million) for the collectively 
agreed entitlement of employees with many years of service and many 
years of shift work.

Revenue reductions
The increase in revenue reductions as of December 31, 2024, was mainly the 
result of penalty obligations due to train cancellations, delays and quality 
deficiencies, in particular as a result of extensive infrastructure construction 
work, increased sickness rates and strikes, as well as the settlement proce­
dure to compensate for revenue shortfalls in connection with the Germany-
Ticket by the Federal Government and the Federal states.

Provisions for impending losses 
The provisions for impending losses mainly relate to transport contracts in 
which commitment surpluses build up over the duration of the contracts. 
The additions related mainly to DB Regional.

As of December 31, 2024, an amount of € 48 million (as of December 31, 
2023: € 91 million) was allocated to DB Regional and an amount of € 33 mil­
lion (as of December 31, 2023: € 28 million) was reversed.

Decommissioning provisions 
The provisions for decommissioning obligations resulted from the pro rata 
decommissioning obligation for a joint venture power plant. When mea­
suring the provision, a customary cost increase rate of 2.51% (as of Decem­
ber 31, 2023: 2.96%) and a nominal interest of 3.26% (as of December 31, 
2023: 3.54%) were taken into account. 

Provisions for environmental protection 
Of the environmental protection provisions, € 1,363 million was attributable 
to DB AG as of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: € 1,339 million). 
The increase of € 25 million was largely driven by additions to restructuring 
obligations (€ +79 million). The utilization (€ –50 million) and interest 
rate development (€ –4 million) had a dampening effect. In order to take 
account of the remedial action obligations recognized in the provisions for 
environmental protection, DB AG has set up various programs, including 
the following:

	◊ the 4-stage program for soil remediation
	◊ the 3-stage sewerage network program
	◊ the 2-stage landfill shut-down program

Structured processing ensures a legally compliant and cost- and effort-op­
timized procedure for the recording, risk assessment and remediation of 
identified hazards to protected assets.

In the 4-stage soil decontamination program, existing soil and/or 
groundwater contamination is localized via the stages “historic explora­
tion,” “orienting investigation” and “detail investigation,” and is assessed 
on the basis of the relevant statutory testing criteria. If any negative change 
in soil conditions or ecological burdens is identified, implementation of 
the necessary remedial action is planned by the steps feasibility study, 
model planning and approval planning. The process of carrying out the 
remedial action is supported by a binding remedial action plan or a pub­
lic-sector agreement with defined remedial action objectives.

The 3-stage sewerage network program aims to remedy any contam­
ination of soil and/or groundwater resulting from leaks. This is accompa­
nied by an optimization of the existing sewer network for future use, so 
that hazard prevention can be limited to this future network. Any network 
that is not necessary for operation will be decommissioned. The sewerage 
program will be carried out via stage 1 “recording,” stage 2 “inspection” 
and stage 3 “remedial action/decommissioning.” Legal requirements are 
set out in the Water Resources Accounting Act (Wasserhaushaltsgesetz; 
WHG), the Water Acts of the Federal states and the own control regula­
tions. 

The 2-stage program “shut-down of landfill sites” systematically re­
cords all legacy landfill sites operated by DB Group (stage 1). The require­
ments resulting from the Recycling Accounting Act (Kreislaufwirtschafts­
gesetz; KrWG) and the Landfill Site Regulation (Deponieverordnung; DepV) 
are used as the basis for planning and implementing the processes of de­
commissioning and recultivating the areas (stage 2a) and the subsequent 
maintenance (stage 2b).

A reassessment of the need for provisions was carried out in 2024. As 
a result, previous assumptions regarding the financing of own work through 
income, the development of construction costs, capacity requirements 
and in-house production depth had to be adjusted. This resulted in an 
additional provision requirement of € 79 million. The addition to provisions 
was recognized as a liability as of December 31, 2024.

Other provisions 
The other provisions comprised provisions for litigation risks, compensa­
tion for damages, real estate risks, decommissioning and demolition obli­
gations, guarantee and warranty obligations, insurance, liabilities, project 
risks, third-party obligations for maintenance and other tax risks as well as 
numerous other issues which individually are of minor significance.
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( 3 3 )  D E F E R R E D  I T E M S 
DB Group receives various public grants, which are generally granted on 

the basis of assets or performance. The grants are recognized in the bal-

ance sheet as soon as it is certain that they will be provided and as soon 

as the conditions necessary for receiving the grants have been satisfied. 

The grants related to assets, and in particular investment grants, are de-

ducted directly from the assets for which the grants have been received. 

The interest benefits (difference between nominal value and present value) 

from interest-free loans granted (full repayment as of December 31, 2024) 

are recognized as deferred income on the basis of the contractual grant 

conditions. Income from the pro rata temporis reversal of these deferred 

income items is recognized as other operating income.

The deferred items contained the following:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million 2024 2023

Deferred public-sector grants 127 111
Deferred income 1,229 862
Other 383 390
Total 1,739 1,363
	 Non-current share 908 598
	 Current share 831 765

 
Notes to the statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents 
in the year under review, and was prepared in accordance with IAS 7 (State­
ment of Cash Flows). The cash flow from operating activities is presented 
using the indirect method.

The following explanations relate to the continuing operations.
Interest income and interest payments, dividend income and tax pay­

ments are stated under operating activities. 
Cash and cash equivalents include the cash and cash equivalents stated 

in the balance sheet with a residual maturity of up to three months (cash 
in hand, cash at banks as well as security investments). As of December 31, 
2024, € 6 million of the cash and cash equivalents were still restricted.

Current receivables due from banks (as of December 31, 2024: € 185 mil­
lion; as of December 31, 2023: € 228 million), resulting from collateral agree­
ments in connection with financial futures, are shown under current other 
receivables and assets. Because it is becoming increasingly difficult to pre­
dict the performance of financial futures, it can only be assumed to a limited 
extent that such hedges represent current liquidity.

The cash flow from discontinued operations relates to the former DB 
Schenker and DB Arriva segments. 

C A S H  F L O W  F R O M  O P E R AT I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
The cash flow from operating activities is calculated by adjusting the net 
profit/loss for the period before taxes by non-cash amounts (in particular 
additions to and reversals of other provisions) and by adding other changes 
in current assets, in liabilities (excluding financial debt) and provisions. 
The cash inflow from operating activities is then established after due 
consideration is given to interest and tax payments.

In accordance with IFRS 16, outflows related to leases are recognized in 
cash flow from financing activities if they are redemption payments, and 
are recognized in cash flow from operating activities if they are payments 
of interest.

The cash inflow from operating activities increased significantly in 
2024. The main reason for this was a strong improvement in the net loss, 
adjusted for slightly higher depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets, increased inventories, trade receivables and other 
assets, higher other liabilities and deferred income, lower trade payables 
and pension provisions as well as a further significant increase in non-
cash expenses. 

In 2024, non-cash expenses and income increased in particular as a 
result of a net increase of € 437 million in expenses from the addition to 
and reversal of other provisions.

C A S H  F L O W  F R O M  I N V E S T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
The cash flow from investing activities is calculated as the cash inflow pro­
vided by the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible as­
sets as well as by investment grants, and the cash outflow for capital ex­
penditures on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, as well 
as cash flow from the addition and disposal of non-current financial assets.

Payments received from investment grants are shown under investing 
activities due to the close connection between investment grants received 
and the payments made for capital expenditures in property, plant and 
equipment.

When changes take place in the scope of consolidation as a result of 
the acquisition or sale of companies, the acquisition price paid (excluding 
any liabilities that are transferred) less the acquired or sold financial re­
sources are stated as cash flow from investing activities.

The increased cash outflow from investing activities in 2024 resulted 
in particular from significantly higher payments for capital expenditures 
in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (€ +2,131 million; 
+13.5%) with an almost unchanged net cash inflow from investment grants 
and repayments (€ –11 million; –0.1%). Payments for investments in finan­
cial assets developed in the opposite direction (€ –295 million). Cash in­
flows and outflows for investments in financial assets included net cash 
inflows of € 73 million (previous year: outflows of € 243 million) for invest­
ments from the acquisition of transport concessions (IFRIC 12). Proceeds 
from the sale of shares in consolidated companies include € 1.2 billion from 
the sale of DB Arriva. The deconsolidation of DB Arriva led to a cash out­
flow (as assets held for sale) of € 488 million.

C A S H  F L O W  F R O M  F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S
The cash flow from financing activities is due to additions to capital, the 
net inflows and outflows attributable to senior bonds issued, changes in 
bank borrowings and loans as well as outflows for the redemption of finance 
leasing liabilities and interest-free loans.

The cash inflow from financing activities increased by about € 3.4 bil­
lion. This was driven in particular by increased cash inflows from equity 
contributions by the Federal Government (€ +4.4 billion), an increase in net 
cash inflows from the taking out and redemption of bank borrowings and 
commercial paper as well as the discontinuation of the profit distribution to 
the Federal Government (previous year: € 650 million). In contrast, the net 
cash inflow from the issue and redemption of senior bonds declined.

Text
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Notes to the segment information 
 
The DB Group segment reporting has been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS 8 (Operating Segments). The operating segments of DB Group result 
from the aggregation of fully consolidated companies; these companies 
have been allocated to specific segments on the basis of the company-spe­
cific operational performance on a defined market. The Management Board 
takes its decisions and carries out economic analyses as well as assessments 
at the level of the operating segments (“management approach”).

The allocation of companies to operating segments in external ac­
counting is consistent with the allocation in internal management report­
ing. This means that the management and legal structure of DB Group are 
congruent. As a result of this allocation principle, there are no partial bal­
ance sheets or partial statements of income within a legal entity that are 
allocated to different segments. 

In this context, the recipient of management reporting is the Manage­
ment Board in its function as the main decision maker. Management re­
porting in DB Group is based on the accounting principles in accordance 

with IFRS. When reconciling the segment data with the corresponding 
company data, consolidation effects must therefore essentially be taken 
into account. For this reason, a consolidation column is used for reconcil­
iation purposes. The operations of the business segments are covered in 
the reporting format in line with the corporate organization structure of 
DB Group. The main regions covered by DB Group are detailed in the infor­
mation by regions.

The former DB Schenker segment has been classified and reported as 
a discontinued operation since September 2024. As a result, as of Decem­
ber 31, 2024, the business unit will no longer be part of management and 
thus the internal management financial information. The segment report­
ing for the period January 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024, and as of Decem­
ber 31, 2024, including the previous year’s figures in the statement of com­
prehensive income, was adjusted accordingly. The assets and liabilities of 
the previous year of the subsidiaries belonging to the former segment are 
presented in the reconciliation. As of December 31, 2024, the continuing 
operations of DB Group consisted of the remaining six segments. 

Text

I N F O R M AT I O N  R E G A R D I N G  T H E  C H A N G E S  
I N  F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S  ( I A S   7 )

�€ million As of Jan 1, 2024

Cash-effective 
changes  

(inflow (+)/ 
outflow (–))

Non-cash changes

As of Dec 31, 2024

Acquisition (+)/ 
disposal (–)  

of companies
Exchange rate 

effects

Addition (+)/ 
Disposal (–)  

of liabilities and  
receivables 

from financing

Reclassification 
of discontinued  

operations Compounding 1)

Financial receivables – 228 43 – – – – – – 185
L I A B I L I T I E S  F R O M  F I N A N C I N G

Interest-free loans 152 – 155 – – – – 3 –
Senior bonds 30,042 – 806 – – 115 – – 19 29,140
Commercial paper 358 1,145 – – – – – 1,503
Bank borrowings 2,574 1,093 – 0 – – 25 – 3,642
Leasing liabilities 1) 4,787 – 503 0 16 603 – 1,780 2 3,125
Liabilities from transport concessions 151 – 19 – – 482 – – 614
Other financial liabilities 44 93 – 0 – – 38 – 99

38,108 848 – – 99 1,085 – 1,843 24 38,123
Total 37,880 891 – – 99 1,085 – 1,843 24 37,938
1)	��� Payments for lease liabilities, including interest paid, amounted to € 567 million as of December 31, 2024. For the cash flow statement, 

these were divided into an interest portion and a repayment portion. This interest element is netted under compounding.

�€ million As of Jan 1, 2023

Cash-effective 
changes  

(inflow (+)/ 
outflow (–))

Non-cash changes

As of Dec 31, 2023

Acquisition (+)/ 
disposal (–)  

of companies
Exchange  

rate effects

Addition (+)/ 
disposal (–)  

of liabilities and  
receivables  

from financing

Reclassification of 
discontinued 

operations Compounding 1)

Financial receivables – 142 – 86 – – – – – – 228
L I A B I L I T I E S  F R O M  F I N A N C I N G

Interest-free loans 298 – 155 – – – – 9 152
Senior bonds 28,802 1,124 – 98 – – 18 30,042
Commercial paper – 358 – – – – – 358
Bank borrowings 2) 545 2,012 – – 1 – 18 – 2,574
Lease liabilities 1), 2) 5,180 – 507 – 4 – 29 774 – 629 2 4,787
Liabilities from transport concessions 164 – 17 – – 4 – – 151
Other financial liabilities 2) 284 – 184 – – 1 – 11 – 44 – 44

35,273 2,631 – 4 67 767 – 655 29 38,108
Total 35,131 2,545 – 4 67 767 – 655 29 37,880
1)	 Payments for lease liabilities including interest paid amounted to € 564 million as of December 31, 2023. For the cash flow statement, 
	 these were divided into an interest portion and a repayment portion. This interest element is netted under compounding.
2)	� Figures “Cash-effective changes” and “Reclassification of discontinued operations” adjusted.
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The following segments are managed in DB Group:
	◊ DB Long-Distance: The DB Long-Distance segment comprises all 

cross-regional transport and service operations in long-distance rail 
passenger transport. Most of these transport services are provided in 
Germany.

	◊ DB Regional: The DB Regional segment combines the activities for 
the German transport and general services in regional rail and road 
local passenger transport. These activities also comprise the S-Bahn 
(metro) operations in Berlin and Hamburg.

	◊ DB Cargo: All European rail freight transport activities are pooled in 
the DB Cargo segment. In addition, the multimodal activities in 
large-volume complete load transport in the European land transport 
network are included. It operates primarily in Germany, Denmark, the 
Netherlands, Italy, the United Kingdom, France, Poland and Spain.

	◊ DB InfraGO: The former DB Netze Track and DB Netze Stations seg­
ments have been combined in the DB InfraGO segment since January 
1, 2024. The segment bundles the production, maintenance and oper­
ation of our rail-bound rail infrastructure in Germany as well as the 
operation, development and marketing of passenger stations and 
station areas in Germany.

	◊ DB Energy: The DB Energy segment provides all standard energy 
products in the fields of transport energy and stationary energy. 

	◊ Subsidiaries/Other: DB AG, with its management, financing and 
service functions, is reported in this segment as the management 
holding company of DB Group. This also includes the service compa­
nies which mostly render their services within DB Group in the fields 
of transport, logistics, information technology and telecommunica­
tions. The other subsidiaries and remaining activities are classified 
under Subsidiaries/Other as well.

The data concerning the segments are shown after intra-segment relations 
have been eliminated. The transactions between the segments (inter-seg­
ment relations) are eliminated in the consolidation column.

The income and expenses detailed on the basis of operating segments 
in the segment information are adjusted by issues which are of an excep­
tional nature in terms of the amount involved or in terms of the reason for 
the specific issue. A general adjustment is recognized for book profits and 
losses attributable to transactions with investments/financial assets and 
in the amount of the depreciation on long-term customer contracts that 
have been capitalized as part of the purchase price allocation process of 
company acquisitions. In addition, an adjustment is recognized for indi­
vidual issues if they are of an exceptional nature, if they are definable for 
accounting purposes, if they can be measured and if the amount involved 
is material. They are shown in the reconciliation column. This column also 
includes the reconciliation of the balance sheet items of capital employed 
(contents allocated in accordance with management reporting) to the ex­
ternal presentation in accordance with the consolidated balance sheet of 
DB Group. Due to the reclassification of the former DB Schenker segment, 
the assets and liabilities of the relevant companies for the previous year 
are shown in the reconciliation.

Segment reporting is based on the key business figures used for the 
internal management of the operating segments. These key figures form 
the basis of the value-oriented management concept ((see Capital management see Capital management 
in in DBDB Group Groupµµ 238 f.238 f.).).

The external revenues and other income relate exclusively to income from 
the segments with non-Group partners. The internal revenues and other 
income show the income with other segments (intersegment income) of 
DB Group. The transfer prices for intra-Group transactions are determined 
on a market-related basis.

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) 
is used for assessing the pure earning power of the operating segments. It 
does not include any costs of capital employed in the form of depreciation 
and interest. Accordingly, EBITDA is not influenced by segment-specific 
financing structures and long-term capital expenditure cycles (in particular 
in the infrastructure segments) because depreciation is incurred sooner 
than the positive returns generated by these capital expenditures. EBITDA 
thus has the character of pre-tax cash flow.

On the other hand, EBIT additionally comprises depreciation recog­
nized in relation to fixed assets (property, plant and equipment and intan­
gible assets). EBIT represents the operating profit generated that is avail­
able to satisfy the interest yield claims on the investor side.

The costs of financing that are incurred as a result of the (in certain 
cases) very high amounts of capital tied up in the segments of DB Group 
(particularly in the infrastructure segments) are also relevant for a long-
term assessment of results. This is the reason why the operating interest 
balance is also taken into consideration in the key figure operating income 
after interest.

The capital employed also has to be taken into consideration in addi­
tion to the above-mentioned parameters for internal management of the 
operating segments. The capital employed comprises the essential capital 
which is used by providers of equity and debt investors and for which in­
terest has to be paid.

Net financial debt corresponds to the balance of external liabilities 
subject to interest as well as cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing 
external receivables and short-term cash investments in money-market 
funds. The segments’ net financial debt also includes receivables and lia­
bilities from Group financing and from control and profit and loss transfer 
agreements.

Gross capital expenditures comprise capital expenditures in property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets excluding capitalized borrow­
ing costs. Net capital expenditures are calculated by deducting the par­
ticipation of third parties in the financing of specific capital expenditure 
projects (essentially the investment grants of the Federal Government 
and the Federal states). In 2024, DB InfraGO’s net capital expenditures 
included amounts that were not financed by DB Group funds, but by eq­
uity measures of the Federal Government. 2024 also included the compa­
nies of the former DB Schenker segment until the signing of the purchase 
agreement in September 2024 (in the previous year, the companies of the 
former DB Arriva segment were included until the signing of the purchase 
agreement).

Additions from changes in the scope of consolidation are shown as 
part of segment gross capital expenditures, and comprise exclusively the 
capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment and intangible as­
sets, including the goodwill acquired as part of company acquisitions or 
included in the consolidated financial statements for the first time.

The number of employees indicates the number of employees exclud­
ing trainees and dual students at the end of the reporting period; part-time 
employees are converted to full-time employees.

The same accounting and valuation principles apply to the segments 
((Principles and methodsPrinciples and methodsµ 234 ff.234 ff.)) as for the rest of the consolidated financial 
statements. Intra-Group segment transactions are generally conducted at 
market prices.

Text Text
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E X P L A N AT O R Y  N O T E S  O N  T H E  I N F O R M AT I O N  B Y  R E G I O N S
External revenues are stated on the basis of the registered offices of the 
Group company providing the service.

Non-current assets are also allocated on the basis of the location of 
the company. The non-current assets comprise intangible assets, property, 
plant and equipment as well as non-current receivables and other assets 
(excluding financial instruments, deferred tax assets, rights from insurance 
policies as well as assets in conjunction with benefits after termination of 
the employment agreement).

I N F O R M AT I O N  C O N C E R N I N G  M A J O R  C U S T O M E R S 
In 2024, DB Group still did not generate more than 10% of its revenues with 
any single customer.

Risk management and derivative  
financial instruments 

M A N A G E M E N T  O F  F I N A N C I A L  A N D  E N E R G Y  P R I C E  R I S K S
As an international mobility, transport and logistics group, DB Group is 
exposed to financial risks from changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 
In addition, there are also energy price risks on the procurement side as a 
result of fluctuations in the prices of diesel fuel and electricity. Part of the 
company’s policy is to actively manage and thus limit these risks through 
the use of derivative financial instruments.

DB AG is responsible for all financing and hedging transactions of DB 
Group with its central Group Treasury, and operates in close cooperation 
with the subsidiaries, where the risk positions primarily arise. Group Trea­
sury follows the relevant regulations for risk management (Minimum re­
quirements for risk management (Mindestanforderungen an das Risikoman­
agement; MaRisk), Corporate Sector Supervision and Transparency Act 
(Gesetz zur Kontrolle und Transparenz im Unternehmensbereich; KonTraG)). 
Speculation is not permitted. Ongoing market and risk assessment takes 
place as part of risk management.

Derivative financial instruments are used exclusively for hedging in­
terest, foreign exchange and energy price risks. All individual transactions 
correspond to on-balance-sheet or anticipated underlying transactions 
(for example, issue of senior bonds, procurement of diesel fuel and elec­
tricity). The aim is to achieve qualification as an effective hedge in accor­
dance with IFRS 9. 

I N T E R E S T  R AT E  R I S K S
The interest rate risks are attributable to borrowings at variable interest 
rates.

Pursuant to IFRS 7, the effects of hypothetical changes in market in­
terest rates on profits and equity are examined by means of a sensitivity 
analysis. In this respect, the following financial instruments are considered:

	◊ Derivatives designated in cash flow hedges (interest hedges and 
cross-currency hedges) have an impact on the hedge reserve in share­
holders’ equity and are therefore taken into consideration in the sen­
sitivity calculations relating to shareholders’ equity.

	◊ In the sensitivity calculations for the net interest income, financial 
instruments with variable interest rates are included (bank deposits, 
short-term borrowings/investments, cross-currency swaps, loans).

If the level of market interest rates for the exposure had been 100 basis 
points higher (lower) as of the balance sheet date, the comprehensive in­
come would have been affected as follows:

�€ million

2024 2023

Changes in market level of interest rates

+ 100 BP 1) – 100 BP 1) + 100 BP 1) – 100 BP 1)

Impact on comprehensive income – 33 + 32 – 20 + 22
	 thereof net profit/loss for the year – 10 + 10 + 14 – 14
	 thereof other income – 23 + 22 – 34 + 36
1)	 Basis points.

F O R E I G N  C U R R E N C Y  R I S K S
The foreign currency risks are attributable to financing measures and op­
erating activities.

The foreign currency bonds and loans issued as part of Group financing 
are converted into euro liabilities and receivables using cross-currency swaps 
to avoid interest rate and exchange rate risks. In individual cases, the con­
version of bonds may be waived if the bond can be serviced from incoming 
payments in foreign currency.

Subsidiaries hedge all material foreign currency positions in their func­
tional currency via Group Treasury. In special exceptional cases and to a 
limited extent, subsidiaries are permitted to hedge foreign currency posi­
tions independently with banks.

The currency sensitivity analysis in accordance with IFRS 7 is based on 
the following assumptions:

	◊ The cross-currency swaps and foreign exchange transactions concluded 
are at all times allocated to original underlying transactions.

	◊ All major foreign currency positions arising from business operations 
are always 100% hedged. Changes in exchange rates have no effect on 
profits or equity when fully hedged.

	◊ Foreign currency risks can arise if there is no complete hedging in jus­
tified exceptional cases, e.g. if hedge volumes for expected cash flows 
in foreign currencies are estimated conservatively in order to avoid 
overhedging. 

	◊ On-balance-sheet foreign currency risks may result from energy price 
hedging which is not denominated in the respective functional currency. 

When the following foreign currencies for foreign exchange hedges had 
depreciated or appreciated by 10% as of the balance sheet date, the over­
all result would not have been significantly affected: 

�€ million

2024 2023

Change in foreign currency exchange rates by

+ 10% – 10% + 10% – 10%
USD + 18 – 18 + 29 – 29
CNY 0 0 + 8 – 9
CAD 0 0 – 1 + 1
GBP 0 0 + 114 – 114
SGD 0 0 – 4 + 5
SEK 0 0 – 2 + 2
PLN 0 0 + 2 – 2
HUF 0 0 – 4 + 5
VND 0 0 – 1 + 1
RON + 1 – 1 0 0
TRY 0 0 – 2 + 2
SAR + 1 – 1 + 1 – 1
ARS 0 0 0 – 1
INR + 1 – 1 + 1 – 1
ILS 0 0 + 1 – 1
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DB Group includes numerous investments in foreign subsidiaries whose net 
assets are exposed to translation risk. This translation risk is not considered 
a foreign currency risk as defined by IFRS 7 and is not hedged.

E N E R G Y  P R I C E  R I S K S
The Energy Price Risk Management Committee (ERMC) is responsible for 
managing and minimizing energy price risks; this committee is responsible 
for ensuring the implementation of the risk policy of DB Group specifically 
with regard to energy price risks (in particular for the procurement of diesel 
and electricity). The ERMC takes decisions with regard to specific hedging 
strategies and measures in which financial and energy derivatives are used.

Swaps on the commodities on which the price formulas are based and 
physical forward transactions are used as hedging transactions for price 
change risks when purchasing electricity and gas.

Diesel price risks are limited by concluding diesel swaps, for example 
(usually by means of hybrid hedges of diesel price and foreign exchange 
risks).

The following assumptions were made to carry out the sensitivity anal­
ysis in accordance with IFRS 7:

	◊ The effective portion of the change in the fair value of energy price 
swaps is recognized directly in equity, while the ineffective portion is 
recognized in the income statement.

	◊ If options are used (collars), the intrinsic value constitutes the effective 
part of the hedge, so that the intrinsic value is shown in shareholders’ 
equity. On the other hand, the fair value is not part of the hedge, and 
is shown in the statement of income.

If energy prices had been 10% lower (or higher) at the year-end, compre­
hensive income would have been affected as follows:

�€ million

2024 2023

Change in market prices

+ 10% – 10% + 10% – 10%

Impact on comprehensive income + 21 – 21 + 32 – 32
	 thereof other income + 21 – 21 + 32 – 32
		  Diesel + 9 – 9 + 20 – 20
		  Coal + 12 – 12 + 12 – 12
		  Gas + 17 – 17 – –
		  Electricity + 40 – 40 – –

C O U N T E R PA R T Y  D E FA U LT  R I S K  O F  T H E  I N T E R E S T  R AT E , 
F O R E I G N  E X C H A N G E  A N D  E N E R G Y  D E R I VAT I V E S
The counterparty default risk is actively managed by way of strict require­
ments relating to the creditworthiness of the counterparty at the point at 
which the transactions are concluded and also throughout the entire dura­
tion of the transactions, and also by way of defining risk limits.

In order to minimize the credit risk of derivatives, DB Group has con­
cluded credit support agreements (CSAs) with its core banks. In the CSAs, 
it was agreed that both parties would mutually provide cash securities for 
interest and cross-currency swaps as well as energy derivatives. Collateral 
is settled daily with all relevant banks.

Related amounts that are not netted in the balance sheet:

The assets and liabilities from derivative financial instruments and thus the 
maximum counterparty default risk have increased as a result of the inclu­
sion of electricity and gas forward transactions from structuring activities 
at DB Energy. The maximum individual risk of financial derivatives (default 
risk in relation to individual contractual partners) amounted to € 157 million 
(as of December 31, 2023: € 263 million) and remained unchanged in rela­
tion to a bank with an S&P rating of A+. For transactions with maturities of 
more than one year, all counterparties to financial derivatives with which 
there is a counterparty default risk continued to have a rating of at least 
Baa 1/BBB+ as of December 31, 2024.

For physical electricity and gas transactions, the maximum individual 
risk as of December 31, 2024, was € 11 million with a Dun&Bradstreet (D&B) 
score of 100. For transactions with terms of more than one year, all con­
tractual partners of the physical electricity and gas transactions with which 
there is a counterparty default risk had a D&B score of at least 11.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity management includes maintaining a sufficient level of cash and 
cash equivalents, ongoing use of the commercial paper market to ensure 
sufficient market liquidity and depth, and the availability of funds at all 
times via guaranteed credit facilities from banks ((NoteNote ( (2828))µ 257 ff.257 ff.).).

The following table shows the contractually agreed undiscounted in­
terest payments and redemption payments relating to the original financial 
liabilities as well as the derivative financial instruments with a positive and 
negative fair value of DB Group:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million

Financial assets/liabilities  
shown in the balance sheet

Related amounts that are not netted in the balance sheet

Amounts subject to  
framework netting agreement

Cash securities  
received/provided Net amounts

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Derivative financial instruments – assets 977 799 – 336 – 201 – 574 – 524 67 74
Derivative financial instruments – liabilities 532 432 – 336 – 201 – 185 – 228 11 3
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MATURITY ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
AS OF DEC 31, 2023  /  € million

2024 2025 2026–2028 2029–2033 2034 ff.

Interest 
fixed/

variable Redemption

Interest 
fixed/

variable Redemption

Interest 
fixed/

variable Redemption

Interest 
fixed/

variable Redemption

Interest 
fixed/

variable Redemption
O R I G I N A L  F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S

	 Interest-free loans – 152 – – – – – – – –
	 Senior bonds 492 1,966 446 1,973 1,099 7,118 1,279 9,545 1,316 9,440
	 Commercial paper 1 358 – – – – – – – –
	 Bank borrowings 90 566 90 8 60 2,000 0 – – –
	 Leasing liabilities 106 958 83 802 152 1,474 112 954 178 584
	 Financing liabilities from transport concessions 3 21 2 21 5 57 2 46 0 6
	 Other financial liabilities – 22 – – – 21 – 1 – –
Trade liabilities – 6,134 – 36 – 66 – 3 – –
Other and miscellaneous liabilities – 1,807 – 92 – 420 – 352 – –
F I N A N C I A L  WA R R A N T I E S

Financial warranties – 14 – – – – – – – –

MATURITY ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  
AS OF DEC 31, 2024  /  € million

2025 2026 2027–2029 2030–2034 2035 ff.

Interest 
fixed/

variable
Redemp-

tion

Interest 
fixed/

variable
Redemp-

tion

Interest 
fixed/

variable
Redemp-

tion

Interest 
fixed/

variable
Redemp-

tion

Interest 
fixed/

variable
Redemp-

tion

O R I G I N A L  F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S

	 Interest-free loans – – – – – – – – – –
	 Senior bonds 483 1,980 439 2,264 1,111 6,693 1,323 9,229 1,243 9,125
	 Commercial paper – 1,505 – – – – – – – –
	 Bank borrowings 115 582 79 2,500 – 560 0 – – –
	 Leasing liabilities 60 488 48 425 112 982 121 987 91 279
	 Financing liabilities from transport concessions 14 75 12 74 26 216 17 235 1 14
	 Other financial liabilities – 98 – – – – – 1 – –
Trade liabilities – 3,365 – 27 – 52 – 7 – –
Other and miscellaneous liabilities – 1,729 – 498 – 51 – 331 – –
F I N A N C I A L  WA R R A N T I E S

Financial warranties – 80 – – – – – – – –

MATURITY ANALYSIS SETTLEMENT PAYMENTS DERIVATIVES 
/  € million

As of Dec 31, 2024 As of Dec 31, 2023

2025 2026
2027

–2029
2030

–2034 2035 ff. 2024 2025
2026

–2028
2029

–2033 2034 ff.

D E R I VAT I V E S

D E R I VAT I V E  F I N A N C I A L  L I A B I L I T I E S

Cross-currency interest rate derivatives (gross settled): outflows 380 751 497 1,154 1,049 – 537 403 1,820 759 525
Cross-currency interest rate derivatives (gross settled): inflows – 325 – 713 – 526 – 1,072 – 1,074 – 509 – 347 – 1,785 – 691 – 518
Interest rate derivatives 11 6 13 – 3 – 21 8 14 2 –
Foreign exchange derivatives (gross settled): outflows 693 – – – – 988 74 33 – –
Foreign exchange derivatives (gross settled): inflows – 688 – – – – – 981 – 74 – 34 – –
Energy price derivatives 5 1 – – – 44 18 3 – –
Electricity forward transactions: outflows 154 83 13 – – – – – – –
Electricity forward transactions: inflows – 212 – 61 – 25 – – – – – – –
Gas forward transactions: outflows 14 19 5 – – – – – – –
Gas forward transactions: inflows – 17 – 2 – 3 – – – – – – –
D E R I VAT I V E  F I N A N C I A L  R E C E I VA B L E S

Cross-currency interest rate derivatives (gross settled): outflows 595 1,114 853 1,644 867 425 590 915 2,178 1,574
Cross-currency interest rate derivatives (gross settled): inflows – 636 – 1,168 – 952 – 1,788 – 912 – 531 – 626 – 1,008 – 2,437 – 1,698
Interest rate derivatives – 2 – 7 – 8 – – 4 – 4 – 15 – –
Foreign exchange derivatives (gross settled): outflows 746 39 21 – – 950 – – – –
Foreign exchange derivatives (gross settled): inflows – 764 – 43 – 23 – – – 961 – – – –
Energy price derivatives – 5 – 4 – 2 – – – 10 – 1 – – –
Electricity forward transactions: outflows 400 157 41 – – – – – – –
Electricity forward transactions: inflows – 90 – 55 – 18 – – – – – – –
Gas forward transactions: outflows 67 30 25 – – – – – – –
Gas forward transactions: inflows – 5 – – – – – – – – –
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All instruments held as of December 31, 2024, and for which payments have 
already been agreed were included. Foreign currency amounts have been 
translated using the spot rate applicable as of the balance sheet date. The 
variable interest payments attributable to the financial instruments have 
been calculated on the basis of the interest rates applicable on December 
31, 2024 (previous year: on December 31, 2023). Financial liabilities that can 
be repaid at any time are allocated to the earliest possible time segment.

The financial liabilities were opposed by cash and cash equivalents 
of € 4,170 million as of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: 
€ 2,631 million), consisting of positive account balances and current short-
term deposits.

Additional disclosures relating to  
the financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are categorized and measured in accordance 
with IFRS 9 if they fall within the scope of IFRS 9. Financial assets and lia-
bilities that are not within the scope of IFRS 9 are measured in accordance 
with the relevant standards and are not allocated to a measurement cate-
gory in accordance with IFRS 9.

The carrying amounts as well as the net result per valuation category of 
IFRS 9 are shown in the following. The fair values and the details of indi
vidual classes of financial instruments are shown within the notes to the 
respective balance sheet items.

In DB Group, financial assets that are allocated to a valuation category 
according to IFRS 9 mainly comprise trade receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents.

In DB Group, financial liabilities that are allocated to a valuation cate-
gory according to IFRS 9 mainly comprise senior bonds, EUROFIMA loans, 
bank borrowings, trade liabilities and other liabilities.

Classification of financial assets and liabilities 
The measurement categories of IFRS 9 and the net result including the dis-
continued operation DB Schenker are shown below.

Text

The net result for financial instruments measured at amortized acquisi-
tion costs included in particular interest income from financial assets in 
the amount of € 223 million (previous year: € 167 million) and interest 
expenses from financial liabilities in the amount of € 775 million (previous 
year: € 553 million). In addition, value adjustments for financial assets in 
the amount of € 65 million (previous year: € –36 million) and currency 
translation effects in the amount of € 76 million (previous year: € –90 mil
lion) were taken into account, which also included hedging effects from 
hedging transactions. Furthermore, valuation effects from bonds in hedg-
ing transactions in the amount of € –16 million (previous year: € –54 mil
lion) were included. 

For assets and liabilities for which no observable fair values were avail-
able, a non-market-based valuation (Level 3 valuation) was carried out,  
e.g. on the basis of similar transactions at standard market conditions in a 
sufficiently close time frame. For DB Group’s other equity investments, 
which remained immaterial as of December 31, 2024, the amortized cost 
was used here for the sake of simplicity. 

In addition, the Level 3 valuation also includes receivables that meet cer-
tain criteria relevant to a sale and are therefore valued at fair value using 
country-weighted credit spreads. If the credit risk increases or decreases, 
this would result in proportional valuation effects in the fair value of these 
receivables.

There were unchangedly no reclassifications between the measure-
ment levels in 2024.

In the case of establishing the fair values of the derivative financial 
instruments, contractually agreed or most probable cash flows are dis-
counted using the appropriate market interest rate, with due consideration 
given to the credit risk by means of credit spreads. No credit risk mark-
downs have been recognized in the case of secured exposures. The credit 
risk resulting from the derivative portfolio is treated on a net basis. Credit 
support annexes, which are still subject to daily security settlement with 
a threshold value of € 0, were concluded to minimize the credit risk of long-
term interest and cross-currency transactions.

Text

€ MILLION

Recog-
nized in 

the income
statement

at fair 
value

With no impact on profit 
and loss at fair value Deriva- 

tives in 
hedging  

trans- 
actions

At  
amortized  

acquisi-
tion costs

Not within  
the scope  

of IFRS 7 Total
thereof  

fair value

Fair value

with  
recycling

without 
recycling Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

C A R R Y I N G  A M O U N T  A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4

Non-current financial assets 60 1 40 744 1,845 889 3,579 845 1 798 46
Current financial assets 638 485 – 57 13,060 962 15,202 1,180 514 181 485
Non-current financial liabilities 57 – – 319 32,583 3,773 36,732 376 – 376 –
Current financial liabilities 76 – – 85 12,570 3,428 16,159 161 – 161 –
N E T  R E S U LT

Net result – 10 – – – – 557 – – – – – –

C A R R Y I N G  A M O U N T  A S  O F  D E C  3 1 ,  2 0 2 3

Non-current financial assets 1) 46 1 28 666 1,465 844 3,050 741 1 679 61
Current financial assets 533 439 – 106 9,063 4,214 14,355 1,078 519 120 439
Non-current financial liabilities 1) 35 – – 301 31,205 3,752 35,293 336 – 336 –
Current financial liabilities 8 – – 88 11,026 5,490 16,612 96 – 96 –
N E T  R E S U LT

Net result 2) – 61 – – – – 569 – – – – – –
1)	� Figures for “Recognized in the income statement at fair value” and “Derivatives in hedging transactions” adjusted.
2)	� Figures for “Derivatives in hedging transactions” and “At amortized acquisition costs” adjusted.
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Other disclosures

( 3 4 )  �C O N T I N G E N T  R E C E I VA B L E S  A N D  L I A B I L I T I E S ,  
A N D  G U A R A N T E E  O B L I G AT I O N S

Contingent receivables (as of December 31, 2024: € 14 million; as of De-
cember 31, 2023: € 19 million) mainly comprised a recovery claim in conjunc
tion with investment grants that had been provided but not sufficiently 
determined as of the balance sheet date in terms of the specific amount 
and due date.

As of December 31, 2024, as a matter of principle no contingent receiv-
ables had been recognized for all injunction proceedings in view of the high 
level of uncertainty relating to refund claims, the timing of refunds and the 
probability of refunds.

The contingent liabilities were broken down as follows:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million 2024 2023

Negotiation and transfer of bills of exchange 14 13
Provisions of warranties – –
Other contingent liabilities 148 71
Total 162 84

Other contingent liabilities also comprise risks arising from litigation that 
had not been stated as provisions because the expected probability of  
occurrence is less than 50%. This relates to numerous individual cases of 
minor significance.

In addition, there were contingent liabilities from guarantees of  
€ 80 million as of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023: € 14 mil-
lion), thereof € 67 million related to guarantees or counter-guarantees in 
connection with the sale of DB Arriva that had not yet been redeemed at 
closing. Property, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of € 1 mil-
lion (as of December 31, 2023: € 3 million) were also used as security  
for loans.

DB Group acts as guarantor mainly for equity participations and work-
ing groups, and is legally subject to joint and several liability for all work-
ing groups in which it is involved.

Potential claims for compensation that are not recognized in the bal-
ance sheet are not included in contingent liabilities as they cannot cur-
rently be quantified.

( 3 5 )  O T H E R  F I N A N C I A L  O B L I G AT I O N S
Capital expenditures in relation to which DB Group has entered into con-
tractual commitments as of the balance sheet date, but for which no con-
sideration has yet been received, were broken down as follows:

AS OF DEC 31  /  € million 2024 2023 1)

P U R C H A S E  C O M M I T M E N T  F O R  T H E  A C Q U I S I T I O N  O F

	 Property, plant and equipment 25,703 23,752
	 Intangible assets 25 41
Acquisition of financial assets 500 508
Total 26,228 24,301
Commitment for leasing of property, plant and equipment 8 327
Possible but unlikely lease payments 381 2,599
1)	� Figures including the discontinued operation DB Schenker.

The increase in purchase commitment in property, plant and equipment 
was due in particular to the planned capital expenditure projects based on 
own construction work. The purchase commitment for the acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment also contains future obligations for rolling 
stock in connection with transport contracts to be recognized in accordance 
with IFRIC 12.

The commitment for leasing of property, plant and equipment relates 
to leases that had been concluded as of the balance sheet date but whose 
term had not yet begun. Possible lease payments for unlikely lease exten-
sions or for periods in which the leased asset will not be used as a result of 
a likely termination have not been included in the measurement of leasing 
liabilities.

€ 500 million (as of December 31, 2023: € 508 million) of the acquisition 
of financial assets related to uncalled outstanding deposits at EUROFIMA. 
The decline was due to exchange rate effects.

( 3 6 )  S T R U C T U R E D  C O M PA N I E S
DB AG holds 100% of the shares in DB Barnsdale AG and DB Competition 
Claims GmbH. The purpose of these structured companies is to enforce 
claims for compensation from cartel operations; they are included as sub-
sidiaries in the consolidated financial statements. There are profit and loss 
transfer agreements with DB AG.

( 3 7 )  I N F R A S T R U C T U R E  A N D  T R A N S P O R T  C O N T R A C T S
�Infrastructure contracts 
Rail infrastructure companies (RIC) of DB Group are in particular DB InfraGO 
AG and DB Energie GmbH.

On the basis of Section 6 of the General Railway Act (Allgemeines 
Eisenbahngesetz; AEG), RICs that operate rail lines, control and safety sys-
tems or platforms require a company license to do so. This applies in par-
ticular to DB InfraGO AG, approval for which has been granted for an indef-
inite period in accordance with Section 6 AEG.

The rights of the RICs to operate the rail infrastructure are connected 
to various obligations. They undertake, in particular, to ensure that their 
operations are managed safely and that all rail infrastructure is constructed 
safely and maintained in a safe condition (Section 4 (3) AEG). With regard 
to compliance with this regulation, the RICs of DB Group are regulated by 
the Federal Railway Authority (Eisenbahn-Bundesamt; EBA).

In addition, the RICs also have to observe statutory duties in the case 
of any new or expansion projects, for instance with regard to noise abate-
ment. DB Group voluntarily participates in the noise remediation program 
of the Federal Government with regard to existing lines.

DB InfraGO AG grants non-discriminatory access to the rail infrastruc-
ture in accordance with Sections 10 ff. Railway Regulation Act (Eisenbahn-
regulierungsgesetz; EReG) and charges the train operating companies 
(TOCs) for this. The fees charged by DB InfraGO AG must comply with the 
requirements of the EReG. The fees for the usage of traction current lines 
of DB Energie GmbH have to comply with the requirements of the Energy 
Industry Law (Energiewirtschaftsgesetz; EnWG).

∏
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The infrastructure companies generated the following total revenues in the 
year under review:

�€ million

Total
thereof  

non-Group customers

2024 2023 2024 2023

DB InfraGO 7,925 7,648 2,899 2,698
DB Energy 3,457 3,971 1,486 1,947

The assets of the rail infrastructure are the legal and economic property of 
the companies. 

Transport contracts 
DB Regio AG and its subsidiaries provide transport services on the basis 
of ordered services of the contracting organizations. To that end, so-called 
transport contracts for local rail passenger transport services are concluded 
with the contracting organization for the transport services commissioned 
in that regard by the Federal states (e.g. special purpose association, lo-
cal transport company), in which the volume and quality of the transport 
service, its further development and its remuneration (concession fees) 
are provided for.

The funds required for this are made available to the Federal states by 
the Federal Government in accordance with the provisions of the Region-
alization Act (Regionalisierungsgesetz; RegG). The total amount of con-
cession fees received by DB Regio AG and the subsidiaries of the DB Re-
gional segment for rail transport amounted to € 7,152 million in 2024 
(previous year: € 6,759 million; NoteNote ( (11))µ 239 f.239 f.).). This amount included 
€ 1,988 million (previous year: € 1,894 million 1)) in revenues from fares, 
which was to be offset against the claims for concession fees within the 
scope of gross contracts.

About 85% of the total number of transport contracts secured have 
a term until at least 2028, about 50% until at least 2033 and about 21% 
until at least 2035. Termination of the respective transport contract by the 
contracting organization during the term of the contract is only possible 
for good cause.

In many cases, the companies enjoy legal and beneficial ownership 
of the assets necessary for providing the services, and in particular the 
rolling stock. Some transport contracts include commitments whereby 
the assets that are deployed have to be handed over at the end of the 
term of the contract. In addition, DB Group is recording an increasing 
share of transport contracts in which the rolling stock are either leased 
by the contracting organization or for which the leasing arrangement is 
supported by capital service guarantees by the contracting organization. 
Insofar as on-balance-sheet capital expenditures are recognized for these 
transport concessions, they are reported under financial assets. Intangible 
assets are only reported in one case.

�( 3 8 )  �R E L AT E D - PA R T Y  D I S C L O S U R E S 
The following parties are deemed to be related parties of DB Group in ac-
cordance with IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures):

	◊ the Federal Government in its capacity as the owner of all shares in 
DB AG,

	◊ companies controlled and jointly controlled by the Federal Government, 
as well as companies over which the Federal Government can exert 
significant influence,

	◊ affiliated, non-consolidated or associated companies and joint ventures 
of DB Group, and

	◊ the members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of 
DB AG and their close relatives.

Transactions with related parties are conducted on an arm’s length basis.
Amounts for related parties are shown in the “Notes to the balance 

sheet” under the relevant items as “thereof” in total. Individual details can 
be found in the NotesNotes ( (1919))µ 251 ff.251 ff.,, ((2828))µ 257 ff.257 ff. and ((2929))µ 262 f262 f..

Information and explanations on transactions between DB Group and 
the Federal Government can be found in the NotesNotes ( (33))µ 240 f.240 f.,, ((55))µ 241 f.241 f.,  ,  
((99))µ 244244,, ((1313))µ 246 ff.246 ff.,, ((3131))µ 263 ff.263 ff.,, ((3535))µ 277277 and ((3737))µ 277 f277 f..

Material or separately reportable economic relationships between DB 
Group and related parties are explained below:

Relations with the Federal Government 

�€ million

Federal Government

2024 2023

S E R V I C E S  R E C E I V E D  B Y  D B  G R O U P

Purchase of goods and services 1,110 1,406
Purchase of real estate, buildings, rail facilities and other assets 1 1
Rents and leases 0 3
Other services 0 0
Investment grants 1) 7,974 8,310
Other income grants 3,536 889

12,621 10,609
S E R V I C E S  R E N D E R E D  B Y  D B  G R O U P

Sale of goods and services 469 644
Sale of real estate, buildings, rail facilities and other assets 0 0
Rents and leases 18 17
Other services 36 39
Repayment of loans 155 156
Repayment of investment grants 13 52

691 908
O T H E R  D I S C L O S U R E S

Unsecured receivables 2) 251 180
Unsecured liabilities 2) 495 385
Total of guarantees received 2) 1,124 1,142
1)	� Including € 342 million (previous year: € 187 million) in EU funding paid out  

via the Federal Government.
2)	 As of the balance sheet date.

The purchase of goods and services mainly relates to the fees paid to the 
Federal Government as part of the as-if settlement for the assigned civil 
servants and reimbursements for the provision of personnel in the service 
provision area.

Since 2009, the financing of the existing network between DB AG, the 
RICs and the Federal Government has been governed by the Performance 
and Financing Agreements (Leistungs- und Finanzierungsvereinbarung ; 
LuFV). The use of Government funds within the framework of the LuFV 
has been managed in a quality-oriented manner since that time. The LuFV 
improved the predictability, efficiency and transparency of funding for 
maintaining the infrastructure.

The third agreement of this kind, LuFV III, came into force on January 
1, 2020. The agreement has a volume of € 86.2 billion and, for the first time, 
a term of ten years – twice as long as the previous LuFV II agreement.

The infrastructure contribution of the Federal Government increased 
to an average of € 5.143 billion per calendar year (LuFV II: an average of 
€ 3.316 billion per calendar year). There was also an increase agreed in 
the maintenance expenses to be provided by the RICs to an average of 
€ 2.278 billion per calendar year. The EIU’s own contribution increased to 
an average of € 137.5 million per calendar year.

Text

∏

1)	 Figure adjusted.
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In addition, the agreement established a target number of 2,000 bridges 
for the bridge program between 2020 and 2029.

Furthermore, requirements that go beyond technical needs were allo-
cated, e.g. for improving accessibility and weather protection as well as 
additional funds for customer-friendly construction. In addition, the LuFV 
III provides a total of € 7 billion for earmarked capital expenditures in sig-
naling equipment for the years 2020 to 2029.

The LuFV III also initially contains a contractual regulation regarding 
the reduction of the capital expenditure backlog. Although the consider-
ably increased volume of funds in the LuFV III does not yet enable the 
capital expenditure backlog to be completely reduced, the total of 
€ 4.506 billion means that there is a defined sum available, at least two-
thirds of which must be used for reducing the backlog of particularly crit-
ical parts (track, switches, railway bridges, tunnels, culverts, signaling 
equipment and pedestrian underpasses). A new parameter for substance 
value (not subject to any penalties) is to be used as an indicator for the 
development of capital expenditure backlog.

With regard to the ten-year duration, the LuFV III also includes a pro-
vision for the application of a “renegotiation clause” which can trigger 
discussions for adjusting the LuFV III in the event of major changes, for 
instance considerable price increases for construction services in the rail 
infrastructure. Due in part to the Covid-19 pandemic and the war in Ukraine, 
massive price increases have been recorded since the effective date of the 
LuFV III which have made it impossible for the RICs to fulfill their contrac-
tual liabilities in full. For this reason, the RICs and the Federal Government 
have entered into negotiations regarding an adjustment of contractual 
rights and obligations and have negotiated two supplements to the LuFV 
in 2024. In addition to some additional requirements, these will finance 
price increases in 2023 and 2024 in particular, which were not foreseeable 
at the time LuFV III was concluded. The first addendum essentially regu-
lates the use of the additional equity increase of € 4.375 billion (cash inflow: 
2024) and was signed in summer 2024 after being referred to the Transport 
and Budget Committee. The second addendum also implements certain 
financing options of the BSWAG amendment, in particular the funding  
of maintenance measures (expenses) in 2023 and 2024. This addendum 
was finalized after being referred to the committees in December 2024. 
€ 2.956 billion was paid out in 2024, thereof € 1.057 billion for 2023 and 
€ 1.699 billion for 2024 as well as € 200 million for “Additional funding for 
stations.” In addition, the Budget Committee has decided in a resolution 
that Government subsidies can also be used to increase maintenance ac-
tivities in 2025. A further addendum is to be negotiated and concluded in 
2025 to update the financing basis of LuFV III for 2025.

It is planned to replace LuFV III with a new agreement, the InfraGO 
Performance Agreement (Leistungsvereinbarung InfraGO; LV InfraGO). The 
LV InfraGO is scheduled to enter into force on January 1, 2027.

The Fourth Act Amending the BSWAG came into force on July 9, 2024. 
The BSWAG is the legal basis for capital expenditures in Federal rail infra-
structure. The amendment is intended to remove existing barriers to cap-
ital expenditures and improve the performance and availability of the rail 
infrastructure. Specifically, new financing options were created by opening 
up public financing to non-capital expenditure activities. In future, for ex-
ample, maintenance expenses can also be funded by the Federal Govern-
ment, as can one-off costs (e.g. dismantling, IT services) and follow-up 

costs for measures initiated by the Federal Government. The adoption of 
the amendment was possible after the Federal Government and the Fed-
eral states reached an agreement on the remaining open points in the 
Mediation Committee on June 12, 2024. The agreed compromise included 
cost sharing for rail replacement services as part of general modernizations, 
the possibility of funding for equipping vehicles with digital (ETCS) on-
board equipment, the eligibility of concourse buildings (exclusion of com-
mercial areas) and clarifications on the use of funds in the context of gen-
eral modernizations.

The RICs and the Federal Government signed the Requirement Plan 
Implementation Agreement (Bedarfsplanumsetzungsvereinbarung; BUV) 
on July 25, 2017. This came into force on January 1, 2018, and regulates the 
financing of requirement plan projects. Key elements include a readjust-
ment of planning costs, a stipulation of the RICs’ own contribution to the 
projects as well as an agreement regarding binding commissioning dates 
which are subject to penalties if not met.

The Federal Government bears all the costs of the projects, including 
the entire planning costs. The previous regulation in the form of a flat-rate 
planning fee of 18% of the construction costs has been abolished.

The RICs contribute to all costs of the project in accordance with their 
own economic benefit, i.e. including the total construction costs. This pro-
vides a powerful incentive to avoid increases in construction costs.

The RICs give the Federal Government a commitment for milestones 
and binding commissioning dates for the projects. The contractual penal-
ties in the event of failure to meet these deadlines provide an incentive for 
complying with the deadlines.

On August 25, 2020, the Federal Government and the RICs concluded 
a new Framework Agreement on the Financing and Implementation of Cap-
ital Expenditures in the Rail Infrastructure of the Federal Railways (Rahmen-
vereinbarung über die Finanzierung und Durchführung von Investitionen 
in die Schienenwege der Eisenbahnen des Bundes). It regulates the financ-
ing and implementation of capital expenditure projects of the Federal Gov-
ernment in the expansion of the rail network, insofar as they do not fall 
within the scope of the LuFV, BUV or the predecessor agreement (Frame-
work Agreement 1999). With the exception of the so-called starter package, 
the framework agreement is not applicable to financing agreements that 
relate to the Digital Rail for Germany project. In the case of measures cov-
ered by the framework agreement, the RICs agree to cofinance the eligible 
costs. The extent of such cofinancing depends on the effectiveness of the 
measure for the infrastructure companies. Four different categories with a 
contribution of 0 to 15% have been agreed for this purpose.

Further investment grants are provided under the Municipal Transport 
Financing Act (Gemeindeverkehrsfinanzierungsgesetz; GVFG) for measures 
of the traffic program, in accordance with the noise remediation program 
of the Federal Government in relation to existing rail tracks and within the 
framework of the European Rail Traffic Management System (ERTMS) for 
equipping German sections of the trans-European rail network.

DB Netz AG (now DB InfraGO AG) received funding from the European 
Union (EU) for infrastructure projects as part of priority measures to expand 
the trans-European network (Connecting Europe Facility; CEF funds).

The grants recognized in profit or loss relate to, among other things, 
payments from the Federal Government for the compensation of excessive 
charges to DB Group from the operation and maintenance of level crossings 
with roads of all public authorities.

The sale of goods and services includes transport services for the se-
verely disabled, soldiers of the German Armed Forces and military transports.
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During the year under review, as in the previous year, interest-free loans in 
accordance with the BSWAG of € 155 million were repaid to the Federal Gov-
ernment within the framework of the agreed annual standard redemption 
payment. As of December 31, 2024, the interest-free loans were repaid in full.

Liabilities to the Federal Government consisted of other liabilities in 
the amount of € 495 million (as of December 31, 2023: € 233 million).

The guarantees received from the Federal Government primarily related  
to the loans received from EUROFIMA as well as the unpaid capital contri-
butions and liabilities arising from the collective liability of DB AG with  
EUROFIMA. The portfolio of guarantees received included a maximum com-
mitment from the Federal Government of € 1,153 million for loans from 
EUROFIMA. As of December 31, 2024, there were unchanged no loans from 
EUROFIMA. 

Twenty-six new financing contracts were concluded in the year under 
review in addition to the Adjustment Agreement 2020. The Federal Govern-
ment is financing the new contracts with a total share of about € 7,975 mil-
lion. The financing agreements have different terms, some of which extend 
until 2037. Financing is provided entirely in the form of investment grants 
that do not have to be repaid.

The joint implementation of the Deutsche Bahn Foundation Act  
(Deutsche Bahn Gründungsgesetz; DBGrG) is based on an agreement in 
accordance with Section 21 (8) DBGrG in relation to Section 21 (5) No. 2 
and (6) DBGrG of June 10/17, 2015 between the Federal Railway Fund on 
the one hand and DB AG on the other. On June 24/July 28, 2015, the BMDV 
and the Federal Ministry of Finance (BMF) approved the agreement. The 
agreement states that DB AG shall provide evidence (with documentation 
of each individual case) that an employee of DB JobService GmbH (a civil 
servant or tariff employee satisfying certain criteria at the foundation in 
1994) was affected by a rationalization measure and employment elsewhere 
is not possible. The personnel expenses plus an additional amount of 10% 
of the personnel expenses to cover costs shall be reimbursed only after 
each individual case has been reviewed by the Federal Railway Fund (Bun-
deseisenbahnvermögen; BEV).

On June 3, 2021, the law amending the provisions of the DBGrG on the 
reimbursement of personnel expenses for assigned civil servants came into 
force. Accordingly, the Federal Government will only reimburse the expenses 
of rationalization measures implemented before January 1, 2020.

In the annual financial statements of DB JobService GmbH as of Decem
ber 31, 2024, reimbursement claims of DB AG against the Federal Govern-
ment under Section 21 (5 and 6) DBGrG in the total amount of € 23.2 million 
(including 10% reimbursement of expenses; as of December 31, 2023: € 26.1 
million) were recognized.

On the basis of the Federal Government’s Climate Action Program 2030, 
additional Government funds totaling € 11 billion will be made available by 
2030 to strengthen the rail system. At the end of January 2020, the BMF and 
the BMDV, along with DB AG, DB Netz AG (now DB InfraGO AG), DB Sta-
tion&Service AG (now merged with DB InfraGO AG) and DB Energie GmbH, 
agreed on the inflow and use of the funds in a joint letter of intent. The 
funds will be used exclusively for infrastructure and are to flow half as eq-
uity and half as grants to DB InfraGO AG. In terms of content, the funds will 
be used in the categories of a robust network, digital rail, attractive stations 
and infrastructure measures operated on a purely commercial basis. Fol-
lowing the agreement with the European Commission under state aid law, 

the Federal Government disbursed the tranches for 2020 and 2021 totaling 
€ 2.125 billion to DB AG in November 2021, which passed the funds on di-
rectly to DB Netz AG (now: DB InfraGO AG; € 1.125 billion) and DB Station& 
Service AG (now: DB InfraGO AG; € 1 billion). The tranche for 2022 and 2023 
of € 1.125 billion each was passed on directly and in full to DB Netz AG (now: 
DB InfraGO AG). The tranche for 2024 of € 1.125 billion was passed on  
directly and in full to DB InfraGO AG. It was the last tranche to be disbursed 
as equity (€ 5.5 billion in total) as part of the Climate Action Program. Be-
tween 2025 and 2030, the Federal budget will provide additional funds in 
the form of investment grants totaling € 5.5 billion to implement the Climate 
Action Program.

The Government draft for the 2025 Federal budget includes further 
funds to increase DB AG’s equity in the amount of € 10.4 billion. In Decem-
ber 2024, the Federal Government and DB Group concluded an agreement 
(trilateral agreement) to use funds to increase equity under provisional 
Federal budget management in 2025, which provides for a payment of 
about € 8.5 billion in two tranches. These funds will also be used exclu-
sively for infrastructure and will be passed on immediately by DB AG to 
DB InfraGO AG to increase its equity.

Relations with Federal companies
The transactions carried out in 2024 and in the previous year with Federal 
companies within the meaning of IAS 24 mainly related to the operating 
business and were of minor significance for DB Group overall. The receiv-
ables and liabilities incurred had been settled almost in full as of the end 
of the balance sheet date.

Relations with affiliated, non-consolidated companies,  
associated companies and joint ventures
In 2024, DB Group acquired goods and services worth € 91 million (previ-
ous year: € 107 million), which mainly related to the purchase of passenger 
and freight transport services. At € 77 million (previous year: € 89 million), 
the predominant proportion of the total figure was attributable to trans-
actions with associated companies. In addition, rental and lease payments 
of € 6 million were continued to be made.

As in the previous year, no interest payments were made in 2024.
DB Group generated income of € 451 million from the sale of goods 

and services in 2024 (previous year: € 430 million). Income was mainly 
generated in the DB Cargo segment and related to revenues from transport 
services provided.

As of December 31, 2024, as in the previous year, guarantees totaling 
€ 3 million were granted, thereof € 3 million (as of December 31, 2023: 
€ 3 million) to joint ventures. Transactions with related parties were carried 
out to a comparable extent in the previous year.

Relations with the Management Board and Supervisory Board of DB AG 
The transactions between DB Group and members of the Management 
Board or Supervisory Board and the companies in which members of the 
Management Board or Supervisory Board hold a majority interest are pre-
sented below.

�€ thousand 2024 2023

S E R V I C E S  R E C E I V E D  B Y  D B  G R O U P

Purchase of goods and services 1,027 991

The figures relate to the amounts received by the employees’ representa-
tives on the Supervisory Board.

Text
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Remuneration of the Management Board 

�€ thousand 2024 2023

Benefits due in the short term 9,036 4,932
Post-employment benefits 6,989 1,684
Other benefits due in the long term 1) 2,499 – 2,361
Total remuneration of the Management Board  
according to IFRS 18,524 4,255
	 Fixed 14,169 6,616
	 Variable 1) 4,355 – 2,361
Pension provisions for active members  
of the Management Board 2) as of Dec 31 26,463 18,153
Provisions for long-term incentives (LTI) as of Dec 31 4,652 4,141
Total remuneration of the Management Board  
according to HGB 10,110 4,899
Remuneration of former Management Board members  
and their surviving dependents 10,317 10,232
Pension provisions for former members of the  
Management Board and their surviving dependents 2) 139,555 146,325
1)	�� The long-term variable remuneration relates to additions to and reversals of provisions  

for long-term incentives (LTI). Subject to the resolution of the Supervisory Board.  
According to the Electricity Price Brake Act without share for 2023.

2)	� Defined benefit obligation.

Apart from the aforementioned provisions, there were no other receivables 
from or liabilities to the members of the Management Board as of Decem-
ber 31, 2024. Nor did the company take on any contingencies for the ben-
efit of Management Board members. In 2024, as in the previous year, there 
was no past service cost.

The total remuneration of the Management Board members consists 
of a fixed salary, a performance-linked annual remuneration and a long-term 
incentive plan based on multi-year figures. Total remuneration also includes 
benefit commitments, other commitments and ancillary benefits.

The fixed salary is cash remuneration linked to the financial year. It is 
based on the scope of responsibility and the experience of each Manage-
ment Board member.

In 2023, the Supervisory Board methodically developed the remuner-
ation structure for the Management Board with effect from 2024. The 
weighting of the remuneration components was changed in line with the 
market by increasing the proportion of fixed remuneration and, in partic-
ular, the long-term incentive in the interests of long-term and sustainable 
performance management and consequently reducing the weighting of 
short-term variable remuneration.

For the first time, an ESG (environmental, social, governance) target 
was included in the short-term incentive alongside the targets relating to 
customers, quality and profitability.

The annual bonus is calculated from the sum of five equally weighted 
collective targets from the above-mentioned spheres and one individual 
Board division-specific target in each case.

The economic and personal targets of the Management Board members 
are determined by the Supervisory Board annually based on recommenda-
tions from the Personnel Committee, and are then agreed in writing with 
the Management Board members.

The long-term incentive for the Management Board also focuses on 
long-term transport and climate policy goals as well as the sustainable 
creditworthiness and profitability of DB Group. After the end of the respec-
tive plan term of four years, the extent to which LTI targets have been 
achieved at the end of the tranche is measured using the average target 
achievement for the individual years.

Members of the Management Board are entitled to retirement benefits 
after leaving the company. The system governing benefit commitments to 
Management Board members was amended in 2017. Members appointed 
to the Management Board for the first time in 2017 and thereafter receive 

a defined benefit commitment under which a capital stock is saved up for 
the Board member for the duration of their employment and paid out when 
they reach retirement age. The commitment is granted in the form of a 
capital account plan with an annual contribution derived as a fixed percent-
age rate of the fixed salary. The company pension commitments for the 
previously serving members of the Management Board amount to a per-
centage of the basic salary. Pension commitments include lifelong retire-
ment and surviving dependent benefits.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

�€ thousand 2024 2023

Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board 1) 993 673
	 thereof short-term 993 673
		  thereof fixed 530 505
		  thereof performance-related 276 –
		  thereof attendance fees 60 46
		  thereof benefits in kind from discounted travel 74 72
		�  thereof remuneration of the Supervisory Board/ 

Advisory Board activities at subsidiaries of DB AG  
(including attendance fee) 53 50

1)	�� Some Supervisory Board members have waived the variable remuneration due to them for 2024.

No remuneration was incurred for former members of the Supervisory 
Board and their surviving dependents. There were no pension obligations 
for former members of the Supervisory Board and their surviving depen-
dents as of December 31, 2024. The members of the Supervisory Board 
only receive benefits due in the short term.

No loans or advances were granted to the members of the Supervisory 
Board in 2024. The company also did not take on any contingencies for the 
benefit of members of the Supervisory Board.

The total remuneration of the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board in 2024 was € 19,517 thousand (previous year: € 4,928 thousand). 
The individualization and further details on the remuneration of the mem-
bers of the Management Board and Supervisory Board are included in the 
Corporate Governance report in the Combined Management Report.

( 3 9 )  �A U D I T O R ’ S  F E E S  A N D  S E R V I C E S
The fees for the Group auditor amounted to € 22.3 million in 2024 (previous 
year: € 32.4 million); thereof attributable to auditing services: € 13.1 million 
(previous year: € 20.4 million), other certification services: € 1.6 million 
(previous year: € 7.3 million), tax advice services: € 2.1 million (previous 
year: € 0.5 million) and other services: € 5.5 million (previous year: € 4.2 mil-
lion). Of the other services provided, none (previous year: € 2.2 million) 
related to services provided by affiliated companies of the Group auditor. 

( 4 0 )  E V E N T S  A F T E R  T H E  B A L A N C E  S H E E T  D AT E 
Collective wage agreement concluded with the Railway  
and Transport Workers Union (EVG)
In mid-February 2025, DB Group and the EVG reached a wage agreement. 
Employees will receive a total wage increase of 6.5% in several stages and 
a one-off payment of € 200 in April 2025. Employees working shifts will also 
receive an additional payment of 2.6% as an annual one-off payment from 
December 2026. The term of the wage agreement is 33 months.

Repayment of hybrid bond announced
DB Group plans to repay the first hybrid bond at its nominal value of 1 bil-
lion plus outstanding accrued interest.

1)	 Previous year: PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft.
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( 4 1 )  �E X E M P T I O N  O F  S U B S I D I A R I E S  F R O M  
T H E  D I S C L O S U R E  R E Q U I R E M E N T S  O F  
T H E  G E R M A N  C O M M E R C I A L  C O D E

The following subsidiaries intend to utilize the simplification provisions  
of Section 264 (3) and Section 264b of the German Commercial Code (Han-
delsgesetzbuch; HGB) and to exempt themselves from the disclosure pro-
visions of Sections 325 to 329 HGB:

	◊ Autokraft GmbH, Hamburg
	◊ Beyond1435 GmbH, Berlin
	◊ Bitergo GmbH, Dortmund
	◊ BRN Busverkehr Rhein-Neckar GmbH, Ludwigshafen am Rhein
	◊ BVO Busverkehr Ostwestfalen GmbH, Bielefeld
	◊ BVR Busverkehr Rheinland GmbH, Düsseldorf
	◊ DB Bahnbau Gruppe GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Barnsdale AG, Berlin
	◊ DB broadband GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ DB Competition Claims GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Dialog GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Engineering&Consulting GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Fahrwegdienste GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Fahrzeuginstandhaltung GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ DB JobService GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Kommunikationstechnik GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ DB Projekt Stuttgart — Ulm GmbH, Stuttgart
	◊ DB Regio Bus Bayern GmbH, Ingolstadt
	◊ DB Regio Bus Mitte GmbH, Mainz
	◊ DB Regio Bus Nord GmbH, Hamburg
	◊ DB Regio Bus Ost GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Regio Marschbahn GmbH, Kiel
	◊ DB Regionalverkehr Bayern GmbH, Ingolstadt
	◊ DB RegioNetz Infrastruktur GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ DB RegioNetz Verkehrs GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ DB Services GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB SEV GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Sicherheit GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DB Systel GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ DB Systemtechnik GmbH, Minden
	◊ DB Vertrieb GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ DB Zeitarbeit GmbH, Berlin
	◊ Deutsche Bahn Connect GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ Deutsche Bahn International Operations GmbH, Berlin
	◊ Deutsche Umschlaggesellschaft Schiene – Straße (DUSS) mbH,  

Bodenheim
	◊ DSD Digitale Schiene Deutschland GmbH, Berlin
	◊ DVA Deutsche Verkehrs-Assekuranz-Vermittlungs-GmbH,  

Bad Homburg v. d. Höhe
	◊ ESE Engineering und Software-Entwicklung GmbH, Brunswick
	◊ Friedrich Müller Omnibusunternehmen GmbH, Schwäbisch Hall
	◊ Haller Busbetrieb GmbH, Walsrode
	◊ infraView GmbH, Mainz
	◊ ioki GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ NVO Nahverkehr Ostwestfalen GmbH, Münster

	◊ Omnibusverkehr Franken GmbH (OVF), Nuremberg
	◊ Railway Approvals Germany GmbH, Minden
	◊ RBO Regionalbus Ostbayern GmbH, Regensburg
	◊ Regional Bus Stuttgart GmbH RBS, Stuttgart
	◊ Regionalbus Braunschweig GmbH – RBB –, Hamburg
	◊ Regionalverkehr Alb-Bodensee GmbH (RAB), Ulm
	◊ Regionalverkehr Allgäu GmbH (RVA), Oberstdorf
	◊ Regionalverkehr Oberbayern Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, 

Munich
	◊ Regionalverkehre Start Deutschland GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ RVS Regionalbusverkehr Südwest GmbH, Karlsruhe
	◊ S-Bahn Berlin GmbH, Berlin
	◊ S-Bahn Hamburg GmbH, Hamburg
	◊ S-Bahn Hamburg Service GmbH, Hamburg
	◊ SBG SüdbadenBus GmbH, Freiburg im Breisgau
	◊ Schenker Aktiengesellschaft, Essen
	◊ Schenker Dedicated Services Germany GmbH, Essen
	◊ Schenker Deutschland AG, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ Schenker Europe GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ Schenker Flight Services GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
	◊ Schenker Global Management&Services GmbH, Essen
	◊ Schenker GmbH für Beteiligungen, Essen
	◊ Schenker Technik GmbH, Essen
	◊ SIGNON Deutschland GmbH, Berlin
	◊ TRANSA Spedition GmbH, Offenbach am Main
	◊ UBB Usedomer Bäderbahn GmbH, Heringsdorf
	◊ Verkehrsgesellschaft mbH Untermain – VU –, Aschaffenburg
	◊ WB Westfalen Bus GmbH, Münster
	◊ Weser-Ems Busverkehr GmbH (WEB), Hamburg
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SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters
Equity 

€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

AT  E Q U I T Y

“ZOB” Zentral-Omnibus-Bahnhof  
Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Bremen 2), 3) 27 25.60
Bodensee-Oberschwaben Verkehrsverbund GmbH,  
Ravensburg 2), 3) 410 25.32
Connect-Fahrplanauskunft GmbH, Hanover 2), 4) 283 42.51
Deutschlandtarifverbund-GmbH (DTVG),  
Frankfurt am Main 2), 3) 1,237 29.74
Filsland Mobilitätsverbund GmbH,  
Geislingen an der Steige 2), 5)  101 20.00
FSN Fahrzeugservice Neunkirchen GmbH, Neunkirchen 2), 3) 323 47.50
Kahlgrund-Verkehrs-Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, 
Schöllkrippen 2), 4) 10,606 28.00
Kitzinger Nahverkehrsgemeinschaft GmbH&Co. eGbR,  
Gemünden a. Main 2), 4) 2 50.00
Kreisbahn Aurich GmbH, Aurich 2), 4) 1,054 33.33
Niedersachsentarif GmbH, Hanover 2), 4) 81 11.11
NSH Nahverkehr Schleswig-Holstein GmbH, Kiel 2), 3) 326 47.90
RBP Regionalbusverkehr Passau Land GmbH, Bad Füssing 2), 4) 434 33.33
Saarländische Nahverkehrs-Service GmbH, Völklingen 2), 4) 51 16.67
stadtbus Ravensburg Weingarten GmbH, Ravensburg 2), 3) 25 39.80
TGO – Tarifverbund Ortenau GmbH, Offenburg 2), 4) 221 49.00
Verkehrsgemeinschaft am Bayerischen Untermain – VAB GmbH, 
Aschaffenburg 2), 5) 78 30.00
Verkehrsgemeinschaft Mittelthüringen GmbH (VMT),  
Erfurt 2), 3) 474 10.00
Verkehrsunternehmen Hegau-Bodensee Verbund GmbH 
(VHB), Radolfzell am Bodensee 2), 3) 30 14.65
Verkehrsunternehmens-Verbund Mainfranken GmbH – VVM, 
Würzburg 2), 3) 30 18.64
Verkehrsverbund Großraum Nürnberg GmbH (VGN),  
Nuremberg 2), 3) 54 25.93
Verkehrsverbund Schwarzwald-Baar GmbH (VSB),  
Villingen-Schwenningen 2), 5) 100 32.00
Verkehrsverbund Süd-Niedersachsen GmbH (VSN),  
Göttingen 2), 4) 162 31.16
VGC Verkehrsgesellschaft Bäderkreis Calw mbH, Calw 2), 4) 897 32.60
VHN Verkehrsholding Nord GmbH&Co. KG, Schleswig 2), 3) 720 20.00
VHN Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Schleswig 2), 3) 500 20.00
WNS Westpfälzische Nahverkehrsservice GmbH,  
Kaiserslautern 2), 3) 73 45.00
WTV Waldshuter Tarifverbund GmbH, Waldshut-Tiengen 2), 3) 160 40.00
FA I R  VA L U E

GHT Mobility GmbH, Berlin 2), 4), 6) – 40,407 86.00
Regio Verkehrsverbund Lörrach GmbH (RVL), Lörrach 2), 3) 44 54.00
Verkehrsverbund Rottweil GmbH (VVR),  
Villingen-Schwenningen 2), 3) 146 70.20
Verkehrsverbund Warnow GmbH, Rostock 2), 3) 27 20.63
vgf Verkehrs-Gemeinschaft Landkreis Freudenstadt GmbH, 
Waldachtal 2), 5) 244 51.42
D B  C A R G O

F U L LY  C O N S O L I D AT E D

Compañía Aragonesa de Portacoches S.A., Zaragoza/Spain 9,883 70.69
Container-Terminal Puchov s.r.o. v likvidacii, Puchov/Slovakia 76 100.00
Corridor Operations DB Cargo B Logistics N.V. i.L.,  
Brussels/Belgium 1,668 51.00
DB Cargo (UK) Holdings Limited,  
Doncaster/United Kingdom 246,916 100.00
DB Cargo (UK) Limited, Doncaster/United Kingdom 382,550 100.00
DB Cargo Aktiengesellschaft, Mainz 706,670 100.00
DB Cargo Austria GmbH, Vienna/Austria 30 100.00
DB Cargo Belgium BV, Antwerp/Belgium 1,909 100.00
DB Cargo Border Agent Sp. z o. o., Małaszewicze/Poland 1,664 100.00
DB Cargo BTT GmbH, Mainz 6,531 100.00

( 4 2 )  L I S T  O F  S H A R E H O L D I N G S
The list of shareholdings is set out on the following pages.

Breakdown of shareholdings of DB AG 
(in accordance with Section 313 Para. 2 HGB)

SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters
Equity 

€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

D B  L O N G - D I S TA N C E

F U L LY  CO N S O L I DAT E D

DB Bahn Italia S.r.l., Verona/Italy 30,776 100.00
DB Fernverkehr Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main 3,323,376 100.00
AT  EQ U I T Y

Railteam B.V., Amsterdam/the Netherlands 2), 3) 48 20.00
Rheinalp GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 2), 3) 437 50.00
D B  R E G I O N A L

F U L LY  CO N S O L I DAT E D

Autokraft GmbH, Hamburg 51,726 100.00
BRN Busverkehr Rhein-Neckar GmbH, Ludwigshafen am Rhein 17,747 100.00
Busverkehr Märkisch-Oderland GmbH, Fürstenwalde 3,734 51.17
Busverkehr Oder-Spree GmbH, Fürstenwalde 6,561 51.17
BVO Busverkehr Ostwestfalen GmbH, Bielefeld 12,441 100.00
BVR Busverkehr Rheinland GmbH, Düsseldorf 8,630 100.00
DB Regio Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main 2,560,230 100.00
DB Regio Bus Bayern GmbH, Ingolstadt 5,704 100.00
DB Regio Bus Mitte GmbH, Mainz 61,220 100.00
DB Regio Bus Nord GmbH, Hamburg 2,114 100.00
DB Regio Bus Ost GmbH, Berlin 16,945 100.00
DB Regio Bus Rhein-Mosel GmbH, Montabaur 7,155 74.90
DB Regio Marschbahn GmbH, Kiel 7,525 100.00
DB Regionalverkehr Bayern GmbH, Ingolstadt 50 100.00
DB RegioNetz Verkehrs GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 55,679 100.00
DB SEV GmbH, Berlin 2,154 100.00
Friedrich Müller Omnibusunternehmen GmbH,  
Schwäbisch Hall 23,467 100.00
Haller Busbetrieb GmbH, Walsrode 5,662 100.00
ioki GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 12,446 100.00
KOB GmbH, Oberthulba 2,503 70.00
NVO Nahverkehr Ostwestfalen GmbH, Münster 950 100.00
Omnibusverkehr Franken GmbH (OVF), Nuremberg 21,152 100.00
RBO Regionalbus Ostbayern GmbH, Regensburg 16,963 100.00
Regional Bus Stuttgart GmbH RBS, Stuttgart 17,648 100.00
Regionalbus Braunschweig GmbH – RBB –, Hamburg 11,116 100.00
Regionalverkehr Alb-Bodensee GmbH (RAB), Ulm 27,909 100.00
Regionalverkehr Allgäu GmbH (RVA), Oberstdorf 5,278 70.00
Regionalverkehr Oberbayern Gesellschaft  
mit beschränkter Haftung, Munich 20,355 100.00
Regionalverkehre Start Deutschland GmbH,  
Frankfurt am Main 13,995 100.00
rhb rheinhunsrückbus GmbH i. L., Simmern 0 48.69
RMV Rhein-Mosel Verkehrsgesellschaft mbH, Koblenz 12,489 74.90
RVS Regionalbusverkehr Südwest GmbH, Karlsruhe 18,345 100.00
S-Bahn Berlin GmbH, Berlin 188,084 100.00
S-Bahn Hamburg GmbH, Hamburg 149,900 100.00
S-Bahn Hamburg Service GmbH, Hamburg 65 100.00
SBG SüdbadenBus GmbH, Freiburg im Breisgau 18,524 100.00
Verkehrsgesellschaft mbH Untermain – VU –,  
Aschaffenburg 3,818 100.00
WB Westfalen Bus GmbH, Münster 10,701 100.00
Weser-Ems Busverkehr GmbH (WEB), Hamburg 18,292 100.00

∏
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SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters
Equity 

€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

DB Cargo Bulgaria EOOD, Sofia/Bulgaria 7,597 100.00
DB Cargo Czechia s.r.o., Ostrava/Czech Republic 5,044 100.00
DB Cargo Eurasia GmbH, Berlin 16,181 100.00
DB Cargo France SAS, Aubervilliers/France 4,190 100.00
DB Cargo Hungaria Kft., Györ/Hungary 21,342 100.00
DB Cargo Information Services Limited,  
Doncaster/United Kingdom 2,036 100.00
DB Cargo International Limited,  
Doncaster/United Kingdom 37,187 100.00
DB Cargo Italia S.r.l., Milan/Italy 42,003 60.00
DB Cargo Italy S.r.l., Milan/Italy 16,319 100.00
DB Cargo Logistics GmbH, Kelsterbach 95,299 100.00
DB Cargo Maintenance Limited,  
Doncaster/United Kingdom 11,154 100.00
DB Cargo Nederland N.V., Utrecht/the Netherlands 14,689 100.00
DB Cargo Polska S.A., Zabrze/Poland 103,980 100.00
DB Cargo Scandinavia A/S, Taastrup/Denmark 31,562 100.00
DB Cargo Schweiz GmbH, Opfikon/Switzerland 4,058 100.00
DB Cargo Services Limited, Doncaster/United Kingdom 215 100.00
DB Cargo Spedkol Sp. z o.o., Kędzierzyn-Koźle/Poland 5,378 100.00
DB Cargo Transa – Full Load Solutions Italia S.r.l.,  
Milan/Italy 805 100.00
DB CARGO TRANSASIA International Freight Forwarding  
Shanghai Co., Ltd., Shanghai/China 2,851 100.00
DB Cargo Vermögensverwaltungs-Aktiengesellschaft, Mainz 50 100.00
DB Intermodal Services GmbH, Mainz 24,554 100.00
DB PORT SZCZECIN Sp. z o.o., Szczecin/Poland 10,919 96.82
Deutsche Bahn Cargo Romania S.R.L., Bucharest/Romania – 7,918 100.00
Deutsche Bahn Iberica Holding, S.L., Barcelona/Spain 45,646 100.00
Deutsche TRANSFESA GmbH Internationale  
Eisenbahn-Spezial-Transporte i.L., Kehl/Rhein 629 88.36
Infra Silesia S.A., Rybnik/Poland 5,430 100.00
KombiTerminal Burghausen GmbH, Mainz 1,870 67.62
Locomotive 6667 Ltd, Doncaster/United Kingdom 166,977 100.00
Locomotive Operating Leasing Partnership,  
Doncaster/United Kingdom 84,972 100.00
MDL Distribución y Logistica S.A., Madrid/Spain 2,436 88.36
Mitteldeutsche Eisenbahn GmbH, Schkopau 5,192 80.00
OOO DB Cargo Russija, Moscow/Russia 3,671 100.00
Rail Express Systems Ltd, Doncaster/United Kingdom 23,114 100.00
Rail Service Center Rotterdam B. V.,  
Rotterdam/the Netherlands 903 51.24
Rail Terminal Services Limited,  
Doncaster/United Kingdom 471 100.00
RBH Logistics GmbH, Gladbeck 24,460 100.00
Sociedad de Estudios y Explotacion de Material Auxiliar de 
Transportes, S.A. (“SEMAT”), Madrid/Spain 10,472 86.31
TFG Transfracht GmbH, Mainz 88,988 100.00
TRANSA Spedition GmbH, Offenbach am Main 255 100.00
Transervi S.A., Madrid/Spain 8,002 88.36
Transfesa France SAS, Aubervilliers/France 2,650 88.36
Transfesa Logistics, S.A., Madrid/Spain 47,625 88.36
Transfesa Portugal Lda., Lisbon/Portugal 398 88.36
Transfesa UK Ltd., Rainham (Essex)/United Kingdom 832 88.36
Transfracht Polska Sp. z o.o., Szczecin/Poland 288 96.82
AT  E Q U I T Y

ATN Auto Terminal Neuss GmbH&Co. KG, Neuss 2), 5) 3,715 50.00
baymodal Bamberg GmbH, Bamberg 2), 3) 997 25.10
CD-DUSS Terminal, a.s., Lovosice/Czech Republic 2), 3) 1,252 49.00
Container Terminal Dortmund GmbH, Dortmund 2), 4) 6,092 30.88
Container Terminal Enns GmbH, Enns/Austria 2) 7,802 49.00

SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters
Equity 

€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

CTS Container-Terminal GmbH Rhein-See-Land-Service,  
Cologne 2), 3) 2,165 22.50
DCH Düsseldorfer Container-Hafen GmbH, Düsseldorf 2), 3) 4,457 51.00
Dörpener Umschlaggesellschaft für den kombinierten  
Verkehr mbH (DUK), Dörpen 2), 3) 5,227 35.00
Development Agency for Sustainable Freight Transport Hamm 
GmbH, Hamm 2), 3) 1,011 27.00
EP Merseburg Transport und Logistik GmbH, Merseburg 2), 3) 591 39.20
INTERCONTAINER – INTERFRIGO SA i.L.,  
Sint-Agatha-Berchem/Belgium 2), 3) – 21,370 36.77
KombiRail Europe GmbH, Duisburg 2), 3) 160 75.34
Kombiverkehr Deutsche Gesellschaft für kombinierten  
Güterverkehr mbH&Co. Kommanditgesellschaft,  
Frankfurt am Main 2), 3) 18,614 50.00
Lokomotion Gesellschaft für Schienentraktion mbH,  
Munich 2), 3) 14,422 30.00
OPTIMODAL NEDERLAND B.V.,  
Rotterdam/the Netherlands 2), 4) 2,282 63.42
PKV Planungsgesellschaft kombinierter Verkehr Duisburg 
mbH, Duisburg 2), 3) 2,101 50.00
Stifa S.A. i.L., Malveira/Portugal 2), 3), 6) – 85 44.18
Terminal Singen TSG GmbH, Singen 2), 3) – 222 26.12
Xrail AG, Basel City/Switzerland 2), 3) 685 32.34
D B  I N F R A G O

F U L LY  C O N S O L I D AT E D

DB BahnPark GmbH, Berlin 5,594 51.00
DB broadband GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 13,450 100.00
DB Fahrwegdienste GmbH, Berlin 2,943 100.00
DB InfraGO Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main 21,253,871 100.00
DB RegioNetz Infrastruktur GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 3,976 100.00
Deutsche Umschlaggesellschaft Schiene –  
Straße (DUSS) mbH, Bodenheim 5,361 87.50
DSD Digitale Schiene Deutschland GmbH, Berlin 25 100.00
MegaHub Lehrte Betreibergesellschaft mbH, Bodenheim 1,460 72.92
MEKB GmbH, Berlin 32 100.00
SIGNON Deutschland GmbH, Berlin 16,450 100.00
AT  E Q U I T Y

BahnflächenEntwicklungsGesellschaft NRW mbH, Essen 2), 3) 410 49.90
Clever Order Services GmbH, Berlin 2), 7) 102 25.00
EEIG Corridor Rhine – Alpine EWIV, Frankfurt am Main 2), 4), 8) 0 25.00
EEIG Atlantic Corridor, Bordeaux/France 2), 4), 8) 0 25.00
Güterverkehrszentrum Entwicklungsgesellschaft  
Dresden mbH, Dresden 2), 3) 6,063 24.53
TriCon Container-Terminal Nürnberg GmbH, Nuremberg 2), 3) 3,534 21.88
D B  E N E R G Y

F U L LY  CO N S O L I DAT E D

DB Energie GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 465,696 100.00
O T H E R  S U B S I D I A R I E S

F U L LY  CO N S O L I DAT E D

AIL Beta Holding Limited, Doncaster/United Kingdom – 1,204,106 100.00
BAX Global Inc., Norfolk/USA 92,394 100.00
Beyond1435 GmbH, Berlin 27,795 100.00
DB Bahnbau Gruppe GmbH, Berlin 87,964 100.00
DB Barnsdale AG, Berlin 6,636 100.00
DB Competition Claims GmbH, Berlin 18,125 100.00
DB Dialog GmbH, Berlin 1,278 100.00
DB E.C.O. North America Inc., Wilmington/NC/Delaware/USA 3,584 100.00
DB Engineering&Consulting GmbH, Berlin 76,426 100.00
DB Fahrzeuginstandhaltung GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 911,022 100.00
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DB International (Beijing) Co., Ltd., Beijing/China 364 100.00
DB JobService GmbH, Berlin 19,226 100.00
DB Kommunikationstechnik GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 18,671 100.00
DB Projekt Stuttgart-Ulm GmbH, Stuttgart 2,261 100.00
DB RRTS Operations India Private Limited, New Delhi/India – 17,320 100.00
DB Services GmbH, Berlin 11,846 100.00
DB Sicherheit GmbH, Berlin 2,351 100.00
DB Systel GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 32,799 100.00
DB Systel UK Limited, Doncaster/United Kingdom 1,160 100.00
DB Systemtechnik GmbH, Minden 12,648 100.00
DB US Corporation, Tarrytown/USA 446,032 100.00
DB US Holding Corporation, Tarrytown/USA 404,178 100.00
DB Vertrieb GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 17,408 100.00
DB Zeitarbeit GmbH, Berlin 157 100.00
DB-Elsewedy Railway Operation Egypt, Cairo/Egypt 5 67.00
Deutsche Bahn Connect GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 86,922 100.00
Deutsche Bahn Finance GmbH, Berlin 2,075,679 100.00
Deutsche Bahn International Operations GmbH, Berlin 23,031 100.00
Deutsche Bahn Stiftung gGmbH, Berlin 2,682 100.00
DVA Deutsche Verkehrs-Assekuranz-Vermittlungs-GmbH,  
Bad Homburg v. d. Höhe 4,539 65.00
DVA REINSURANCE DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY,  
Dublin/Ireland 5,425 65.00
Engineering Support Group Ltd, Doncaster/United Kingdom 2,622 100.00
ESE Engineering und Software-Entwicklung GmbH,  
Braunschweig 20,181 100.00
infraView GmbH, Mainz 2,102 100.00
Innovationszentrum für Mobilität und gesellschaftlichen  
Wandel (InnoZ) GmbH i. L., Berlin – 3,657 76.99
Liropa S.A., Montevideo/Uruguay 9) 3,562 49.00
Mobimeo GmbH, Berlin 5,537 100.00
ONxpress Operations Inc., Toronto/Canada 15,916 72.00
Precision National Plating Services, Inc., Delaware/USA – 28,838 100.00
Railway Approvals Germany GmbH, Minden 252 100.00
Railway Approvals Ltd, Doncaster/United Kingdom 67 100.00
Schenker (BAX) Holding Corp., Delaware/USA 88,659 100.00
UBB Polska Sp.z o.o., Świnoujście/Poland 501 100.00
UBB Usedomer Bäderbahn GmbH, Heringsdorf 9,359 100.00
AT  EQ U I T Y

BwFuhrparkService GmbH, Siegburg 2), 3) 1,002,230 24.90
EUROFIMA European Company for the  
Financing of Railroad Rolling Stock, Basel/Switzerland 3) 1,591,392 22.17
inno2grid GmbH, Berlin 2), 3) 687 50.00
Mobility inside Holding GmbH&Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main 2), 3) 3,478 21.94
Mobility inside Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 2), 3) 55 20.02
ONxpress Transportation Partners Inc., Toronto/Canada 3) 2,124 25.00
Rail Technology Company Limited, Jeddah/Saudi Arabia 2), 5) 322 24.90
SSG Saar-Service GmbH, Saarbrücken 2), 3) 1,565 25.50
Stinnes Holz GmbH, Berlin 2), 3) 213 53.00
FA I R  VA LU E

Eurail B.V., Utrecht/the Netherlands 2), 4) 14,010 26.37
Eurail Group G.I.E./Luxembourg/Luxembourg 2), 4) 0 25.99
TREMA Grundstücks-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH&Co.  
Objekt Bahnhöfe West KG, Berlin 2), 3) 30 94.00
D B  S C H E N K E R

F U L LY  CO N S O L I DAT E D

Air Terminal Handling SAS, Tremblay en France/France 1,350 100.00
Almoayed Schenker W.L.L., Manama/Bahrain 9) 1,096 49.00
Anterist+Schneider Zeebrugge BV, Zeebrugge/Belgium 1,760 100.00
AS Schenker, Tallinn/Estonia 12,124 100.00

SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters
Equity 

€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

ASIMEX Anterist+Schneider Import – Export SAS,  
Stiring-Wendel/France – 4,875 100.00
ATLANTIQUE EXPRESS SAS, Montaigu-Vendée/France 1,331 100.00
B&G Leasing LLC dba Pro-Lease Trucking, Carnesville/USA – 61,952 100.00
BAX Global (Pty.) Ltd, Johannesburg/South Africa 89 86.75
Bischof Gesellschaft mbH., Vienna/Austria 70 100.00
Bitergo GmbH, Dortmund 5,034 100.00
BTL Reinsurance S.A./Luxembourg/Luxembourg 3,302 100.00
Davis Transfer, Inc., Carnesville/USA 50,712 100.00
DB France Holding SAS, Montaigu-Vendée/France 273,181 100.00
DB Schenker (Cambodia) Limited, Phnom Penh/Cambodia 2,393 100.00
DB Schenker FLLC, Minsk/Belarus – 253 100.00
DB Schenker GBS Bucharest S.R.L., Bucharest/Romania 10,232 100.00
DB Schenker Global Services Asia Pacific Inc.,  
Taguig/Philippines 9,141 99.94
DB Schenker Logistics Campus MEA (Pty) Ltd.,  
Kempton Park/South Africa 9) 3,566 47.00
DB Schenker, Kyiv/Ukraine 1,645 100.00
Engelberg Transportes Internacionales C.A. (Entra),  
Caracas/Venezuela 931 100.00
Fastighets Aktiebolaget Orbyn, Gothenburg/Sweden 459 100.00
Fullerö 67:2 Uppsala Aktiebolag, Gothenburg/Sweden 6,139 100.00
HANGARTNER Terminal S.r.l., Verona/Italy 3,251 100.00
Intreprinderea Mixta “S.C. Schenker” S.R.L.,  
Chişinău, Moldova 165 96.75
Karpeles Freight Services, Inc., Chesapeake/USA – 1,134 100.00
KB Ädelgasen 1 -Jönköping, Jönköping/Sweden 6,869 100.00
KB Älghunden Jönköping, Jönköping/Sweden 1,472 100.00
KB Arbetsbasen 4 -Stockholm, Stockholm/Sweden 2,502 100.00
KB Ättehögen Östra 1 -Helsingborg, Helsingborg/Sweden 5,979 100.00
KB Backa 107:3, Gothenburg/Sweden 10,135 100.00
KB Baggböle 2:35 -Umeå, Umeå/Sweden 2,170 100.00
KB Benkammen 12 -Malmö, Malmö/Sweden 10,939 100.00
KB Bleket 1 -Karlstad, Karlstad/Sweden 3,888 100.00
KB Distributören 3 och 4 -Örebro, Örebro/Sweden 6,724 100.00
KB Forsmark 2 -Stockholm, Stockholm/Sweden 3,972 100.00
KB Forsmark 3 -Stockholm, Stockholm/Sweden 14,013 100.00
KB Forsmark 5 Stockholm, Gothenburg/Sweden – 38 100.00
KB Frysen 1 Visby, Visby/Sweden 1,227 100.00
KB Fryshuset 3-Visby, Visby/Sweden 90 100.00
KB Köpmannen 10 -Västerås, Västerås/Sweden 2,767 100.00
KB Langtradaren 2 Borlänge, Borlänge/Sweden 3,123 100.00
KB Lertaget 1, Skara, Skara/Sweden 3,620 100.00
KB Malmö Hamnen 22 Malmö, Malmö/Sweden 4,796 100.00
KB Maskinen 3 -Linköping, Linköping/Sweden 5,775 100.00
KB Norränget 62 Hudiksvall, Norrköping/Sweden 2,392 100.00
KB Önnestad 108:4 -Kristianstad, Kristianstad/Sweden 3,874 100.00
KB Överön 1:66 -Örnsköldsvik, Örnsköldsvik/Sweden 969 100.00
KB Pantern 1 -Växjö, Växjö/Sweden 3,239 100.00
KB Sörby 24:3 -Gävle, Gävle/Sweden 3,170 100.00
KB Storheden 1:8 -Luleå, Luleå/Sweden 2,376 100.00
KB Transporten 1 -Hultsfred, Hultsfred/Sweden 1,600 100.00
KB Transportören 1 -Värnamo, Värnamo/Sweden 7,494 100.00
KB Tveta-Valsta 4:5 Södertälje, Stockholm/Sweden 1,665 100.00
KB Vindtrycket 1 -Borås, Borås/Sweden 5,459 100.00
KB Vivstamon 1:13 -Timrå, Timrå/Sweden 3,834 100.00
Kiinteistö Oy Seinäjoen Kiitolinja-asema, Seinäjoki/Finland 1,008 100.00
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SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters
Equity 

€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

Schenker Global Management&Technology Center  
Americas Inc., Miami/USA 2,976 100.00
Schenker GmbH für Beteiligungen, Essen 920 100.00
SCHENKER INDIA PRIVATE LIMITED, New Delhi, India 101,509 100.00
Schenker International (HK) Ltd., Hong Kong/Hong Kong 264,633 100.00
Schenker International (Macau) Ltd., Macau/Macau 3,950 100.00
Schenker International S.A. de C.V., Mexico City/Mexico 123,394 100.00
Schenker Italiana S.p.A., Peschiera Borromeo (MI)/Italy 118,923 100.00
Schenker Jinbei Logistics (Shenyang) Co. Ltd.,  
Shenyang/China 9) 21,641 50.00
Schenker Kazakhstan LLP, Almaty/Kazakhstan – 592 100.00
Schenker Khimji’s LLC, Muscat/Sultanate of Oman 451 60.00
Schenker Korea Ltd., Seoul/Republic of Korea 82,149 100.00
Schenker Limited, London/United Kingdom 85,148 100.00
Schenker Limited, Nairobi/Kenya – 1,011 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Bangladesh) Limited,  
Dhaka/Bangladesh 9) 9,240 40.00
Schenker Logistics (Chengdu) Co., Ltd., Chengdu/China 2,624 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Chongqing) Co., Ltd., Chongqing/China 3,203 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Guangzhou) Company Ltd.,  
Guangzhou/China 13,693 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Jiaxing) Co., Ltd., Jiaxing/China 43,130 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Kunshan) Co., Ltd., Kunshan/China 4,543 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd.,  
Kuala Lumpur/Malaysia 9) 82,454 40.00
Schenker Logistics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai/China 18,186 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., Shenzhen/China 1,657 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Suzhou) Company Ltd., Suzhou/China 17,019 100.00
Schenker Logistics (Thai) Ltd., Bangkok/Thailand 9) – 9,035 49.00
Schenker Logistics (Xiamen) Co. Ltd., Xiamen/China 9,863 100.00
Schenker Logistics AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 7,642 100.00
Schenker Logistics Inc., Calamba/Philippines 188 100.00
Schenker Logistics L.L.C.,  
Abu Dhabi/United Arab Emirates 11,852 99.00
Schenker Logistics Nederland B.V.,  
Rotterdam/the Netherlands 81,979 100.00
Schenker Logistics Romania S.A., Bucharest/Romania 56,759 99.53
Schenker Logistics Vietnam Co., Ltd.,  
Ho Chi Minh City/Vietnam 7,117 51.00
Schenker Logistics W.L.L., Doha/Qatar 9) 2,806 49.00
Schenker Logistics, S.A.U., Barcelona/Spain 145,790 100.00
SCHENKER LUXEMBOURG GMBH, Contern/Luxembourg 9,541 100.00
Schenker Manila Administrative Competence Center Inc.,  
Taguig/Philippines 7,358 99.94
Schenker Maroc S.A.S, Casablanca/Morocco 1,132 100.00
Schenker Middle East FZE,  
Dubai/United Arab Emirates 81,786 100.00
Schenker Myanmar Co., Ltd., Yangon/Myanmar 4,170 100.00
Schenker Namibia (Pty) Ltd., Windhoek/Namibia 1,163 100.00
Schenker Nederland B.V., Tilburg/the Netherlands 64,618 100.00
Schenker Nemzetközi Szállítmányozási és Logisztikai Kft.,  
Szigetszentmiklós/Hungary 32,376 100.00
Schenker NV, Antwerp/Belgium 68,553 100.00
Schenker Ocean Freight Services WLL, Doha, Qatar 9) 1,804 49.00
Schenker of Canada Ltd., Toronto, Canada 122,526 100.00
Schenker OY, Helsinki/Finland 105,145 100.00
Schenker Panama S.A., Panama City/Panama 1,014 100.00
Schenker Peru S.R.L., Lima/Peru 496 100.00
Schenker Philippines (Subic) Inc., Subic/Philippines 229 100.00
Schenker Philippines, Inc., Makati/Philippines 29,685 100.00
Schenker Property Sweden AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 95,280 100.00
Schenker S.A., Guatemala City/Guatemala – 3,006 100.00

SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters
Equity 

€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

Kiinteistö Oy Tampereen Rahtiasema, Tampere/Finland 1,665 100.00
Kiinteistö Oy Tir-Trans, Joentaustankatu/Finland 1,356 100.00
Kiinteistö Oy Turun Nosturinkatu 6, Turku/Finland 657 100.00
Langtradaren i Jämtland AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 1,161 100.00
Les Triporteurs Français SAS, Rennes/France 442 100.00
PT. Schenker Logistics Indonesia, Jakarta/Indonesia 19,806 100.00
Rengaslinja Oy, Nokia/Finland 793 100.00
SCHENKER&CO AG, Vienna/Austria 128,986 100.00
Schenker (Asia Pacific) Pte. Ltd, Singapore/Singapore 767,138 100.00
Schenker (H.K.) Ltd., Hong Kong/Hong Kong 34,603 100.00
Schenker (Ireland) Ltd., Shannon/Ireland 120,540 100.00
Schenker (L.L.C)*, Dubai/United Arab Emirates 64,326 99.00
Schenker (Lao) Sole Co., Ltd., Vientiane/Laos – 235 100.00
Schenker (NZ) Limited, Auckland/New Zealand 9,666 100.00
SCHENKER (RE) INSURANCE DESIGNATED ACTIVITY COMPANY, 
Dublin/Ireland 55,212 100.00
Schenker (Thai) Holdings Ltd., Bangkok/Thailand 9) 12,501 49.00
Schenker (Thai) Ltd., Bangkok/Thailand 9) 55,725 49.00
Schenker A.E., Athens/Greece 4,850 100.00
Schenker A/S, Hvidovre/Denmark 19,571 100.00
Schenker AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 233,529 100.00
Schenker AG&Co. Beteiligungsverwaltungs OHG, Essen 180 100.00
Schenker Åkeri AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 21,304 100.00
Schenker Aktiengesellschaft, Essen 1,743,325 100.00
Schenker Americas, Inc., Miami/USA 492,539 100.00
Schenker Angola, Limitada, Luanda/Angola 4,958 99.90
Schenker Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires/Argentina 6,652 100.00
Schenker AS, Oslo/Norway 39,313 100.00
Schenker Australia Pty. Ltd, Alexandria, Australia 110,933 100.00
Schenker BITCC Customs Broker (Beijing) Co. Ltd.,  
Beijing/China 205 70.00
Schenker BITCC Logistics (Beijing) Co., Ltd., Beijing/China 14,693 70.00
Schenker Chile S.A., Santiago, Chile 5,200 100.00
Schenker China Ltd., Pudong/Shanghai/China 259,312 100.00
Schenker Consulting AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 891 100.00
Schenker d.d., Ljubljana/Slovenia 23,192 100.00
SCHENKER d.o.o., Sarajevo/Bosnia and Herzegovina 1,243 100.00
Schenker d.o.o., Zagreb/Croatia 3,718 100.00
Schenker d.o.o., Novi Banovci/Serbia 4,299 100.00
Schenker Dedicated Services Germany GmbH, Essen 2,302 100.00
Schenker Dedicated Services Sweden AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 13,406 100.00
Schenker Deutschland AG, Frankfurt am Main 56 100.00
Schenker Distribution Solutions, Inc.,  
Paranaque-Stadt/Philippines 8,981 98.51
Schenker do Brasil Transportes Internacionais Ltda,  
São Paulo/Brazil 33,167 100.00
SCHENKER DOOEL, Skopje/Macedonia 2,285 100.00
Schenker Egypt Ltd., Cairo/Egypt 4,314 100.00
SCHENKER EOOD, Sofia/Bulgaria 23,668 100.00
Schenker Equipment AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 5,180 100.00
Schenker Europe GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 25 100.00
Schenker Filen 8 Aktiebolag, Gothenburg/Sweden 1,185 100.00
Schenker Flight Services GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 12,643 100.00
Schenker Flight Services International (H.K.) Limited,  
Hong Kong/Hong Kong 120 100.00
SCHENKER FRANCE SAS, Montaigu Cedex/France 243,146 100.00
Schenker Global Management&Services GmbH, Essen – 1,271 100.00
Schenker Global Management&Services PTE. LTD.,  
Singapore/Singapore 3,042 100.00
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( 4 3 )  �M A N A G E M E N T  B O A R D ,  S U P E R V I S O R Y  B O A R D  
A N D  S U P E R V I S O R Y  B O A R D  C O M M I T T E E S 

Information about the names and memberships in (a) other statutory su-
pervisory boards and (b) comparable domestic and foreign supervision 
bodies of commercial enterprises of members of the Management Board 
and Supervisory Board of DB AG is presented below.

Management Board
D R .  R I C H A R D  L U T Z
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Management Board,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 DB Cargo AG (Chairman)
	 ◊	 DB Fernverkehr AG (Chairman)
	 ◊	 DB Regio AG (Chairman)
	 ◊	 DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  

Lebensversicherungsverein a. G.  
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

	 ◊	 DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  
Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a. G.  
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

b) 	 ◊	 DB Stiftung gGmbH (Advisory Board, Chairman)

D R .  D A N I E L A  G E R D  T O M  M A R K O T T E N
Digitalization and Technology,
Dallgow-Döberitz
a)	 ◊	 Schenker AG
	 ◊	 DB Fahrzeuginstandhaltung GmbH (Chairwoman)
	 ◊	 DB Systel GmbH (Chairwoman)
	 ◊	 DB Systemtechnik GmbH (Chairwoman)
	 ◊	 DEVK Rückversicherungs- und Beteiligungs-AG
	 ◊	 Vonovia SE
b)	 ◊	 DB broadband GmbH (Chairwoman)
	 ◊	 Hermann von Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft Deutscher  

Forschungszentren e. V./Deutsches Zentrum für Luft-  
und Raumfahrt (DLR) (Member of the Senate)

D R .   L E V I N  H O L L E
Finance and Logistics,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 Schenker AG (Chairman)
	 ◊	 DEVK Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG
b) 	 ◊	 �Arriva Limited, Sunderland/United Kingdom 

(until May 31, 2024; Chairman of the Board of Directors)
	 ◊	 BwConsulting GmbH (Advisory Board)

B E R T H O L D  H U B E R
Infrastructure,
Weilheim
a) 	 ◊	 DB InfraGO AG (Chairman)
	 ◊	 DEVK Allgemeine Lebensversicherungs-AG

∏
SUBSIDIARY  /  company and headquarters

Equity 
€ thousand 1) Investment (%)

SCHENKER s.r.o., Bratislava/Slovakia 10,029 100.00
Schenker Saudi Arabia LLC, Riyadh/Saudi Arabia 6,410 100.00
Schenker Schweiz AG, Zurich/Switzerland 85,264 100.00
Schenker Shared Services (Nanjing) Co. Ltd., Nanjing/China 4,848 100.00
Schenker Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore 474,080 100.00
Schenker South Africa (Pty) Ltd., Isando/South Africa 15,836 86.75
Schenker Sp. z o.o., Warsaw/Poland 111,574 99.70
SCHENKER spol. s r.o., Prague/Czech Republic 82,778 100.00
Schenker Technik GmbH, Essen 5,562 100.00
Schenker Technology Center (Warsaw) sp. z o.o.,  
Warsaw/Poland 4,491 100.00
Schenker Transitarios, S.A., Loures/Portugal 22,336 100.00
Schenker Transport Aktiebolag, Gothenburg/Sweden 1,973 100.00
Schenker Transport Groep B.V., Tilburg/the Netherlands 4,800 100.00
Schenker Vietnam Co., Ltd., Ho Chi Minh City/Vietnam 60,608 100.00
Schenker, Inc., New York/USA 692,499 100.00
Schenker-Arkas Nakliyat Ve Tic. A.S., Zincirlikuyu/Turkey 10,667 55.00
Schenkerocean Ltd, Wanchai/Hong Kong 755 100.00
Schenker-Seino Co. Ltd., Tokyo/Japan 66,597 60.00
SIA Schenker, Riga/Latvia 7,328 100.00
Sky Partners OÜ, Tallinn/Estonia 659 100.00
Skyraider Risk Retention Group, Inc., Charleston/USA 279 100.00
SW Zoll-Beratung GmbH, Furth im Wald 12,960 100.00
The Great Ocean Line Pte. Ltd, Singapore/Singapore 162 100.00
Trafikaktiebolaget NP Kagström, Gothenburg/Sweden 92 100.00
UAB “Schenker”, Vilnius/Lithuania 4,558 100.00
USA Truck Fleetco LLC, Van Buren/USA – 55,191 100.00
USA Truck Logistics LLC, Van Buren/USA 13,604 100.00
USA Truck, Inc., Van Buren/USA 170,505 100.00
USA Truck, LLC, Van Buren/USA 10,113 100.00
AT  EQ U I T Y

ADRIA KOMBI d.o.o., Ljubljana, Ljubljana/Slovenia 2), 3), 6) 13,446 33.72
ATS Air Transport Service AG, Zurich/Switzerland 2), 3) 1,706 26.00
Bäckebols Åkeri AB, Gothenburg/Sweden 2), 3), 6) 4,634 35.00
BTU – Bilspedition Transportörer Utvecklings AB,  
Solna/Sweden 2), 3) 1,513 50.00
Express Air Systems GmbH (EASY), Kriftel 2), 4) 3,943 50.00
Germans Corbalan &Alvarez, S.L.,  
Manresa (Barcelona)/Spain 2), 3) 1,954 20.00
I.M. “Moldromukrtrans” S.R.L., Chişinău/Moldova 2), 3), 6) 576 33.17
Les Triporteurs Montpellierains SAS,  
Montpellier/France 2), 4), 6) – 19 20.00
Les Triporteurs Parisiens SAS, Paris/France 2), 4), 6) 10 20.00
Les Triporteurs Rochelais SARL, La Rochelle/France 2), 4), 6) 39 30.00
Les Triporteurs Tourangeaux SARL, Tours/France 20.00
Mesa Technologies GmbH, Berlin 2), 3) 43 10.57
Trans Jelabel S.L., Aldeamayor de S Martin/Spain 2), 3) 1,316 20.00
Volla Eiendom AS, Oslo/Norway 2), 3) 1,356 50.00
1)	� IFRS data.
2)	� Disclosures comply with local accounting principles.
3)	� Data: 2023 financial year.
4)	� Data: 2022 financial year.
5)	� Data: 2021 financial year.
6)	� Preliminary data.
7)	� Data: 2018 financial year.
8)	� European Economic Interest Grouping without Capital  

in accordance with Regulation (EEC) No. 2137/85.
9)	� Consolidation is based on company law agreements, 
	 which gives DB Group control over the relevant activities.
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D R .  S I G R I D  N I K U T TA
Freight Transport,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 DB Cargo Polska S.A. (Chairwoman)
	  	 ◊	 Knorr-Bremse AG
b) 	 ◊	 DEVK Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG (Advisory Board)
	  	 ◊	 Deutsche Bank Ost (Advisory Board)
	  	 ◊	� Association of Berlin Merchants and Industrialists (VBKI)  

(Executive Board)
	  	 ◊	 Bielefeld University (University Council)
	  	 ◊	� German Institute for Economic Research (DIW)  

(Chairwoman, Board of Trustees)

E V E LY N  PA L L A
Regional Transport,
Vienna
a)	 ◊	 S-Bahn Berlin GmbH (Chairwoman)
	  	 ◊	 DB Systel GmbH (Chairwoman)
b) 	 ◊	 �Arriva Limited, Sunderland/United Kingdom  

(until May 31, 2024; Member of the Board of Directors)

D R .  M I C H A E L  P E T E R S O N
Long-Distance Passenger Transport,
Heidelberg
a)	 ◊	 DB Systel GmbH
	  	 ◊	 DB Vertrieb GmbH (Chairman)
b)	 ◊	 DB Bahn Italia S.r.l. (Chairman of the Board of Directors)

M A R T I N  S E I L E R
Human Resources and Legal Affairs,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 Schenker AG 
	  	 ◊	 DB Cargo AG
	 ◊	 DB Gastronomie GmbH (until July 26, 2024; Chairman)
	  	 ◊	 DB JobService GmbH (Chairman)
	  	 ◊	 DB Zeitarbeit GmbH (Chairman)
	  	 ◊	 DB Energie GmbH (Chairman)
	  	 ◊	� DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 

Lebensversicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

	  	 ◊	� DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  
Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a. G.  
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

b)	 ◊	 DB Stiftung gGmbH (Advisory Board)

Supervisory Board
W E R N E R  G AT Z E R
Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
Secretary of State (retired),
Teltow
b) 	 ◊	 �Foundation Remembrance, Responsibility and Future (EVZ) 

(Board of Trustees, Deputy Chairman)
	  	 ◊	 Fritz Thyssen Stiftung (Member of the Board of Trustees)
	  	 ◊	 DB Stiftung gGmbH (Advisory Board)

M A R T I N  B U R K E R T *
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
Chairman of the Eisenbahn- und Verkehrsgewerkschaft (EVG),
Nuremberg
a)	 ◊	 S-Bahn Berlin GmbH (Deputy Chairman)
	 ◊	 DB Regio AG (Deputy Chairman)
	 ◊	 DEVK Rückversicherungs- und Beteiligungs-AG (Chairman)
	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  

Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn (Chairman)

	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  
Lebensversicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn (Chairman)

R A L F  D A M D E *
Chairman of the Central Works Council of DB Regio AG,
Ensdorf/Saar
a)	 ◊	 DB Regio AG
	 ◊	 Sparda-Bank Südwest
b) 	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  

Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare organization of Deutsche Bahn  
(Advisory Board)

	 ◊	 Bahn-Sozialwerk (BSW) Foundation

S T E FA N  G E L B H A A R
Member of the German Parliament,
Berlin

A N J A  H A J D U K
Secretary of State in the Federal Ministry of Economic Affairs  
and Climate Action,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 Deutsche Investitions- und Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH (DEG)
	 ◊	 Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit  

(GIZ) GmbH

S U S A N N E  H E N C K E L
Secretary of State in the Federal Ministry of Transport  
and Digital Infrastructure,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 Flughafen Berlin Brandenburg GmbH
b)	 ◊	 Agora Transport Transformation gGmbH (Advisory Board)
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J Ö R G  H E N S E L*
Chairman of the General Works Council of DB Cargo AG 
(until October 31, 2024),
Chairman of the Works Council of DB Cargo business unit 
(until October 31, 2024),
Chairman of the European Works Council of DB AG,
Hamm
a)	 ◊	 DB Cargo AG
	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 

Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 
Lebensversicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

b)	 ◊	 DEVK Pensionsfonds-AG (Advisory Board)

N A D J A  H O U Y *  ( S I N C E  N O V E M B E R  1 ,  2 0 2 4 )
Deputy Chairwoman of the Works Council Group Management 
of Deutsche Bahn AG,
Steinbach
a) 	 ◊	 Sparda-Bank Baden-Württemberg eG

C O S I M A  I N G E N S C H AY *
Deputy Chairwoman of the Eisenbahn- und Verkehrsgewerkschaft 
(EVG),
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 DB Cargo AG (Deputy Chairwoman)
	 ◊	 DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  

Lebensversicherungsverein a. G.  
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 
Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

	 ◊	 DEVK Vermögensvorsorge- und Beteiligungs-AG  
(Chairwoman)

b)	 ◊	 Bahn-Sozialwerk (BSW) Foundation
	 ◊	 Eisenbahn-Waisenhort (EWH) Foundation

A L E X A N D E R  K A C Z M A R E K *
Group Representative for the Federal states of Berlin, Brandenburg, 
Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 S-Bahn Berlin GmbH
b)	 ◊	 Usedomer Bahn GmbH (Advisory Board, Deputy Chairman)
	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 

Lebensversicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn  
(Advisory Board)

P R O F.  D R .  S U S A N N E  K N O R R E
Management consultant,
Hanover
a)	 ◊	 Salzgitter AG
	 ◊	 Norddeutsche Landesbank
	 ◊	 Rain Carbon Germany GmbH

D O R O T H E E  M A R T I N 
Member of the German Parliament,
Hamburg
b)	 ◊	 Stiftung Freundeskreis (auxiliar Gesellschaft mbH)  

(Board of Trustees)
	 ◊	 HafenCity Universität Hamburg (University Council)

D A N I E L A  M AT T H E U S
Lawyer and management advisor,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 Commerzbank AG
	 ◊	 Jenoptik AG
	 ◊	 CEWE Stiftung&Co. KGaA
	 ◊	 Die Autobahn GmbH des Bundes

H E I K E  M O L L*
Chairwoman of the Group Works Council of Deutsche Bahn AG 
(since September 10, 2024),
Munich
a)	 ◊	 DEVK Allgemeine Versicherungs-AG 

M I C H A E L  P U S C H E L
Federal Ministry of Transport and Digital Infrastructure,
Head of the Federal Roads Department,
Nieder-Olm
a)	 ◊	 Die Autobahn GmbH des Bundes

D R .  I M M O  Q U E R N E R
Managing Partner of KoppaKontor GmbH,
Celle
a)	 ◊	 BÖAG Börsen AG (until April 30, 2024)
	 ◊	 �Athora Lebensversicherungs AG  

(since November 27, 2024; Chairman)
	 ◊	 Athora Pensionskasse AG (since November 27, 2024; Chairman)
b)	 ◊	 �Arriva Limited, Sunderland/United Kingdom 

(until May 31, 2024; Member of the Board of Directors)
	 ◊	 Assenagon Asset Management S.A. (Board of Directors)
	 ◊	 �Fund for the financing of nuclear waste disposal  

(KENFO; Chair of the Plant Advisory Board)
	 ◊	 Akinn Group SPF Sàrl/Luxembourg  

(Member of the Board of Directors)

B E R N D  R E U T H E R  ( U N T I L  N O V E M B E R  2 8 ,  2 0 2 4 )
Member of the German Parliament,
Wesel
a)	 ◊	 Toll Collect GmbH
b)	 ◊	 DeltaPort GmbH&Co. KG
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M A N F R E D  S C H O L Z E *
Chairman of the General Works Council of DB Fernverkehr AG,
Ebersbach-Neugersdorf
a)	 ◊	 DB Fernverkehr AG
b)	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 

Lebensversicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn  
(Advisory Board)

K L A U S - P E T E R  S C H Ö L Z K E *
Chairman of the Central Works Council of DB Regio AG,
Dresden

J E N S  S C H WA R Z *  ( U N T I L  O C T O B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4 )
Chairman of the Group Works Council of Deutsche Bahn AG 
(until September 10, 2024),
Chemnitz
a)	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 

Lebensversicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn 
(Deputy Chairman)

	 ◊	 �DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung 
Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a. G. 
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn

V E I T  S O B E K *
Project and program management expert at DB InfraGO AG,
Halberstadt
a)	 ◊	 Bundesbahn-Wohnungsbaugesellschaft Kassel GmbH  

(until June 30, 2024)
b)	 ◊	 DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung  

Lebensversicherungsverein a. G.  
Company welfare scheme of Deutsche Bahn  
(Advisory Board)

D R .  I R I N A  S O E F F K Y  ( S I N C E  D E C E M B E R  5 ,  2 0 2 4 )
Federal Ministry for Digital and Economic Affairs,  
National, European and International Digital Policy,
Berlin
a)	 ◊	 Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH

* 	 Employees’ representative on the Supervisory Board.

Supervisory Board committees
M E M B E R S  O F  T H E  E X E C U T I V E  C O M M I T T E E

	◊ Werner Gatzer (Chairman)
	◊ Martin Burkert
	◊ Susanne Henckel
	◊ Heike Moll

M E M B E R S  O F  T H E  A U D I T  A N D  C O M P L I A N C E  C O M M I T T E E
	◊ Dr. Immo Querner (Chairman)
	◊ Susanne Henckel
	◊ Jörg Hensel
	◊ Cosima Ingenschay

M E M B E R S  O F  T H E  P E R S O N N E L  C O M M I T T E E
	◊ Werner Gatzer (Chairman)
	◊ Martin Burkert
	◊ Susanne Henckel
	◊ Heike Moll

M E M B E R S  O F  T H E  M E D I AT I O N  C O M M I T T E E
	◊ Werner Gatzer (Chairman)
	◊ Martin Burkert
	◊ Susanne Henckel
	◊ Heike Moll

M E M B E R S  O F  T H E  I N F R A S T R U C T U R E  C O M M I T T E E
	◊ Werner Gatzer (Chairman)
	◊ Martin Burkert
	◊ Cosima Ingenschay
	◊ Prof. Dr. Susanne Knorre 
	◊ Heike Moll
	◊ Michael Puschel

Berlin, March 4, 2025

Deutsche Bahn Aktiengesellschaft
The Management Board
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To Deutsche Bahn Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Deutsche Bahn 
Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin, and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise 
the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024, the consolidated 
statement of income, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the financial year from January 1 to December 
31, 2024, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited 
the combined management report of the Company and the Group of 
Deutsche Bahn Aktiengesellschaft for the financial year from January 1 to 
December 31, 2024.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,
	◊ the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all 

material respects, with the IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) (hereinafter referred 
to as “IFRS Accounting Standards”) as adopted by the EU, and the ad-
ditional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 
315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code] and, in 
compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, and financial position of the Group as of December 
31, 2024, and of its financial performance for the financial year from 
January 1 to December 31, 2024, and

	◊ the accompanying combined management report as a whole provides 
an appropriate view of the Groupʼs position. In all material respects, 
this combined management report is consistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and 
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has 
not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consol-
idated financial statements and of the combined management report.

Basis for the Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of 
the combined management report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and 
the German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits 
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors 
in Germany] (IDW) and in supplementary compliance with the International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those requirements, 
principles and standards are further described in the “Auditorʼs Responsi-
bilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the 
Combined Management Report” section of our auditorʼs report. We are 
independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements of 
German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other 

German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements 
and on the combined management report.

Material Uncertainty about the Ability of a Significant 
Subsidiary to Continue as a Going Concern

Please refer to the information in the Section “Opportunity and risk man-
agement – Assessment of the risk situation in 2025” in the combined man-
agement report. There, management describes the risk that key assumptions 
underlying the liquidity planning at the significant subsidiary DB Cargo AG 
fail to materialize within the forecast period (in particular, if the transfor-
mation of DB Cargo cannot be successfully implemented or risks from eco-
nomic developments and the market environment materialize), resulting 
in a liquidity gap. As a result, there is a material uncertainty for DB Cargo AG 
that could cast significant doubt on the ability of DB Cargo AG to continue 
its business activities and which represents a risk that could affect the abil-
ity to continue as a going concern within the meaning of Section 322 (2) 
sentence 3 HGB.

Our opinions have not been modified with respect to this matter.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the following components of the 

combined management report, whose content was not audited:
	◊ statements on the effectiveness of the risk management system (RMS), 

the internal control system (ICS), the compliance management system 
(CMS) and the data protection management system (DPMS) described 
in the “Governance” section, as we obtain an understanding of these 
matters as part of our audit in order to plan audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on their effectiveness

	◊ the section “TCFD recommendations” in the combined management 
report as well as the statements on the compliance of the information 
contained in the combined management report with the TCFD recom-
mendations, which are identified by the symbol “TCFD”

	◊ the statement on corporate governance included in the “Corporate 
Governance Report” section of the combined management report ac-
cording to Clause 7.1 of the German Public Corporate Governance Code

	◊ other information extraneous to management reports and marked as 
unaudited.

The other information also includes the remaining parts of the integrated 
report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORʼS REPORT ∏
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The other information does not include the consolidated financial state-
ments, the combined management report information audited for content 
and our auditorʼs report thereon.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the com-
bined management report do not cover the other information, and conse-
quently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance con-
clusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in so doing, to consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments, with the information in the combined management report audited 
for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management Board and  
the Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Combined Management Report
The Management Board is responsible for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that comply, in all material respects, with IFRS Ac-
counting Standards as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements 
of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB and that the 
consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these requirements, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and fi-
nancial performance of the Group. In addition, the Management Board is 
responsible for such internal control as they have determined necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial 
reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Management 
Board is responsible for assessing the Groupʼs ability to continue as a going 
concern. It also has the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern. In addition, it is responsible for financial reporting 
based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alter-
native but to do so.

Furthermore, the Management Board is responsible for the preparation 
of the combined management report that, as a whole, provides an appro-
priate view of the Groupʼs position and is, in all material respects, consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal 
requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of 
future development. In addition, the Management Board is responsible for 
such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have considered nec-
essary to enable the preparation of a combined management report that 
is in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be 
able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the 
combined management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Groupʼs finan-
cial reporting process for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements and of the combined management report.

Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of  
the Consolidated Financial Statements and of  
the Combined Management Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the con-
solidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the combined manage-
ment report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Groupʼs position 
and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the 
German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities 
and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditorʼs report that 
includes our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
combined management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Section 317 HGB and in compli-
ance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement 
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) and in 
supplementary compliance with the ISAs will always detect a material mis-
statement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these con-
solidated financial statements and this combined management report.

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepti-
cism throughout the audit. We also:

	◊ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consoli-
dated financial statements and of the combined management report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not de-
tecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepre-
sentations, or the override of internal controls.

	◊ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements and of arrangements and measures 
relevant to the audit of the combined management report in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Groupʼs internal control or of these arrangements and measures.

	◊ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the Man-
agement Board and the reasonableness of estimates made by the Man-
agement Board and related disclosures.

	◊ Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management Boardʼs use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Groupʼs ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditorʼs report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the 
combined management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
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to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditorʼs report. How-
ever, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to be 
able to continue as a going concern.

	◊ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consol-
idated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give 
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and fi-
nancial performance of the Group in compliance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.

	◊ Plan and perform the audit of the consolidated financial statements to 
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business segments within the Group to 
provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated financial statements 
and on the combined management report. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our opinions.

	◊ Evaluate the consistency of the combined management report with 
the consolidated financial statements, its conformity with [German] 
law, and the view of the Groupʼs position it provides.

	◊ Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by 
the Management Board in the combined management report. On the 
basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, 
the significant assumptions used by the Management Board as a basis 
for the prospective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of 
the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express 
a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assump-
tions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future 
events will differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

Berlin, March 5, 2025	

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
[Original German version signed by:]

Salcher	 Rackwitz
Wirtschaftsprüfer 	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]	 [German Public Auditor]
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To Deutsche Bahn AG, Berlin

Limited Assurance Conclusion

We have performed a limited assurance engagement on the sections “To 
our stakeholders – Open stakeholder dialog”, “To our stakeholders – Char-
itable commitment by the Deutsche Bahn Foundation” and the sections 
indicated by arrows at the beginning ( ) and at the end ( ), additionally 
marked using grey font colour (hereinafter referred to as “selected sustain-
ability information”) of Deutsche Bahn AGʼs, Berlin (in the following referred 
to as “entity”) Integrated Report for the financial year from 1 January to 31 
Dezember 2024.

In addition, we performed a limited assurance engagement on the dis-
closures in the section “EU-Taxonomy” of Deutsche Bahn AGʼs Integrated 
Report for the financial year from 1 January to 31 Dezember of 2024.

Cross-references within the Integrated Report and references to the 
environmental brand “This is green” included in the selected sustainability 
information, as well as any information referred to by these references are 
not subject to our assurance engagement.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained, nothing 
has come to our attention to cause us to believe that 

	◊ the selected sustainability information for the period from 1 January to 
31 Dezember 2024 were not prepared, in all material respects, in accor-
dance with the applicable Sustainability Reporting Standards of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (hereinafter “GRI-criteria”), and

	◊ the disclosures in the section “EU-Taxonomy” information for the pe-
riod from 1 January to 31 Dezember 2024 were not prepared, in all ma-
terial respects, in accordance with Article 8 of the Regulation (EU) 
2020/852 and the delegated acts adopted for this purpose (hereinafter 
“EU-Taxonomy”)

Our conclusion does not extend to cross-references within the Integrated 
Report and references to the environmental brand “This is green” included 
in the selected sustainability information, as well as any information referred 
to by these references. 

Basis for conclusion

We conducted our engagement in accordance with International Standard 
on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements 
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by 
the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB). 

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in 
nature and timing from, and are less in extent than for, a reasonable assur-
ance engagement. Consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a lim-
ited assurance engagement is substantially lower than the assurance that 
would have been obtained had a reasonable assurance engagement been 
performed. 

Our responsibilities under ISAE 3000 (Revised) are further described in the 
section “German Public Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Assurance En-
gagement on the selected sustainability information”.

We are independent in accordance with the independence requirements 
of European law and German commercial and professional law and we have 
fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. Our firm applies the IDW Standard on Quality Manage-
ment: Requirements for Quality Management in Audit Firms (IDW QMS 1 
(09.2022)), issued by the Institute of Public Auditors. We believe that the 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our conclusion.

Responsibilities of the Executive Directors  
and the Supervisory Board for the selected  
sustainability information 
The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of the selected 
sustainability information in accordance with the GRI-criteria and are re-
sponsible for the preparation of the disclosures in the section “EU-Taxon-
omy” in accordance with the EU-Taxonomy and for designing, implement-
ing and maintaining such internal control that they have considered 
necessary to enable the preparation of the selected sustainability informa-
tion and the disclosures in the section “EU-Taxonomy” in accordance with 
these requirements that is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud (i.e., fraudulent reporting of the selected sustainability) or error.

This responsibility of the executive directors includes the selection and 
application of suitable methods to prepare the selected sustainability in-
formation, and the disclosures in the section “EU-Taxonomy”, as well as 
making assumptions and estimates and ascertaining forward-looking infor-
mation for individual sustainability-related disclosures.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process for the 
preparation of the selected sustainability information and the disclosures 
in the section “EU-Taxonomy”. 

German Public Auditorʼs Responsibilities  
for the Assurance Engagement on the selected  
sustainability information
Our objective is to express a limited assurance conclusion, based on the 
assurance engagement we have conducted, on whether any matters have 
come to our attention that cause us to believe that the selected sustain-
ability information have not been prepared, in all material respects, in ac-
cordance with the GRI-criteria and the disclosures in the section “EU-Tax-
onomy” have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance 
with the EU-Taxonomy, and to issue an assurance report that includes our 
assurance conclusion on the selected sustainability information and the 
disclosures in the section “EU-Taxonomy”. 

ASSURANCE REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT GERMAN  
PUBLIC AUDITOR ON A LIMITED ASSURANCE ENGAGEMENT  
ON SELECTED SUSTAINABILITY INFORMATION OF  
DEUTSCHE BAHN AGʼS INTEGRATED REPORT 2024 

∏
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As part of a limited assurance engagement in accordance with ISAE 3000 
(Revised), we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism. We also:

	◊ obtain an understanding of the process used to prepare the selected 
sustainability information. 

	◊ identify disclosures where a material misstatement due to fraud or er-
ror is likely to arise, design and perform procedures to address these 
disclosures and obtain limited assurance to support the assurance con-
clusion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting a material misstate-
ment resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, in-
tentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal 
control.

	◊ consider the forward-looking information, including the appropriate-
ness of the underlying assumptions. There is a substantial unavoidable 
risk that future events will differ materially from the forward-looking 
information.

Summary of the Procedures Performed  
by the German Public Auditor

A limited assurance engagement involves the performance of procedures 
to obtain evidence about the selected sustainability information and the 
disclosures in the section “EU-Taxonomy”. The nature, timing and extent 
of the selected procedures are subject to our professional judgment.

In performing our limited assurance engagement, we:
	◊ evaluated the suitability of the criteria as a whole presented by the 

executive directors in the selected sustainability information and the 
disclosures in the section “EU-Taxonomy”.

	◊ inquired of the executive directors and relevant employees involved in 
the preparation of the selected sustainability information and the dis-
closures in the section “EU-Taxonomy” about the preparation process 
and about the internal controls relating to this process.

	◊ evaluated the methodologies used by the executive directors to prepare 
the selected sustainability information

	◊ evaluated the reasonableness of the estimates and related information 
provided by the executive directors. 

	◊ performed analytical procedures and made inquiries in relation to the 
selected sustainability information.

	◊ considered the presentation of the selected sustainability information.
	◊ considered the process for identifying taxonomy-eligible and taxonomy-

aligned economic activities and the corresponding disclosures in the 
section “EU-Taxonomy” 

Clause on General Engagement Term

This assurance report is solely addressed to the Deutsche Bahn AG, Berlin 
and intended exclusively for them. 

The engagement, in the performance of which we have provided the 
services described above on behalf of Deutsche Bahn AG, Berlin was carried 
out on the basis of the General Engagement Terms for Wirtschaftsprüfer-
innen, Wirtschaftsprüfer und Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften (Allge-
meine Auftragsbedingungen für Wirtschaftsprüferinnen, Wirtschaftsprüfer 
und Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften) dated as of 1 January 2017 (www.
kpmg.de/AAB_2017). By taking note of and using the information as con-
tained in our report each recipient confirms to have taken note of the terms 
and conditions stipulated in the aforementioned General Engagement Terms 
(including the liability limitations to EUR 4 Mio in item No. 9 included 
therein) and acknowledges their validity in relation to us.

Berlin, 19 March 2025

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Knorr	 Säuberlich
Wirtschaftsprüfer	 Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]	 [German Public Auditor]
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GRI STANDARD Page(s)

Omission

Requirement(s) 
omitted Reason Explanation

General disclosures
GRI 2: GENERAL DISCLOSURES 2021

1. �THE ORGANIZATION AND ITS REPORTING PRACTICES

2-1	 Organizational details 37–38, 234–236, 
283–287

2-2	� Entities included in the organizationʼs  
sustainability reporting

43–45, 234–236, 
283–287

2-3	� Reporting period, frequency and contact point 43–45, 312
2-4	 Restatements of information 120, 236–237
2-5	 External assurance 29, 43–45, 292–296
2. ACTIVITIES AND WORKERS

2-6	� Activities, value chain and other business  
relationships

38–40, 120–121,  
134–136

2-7 	 Employees 101, 102–103,  
107–109, 115,  
115–116, 116, 140, 
143, 146, 150, 154, 
158, 161, 171, 174, 
176, 179

b. ii, b. iii. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated  
and processed for all companies.

2-8 	 Workers who are not employees – a., b., c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated  
and processed for all companies. With regard to vocational  
trainees, dual students, interns and external temporary 
agency workers, the report covers DB Group in Germany.

3. GOVERNANCE

2-9 	 Governance structure and composition 37–38, 212–214,  
287–290

c. iii. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Disclosures about the terms of office are planned for future  
reporting years.

2-10 	� Nomination and selection of the highest  
governance body

212–214, 288–290

2-11 	 Chair of the highest governance body 212–214

2-12 	� Role of the highest governance body in overseeing 
the management of impacts

40–43

2-13 	� Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts 40–43, 200–201, 
201–204, 212–214

2-14 	� Role of the highest governance body  
in sustainability reporting

29 a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

A more detailed description of the procedure for review and  
approval is planned for future reporting years.

2-15 	 Conflicts of interest 212–214
2-16 	 Communication of critical concerns 26–29
2-17 	� Collective knowledge of the highest  

governance body
– a. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

Issues relating to the relevant training of Supervisory Board 
members will be addressed as part of the developing legal  
framework for sustainability reporting in Germany.

2-18 	� Evaluation of the performance of the highest  
governance body

215 a., b., c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

No efficiency review conducted in 2024. A more detailed  
description of the procedure for reviewing efficiency is planned 
for the next financial year.

2-19 	 Remuneration policies 41–42, 215–218
2-20 	 Process to determine remuneration 215–218
2-21 	 Annual total compensation ratio – a., b., c. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated and 
processed for all companies.

GLOBAL REPORTING INITIATIVE 
(GRI) INDEX

Statement of use DB Group has reported in accordance with the GRI Standards for the period from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2024.
GRI 1 used GRI 1: Foundation 2021
Applicable GRI Sector Standard(s) None				 
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GRI STANDARD Page(s)

Omission

Requirement(s) 
omitted Reason Explanation

4. STRATEGY, POLICIES AND PRACTICES

2-22 	� Statement on sustainable development strategy 22–24
2-23 	� Policy commitments 135–136, 195,  

200–201, 201,  
201–203, 203–204, 
204–206

2-24 	 Embedding policy commitments 120–121, 200–201, 
201–204, 204–206

2-25 	 Processes to remediate negative impacts 204, 204–206 d., e. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

A more detailed description of the procedures for reviewing  
the effectiveness and involvement of stakeholders is planned  
for future reporting years. 

2-26 	� Mechanisms for seeking advice and  
raising concerns

204, 204–206

2-27 	 Compliance with laws and regulations 52, 191–192,  
192–193,  
201–203, 204

a., b., c., d. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information system not yet available.  
In development.

2-28 	 Membership associations 30, 33
5. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

2-29	 Approach to stakeholder engagement 30–33
2-30	 Collective bargaining agreements 106, 107, 219 a., b. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated  
and processed for all companies. For the Group companies 
within DB Group (excluding discontinued operations) in  
Germany, the basic principle is that the employment conditions 
of employees not subject to collective bargaining agreements 
and executives are not governed by collective bargaining  
agreements. Nevertheless, the remuneration of the vast major-
ity of employees not subject to collective bargaining agreements 
is based on the highest pay under collective bargaining agree-
ments. In addition, DB Group ensures that the employment  
conditions of employees both subject to and not subject to  
collective bargaining agreements as well as executives are com-
patible with one another with respect to personnel policy.

Material topics
GRI 3: MATERIAL TOPICS 2021

3-1 	 Process to determine material topics 30–33, 40–43,  
44–41, 186–196

3-2	 List of material topics 44
Capacity and service expansion
3-3 	 Management of material topics 57–58, 58, 64, 65, 68
GRI 201: ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE 2016

201-1	� Direct economic value generated and distributed 118, 121–124,  
126–129, 226, 231, 
232–233

201-2 	� Financial implications and other risks  
and opportunities due to climate change

79–81, 195–196 a. v. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Costs for managing climate-related opportunities and risks  
are set out in various items of the statement of income in  
the reporting. However, they have not yet been combined  
under this aspect.

201-3 	 Defined benefit plan obligations and  
		  other retirement plans

263–266 e. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

The coverage of employees is described qualitatively, but no 
quantitative level of participation is reported.

201-4 	 Financial assistance received from government 36, 37–38, 46–51, 
57–58, 87–89,  
130–132, 131,  
278–281

GRI 203: INDIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACTS 2016	

203-1 	� Infrastructure investments and  
services supported

57–58, 130–132, 
277–278

203-2 	 Significant indirect economic impacts 53–58
Corporate management and compliance
3-3 	 Management of material topics 201, 201–203,  

203–204
GRI 205: ANTI-CORRUPTION 2016

205-1 	� Operations assessed for risks related to corruption 186–189, 201–203 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Quantitative survey in accordance with requirements is  
not material from a DB Group perspective and is therefore  
disproportionate. Within a three-year cycle, all Group  
companies with operating activities must be examined for  
corruption risk. Compliance risks must be reported annually  
at the level of the business units.
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205-2 	� Communication and training about anti-corruption  
policies and procedures

135–136, 201–203, 
203–204

a., b., c., d., e. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Quantitative survey in accordance with requirements is  
not material from a DB Group perspective and is therefore  
disproportionate. Communication and training on anti- 
corruption are described in “Compliance instruments.”  
Upon conclusion of the contract, suppliers are informed  
of and obliged to meet anti-corruption requirements.

205-3 	� Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken 201–203, 203–204
GRI 206: ANTI-COMPETITIVE BEHAVIOR 2016

206-1 	� Legal proceedings due to anti-competitive behavior,  
anti-trust and monopoly practices

52 b. Not applicable No completed proceedings during the reporting period.

Sustainable resource use
3-3 	 Management of material topics 30–33, 83–87
GRI 301: MATERIALS 2016

301-1	 Materials used by weight or volume 83–84, 84–85 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

According to the material flow analysis conducted in 2021,  
the materials used in the track infrastructure (rail steel,  
gravel, concrete ties) are the main resources of DB Group. The 
materiality of additional resources is checked continuously.

301-2 	 Recycled input materials used 83–84, 84–85 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

According to the material flow analysis conducted in 2021,  
the materials used in the track infrastructure (rail steel,  
gravel, concrete ties) are the main resources of DB Group. The 
materiality of additional resources is checked continuously.

301-3 	� Reclaimed products and their packaging materials 83–84, 84–85 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

According to the material flow analysis conducted in 2021,  
the materials used in the track infrastructure (rail steel,  
gravel, concrete ties) are the main resources of DB Group. The 
materiality of additional resources is checked continuously.

GRI 306: WASTE 2020

306-1 	� Waste generated and significant waste-related impacts 85–87
306-2 	� Management of significant waste-related impacts 85–87

306-3 	 Waste generated 85–87
306-4 	 Waste diverted from disposal 85–87 b., c., d. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

The data on “Preparation for reuse” is not collected by  
DB Group or by the commissioned disposal companies  
because it is not currently part of the waste law system. 

306-5 	 Waste directed to disposal 85–87 b., c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

DB Cargo AG is the only part of the DB Cargo AG business unit  
included. The extent to which the data can be collected in the  
medium term is being examined.

Environmental pollution
3-3 	 Management of material topics 30–33, 89–90 a. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

The impact of water and air pollution is not yet tracked  
across the Group.

b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

To date: Internal list of the consequences of environmental  
pollution (air, water) on the environment.

d. ii. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

To date: No complaints procedure or elimination of actual  
negative impacts regarding environmental pollution.

e. iv. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

No Group-wide information available to underpin a learning  
process enabling the improvement of key performance  
indicators.

GRI 303: WATER AND EFFLUENTS 2018

303-1	 Interactions with water as a shared resource 87 a., b., c., d. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot be reported in a meaningful way due to  
linear structure of the infrastructure.

303-2	 Management of water discharge-related impacts – a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the complex 
business structure.

303-3	 Water withdrawal 87 a., b., c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the complex 
business structure.

303-4	 Water discharge – a., b., c., d., e. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the complex 
business structure.

303-5	 Water consumption

87

a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Water usage is reported in cubic meters.

b., c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the complex 
business structure.
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GRI 305: EMISSIONS 2016

		  >  see material topic “Climate protection”
Biodiversity
3-3 	 Management of material topics 81–83 a., e. iii.–iv., f. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported in full 
as the biodiversity strategy is still being developed.

GRI 304: BIODIVERSITY 2016

304-1	� Operational sites owned, leased, managed in,  
or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high  
biodiversity value outside protected areas

– a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot be meaningfully reported  
due to linear infrastructure.

304-2	� Significant impacts of activities, products and  
services on biodiversity

– a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the complex 
business structure.

304-3	 Habitats protected or restored 81–83 a., b., c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the complex 
business structure.

304-4	� IUCN Red List species and national conservation list 
species with habitats in areas affected by operations

– a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the complex 
business structure.

Climate protection
3-3 	 Management of material topics 30–33, 73–81,  

142, 149, 157–158, 
169–170, 173–175, 
195–196

GRI 305: EMISSIONS 2016

305-1 	 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 75–77 c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

In accordance with the GHG Protocol (Corporate Standard),  
direct biogenic CO₂ emissions are not reported in Scope 1 but  
can be reported separately. A corresponding expansion is 
planned for the mid-term.

d. ii Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

The information cannot currently be reported for DB Group as  
the data required for Group-wide statistics and documentation 
is not available centrally.

305-2 	 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 73–75, 75–77 d. ii Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

The information cannot currently be reported for DB Group as 
the data required for Group-wide statistics and documentation  
is not available centrally.

305-3	 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions 73–75, 75–77 c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

The measurement process and the measurement itself are  
not yet available at the time of reporting, but an extension is 
planned in the mid-term.

e. ii. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

The information cannot currently be reported for DB Group as 
the data required for Group-wide statistics and documentation  
is not available centrally.

305-4 	 GHG emissions intensity 75–77
305-5 	 Reduction of GHG emissions 73–75, 75–77 a., b., c., d. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

No quantitative disclosures were available at the time of  
reporting. In addition to qualitative disclosures, quantitative
disclosures will also be reported in the mid-term.

305-6 	 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) – a., b., c., d. Not applicable Where used, refrigerants are used in such small quantities  
that materiality is not given.

305-7	� Nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx)  
and other significant air emissions

89–90

GRI 302: ENERGY 2016 

302-1 	 Energy consumption within the organization 77, 78–79 b., c., d. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Most of the data is available; the entire set of key figures and  
the corresponding data collection will be adapted or expanded 
as part of CSRD implementation.

302-2 	 Energy consumption outside the organization 75–77, 78–79 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Most of the data is available; the entire set of key figures and  
the corresponding data collection will be adapted or expanded  
as part of CSRD implementation.

302-3 	 Energy intensity 78–79
302-4 	 Reduction of energy consumption 75–77, 78–79 a., b., c. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

No quantitative disclosures were available at the time of data 
collection. In addition to qualitative disclosures, quantitative 
disclosures will also be reported in the mid-term.

302-5 	� Reductions in energy requirements of  
products and services 78–79
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Own employees
3-3	 Management of material topics 30–33, 37–38,  

38–40, 98, 98–100, 
106–113, 115–116

GRI 401: EMPLOYMENT 2016

401-1	 New employee hires and employee turnover 98, 101, 102–103, 
115, 116

a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated  
and processed for all companies. The current reporting covers  
DB Group in Germany.

401-2	� Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not  
provided to temporary or part-time employees

106–113 a., b. Not applicable For the Group companies within DB Group (excluding discon
tinued operations) in Germany, the principle is that there  
are no differences among part-time or fixed-term employees. 
The differences that exist with certain offers result from  
factual reasons arising in the case of fixed-term or part-time 
 employment.

401-3 Parental leave 107–109 a., b., c., d., e. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside of Germany have a central data  
warehouse to consolidate and process the individual data from 
the different companies. All employees in Germany are entitled 
to parental leave allowance in accordance with the legal frame-
work (in particular the Federal Parental Allowance and Parental 
Leave Act). The key performance indicators for b. to d. are pre-
sented for the employees of DB Group (excluding discontinued 
operations) in Germany.

GRI 403: OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 2018

403-1	 Occupational health and safety management system 40–43, 98–100, 
110–113, 186–189, 
200–201, 204–206

a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed.

403-2	� Hazard identification, risk assessment,  
and incident investigation

110–113 a., b., c., d. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed.

403-3	 Occupational health services 110–113 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed. 

403-4	� Worker participation, consultation, and  
communication on occupational health and safety

110–113 a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed. 

403-5	 Worker training on occupational health and safety 110–113 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed.

403-6	 Promotion of worker health 110–113 a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed. 

403-7	� Prevention and mitigation of occupational  
health and safety impacts directly linked by  
business relationships

110–113, 204–206 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed. 

403-8	� Workers covered by an occupational health  
and safety management system

110–113 a., b., c. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed.

403-9	 Work-related injuries 110–113 a., b., c., d.,  
e., f., g.

Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations). In accordance with  
statutory provisions in Germany, occupational accidents are  
reported and provided to the statutory accident insurance com-
pany within three calendar days of the accident becoming 
known. The relevant statutory accident insurance provider is  
responsible for determining the damage and regulating the 
costs of the accident. Statistically, only fatal work accidents and 
not serious work accidents are reported or recorded.

403-10	Work-related ill health 110–113 a., b. c., d., e. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
from all companies can be consolidated and processed. There  
is no monitoring of work-related illnesses. Data on occupational  
illnesses that make up a portion of the work-related illnesses is 
held by the accident insurance company.
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GRI 404: TRAINING AND EDUCATION 2016

404-1	 Average hours of training per year per employee 104–105 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated and 
processed for all companies. This year, this indicator is initially 
presented for employees in DB Group (excluding discontinued  
operations) in Germany.

404-2	� Programs for upgrading employee skills and  
transition assistance programs

69, 98–100,  
101–106, 114–115, 
155–156, 201–203, 
208

a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

This year, this information is presented for DB Group in Germany 
(excluding discontinued operations), as not all individual data 
can be consolidated and processed for all companies.
Re a.: The disclosures relate to the services of the internal  
training service providers, DB Training for employees and  
DB Academy for the target group of executives, as well as  
centrally managed programs for in-service training, with a  
focus on Germany in each case.
Re b.: In Germany, leaving the workforce to go into retirement
or by giving notice of termination of employment is regulated  
by law in order to protect and support employees. With employer-
financed contributions to the DEVK pension fund, DB Group  
offers a pension scheme to supplement the statutory pension for 
the period after retirement. DB Group offers additional programs 
to provide transitional support for those leaving the workforce, 
e.g. via the Bahn-Sozialwerk (retirement support).

404-3	� Percentage of employees receiving regular  
performance and career development reviews

105 a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated and 
processed for all companies. All employees and executives  
of DB Group (excluding discontinued operations) in Germany  
receive annual feedback on their performance. The penetration 
rate is 95%. The variation from 100% is due to special cases  
such as sick employees and executives.

GRI 405: DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 2016

405-1	 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 98, 98–100,  
107–109, 114–115, 
143, 150, 158,  
171, 176

a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated and 
processed for all companies. The current reporting covers  
DB Group in Germany. 

405-2	� Ratio of basic salary and remuneration  
of women to men

– a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Not all companies outside Germany have a data warehouse, 
meaning that the individual data cannot be consolidated  
and processed for all companies. The collective bargaining 
agreements, works council agreements and other DB Group  
regulations on employment conditions are fundamentally  
gender-neutral. Job evaluations and remuneration levels are 
based exclusively on the requirements of the respective  
activity, not on the personal characteristics of the candidates.

GRI 406: NON-DISCRIMINATION 2016

406-1	� Incidents of discrimination and corrective  
actions taken

113, 204 a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

The information cannot currently be reported for DB Group as 
the data required for Group-wide statistics and documentation  
is not available centrally. We implement the requirements of  
the LkSG.

Health and safety in the supply chain
3-3	 Management of material topics 30–33, 111–113, 

204–206
a. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information regarding the actual negative impacts is not  
available in the level of detail requested. The LkSG risk analysis 
records human rights risks in the supply chain. Actual negative 
impacts can be recorded individually via the complaints  
procedure. Negative impacts on the economy are not recorded. 
Positive impacts on the economy, environment and people are 
also not currently recorded.

b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Due to the complex supplier landscape, information regarding 
the actual negative impacts of the Groupʼs activities or business 
relationships is not available in the level of detail requested. The 
LkSG risk analysis records human rights risks in the supply chain. 
Actual negative impacts can, at best, be identified in individual 
cases via the complaints procedure, which allows a description 
of specific activities or business relationships.
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GRI 403: OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY 2018

		  >  see “Own employees” key topic
GRI 414: SUPPLIER SOCIAL ASSESSMENT 2016

414-1	 New suppliers that were screened using social criteria – a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

There is no pre-screening of new suppliers.

414-2	� Negative social impacts in the supply chain  
and actions taken

135–136, 204–206 b., d., e. Restrictions due  
to a confidentiality 
obligation

Such cases are investigated and covered by the LkSG processes, 
risk analysis, the complaints procedures and preventive and  
remedial measures in the supply chain. However, for confidenti-
ality and data protection reasons, the exact number of cases  
is not stated here.

Noise reduction
3-3	 Management of material topics 30–33, 87–89 a. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

The impact on the economy, the environment and human 
rights cannot be quantified or does not apply. Measures to  
protect people from noise are described and are implemented  
in the form of voluntary or statutory requirements.

GRI 413: LOCAL COMMUNITIES 2016

413-1 	� Operations with local community engagement, impact 
assessments, and development programs

32, 87–89

413-2 	� Operations with significant actual and potential  
negative impacts on local communities

87–89

Customer safety
3-3	 Management of material topics 69–71 b. Information  

unavailable/ 
incomplete

Security in this respect is to be understood as measures to  
prevent criminal acts. It does not refer to technical or product- 
related safety. Through its activities and business relationships, 
DB Group is not involved in negative impacts on security as  
defined above. In particular, DB Group does not cause any  
security risks as a result of its activities.
Positive impacts on customer security mean that there is no  
risk to customer security. Positive impacts do not require any 
measures in this case.

Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

d.iii

GRI 410: SECURITY PRACTICES 2016

410-1 	� Security personnel trained in human rights policies  
or procedures

69

GRI 416: CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY 2016

416-1 	� Assessment of the health and safety impacts  
of product and service categories

– a. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the  
complex business structure.

416-2 	� Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health  
and safety impacts of products and services

– a., b. Information  
unavailable/ 
incomplete

Information cannot currently be reported due to the  
complex business structure.

Product quality, customer benefit and  
customer information
3-3	 Management of material topics 59, 59–64, 63–64 
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE- 
RELATED FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURES (TCFD) INDEX
DB Group supports the recommendations of the TCFD on reporting climate- 
related information. In this Integrated Report, we publish content recom-
mended by the TCFD at various points.

The index table shows in which chapters and sub-chapters relevant topics 
can be found. The table is broken down according to the TCFD recommen-
dations into the four core areas of governance, strategy, risk management,
as well as key figures and targets.

TCFD RECOMMENDED DISCLOSURES Page 1)

G O V E R N A N C E

Disclose the organizationʼs governance around 
climate-related risks and opportunities.

a. �	Describe the Boardʼs oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities. 40–43, 53–58, 186–189, 192–193
b.� �	Describe managementʼs role in assessing and managing climate-related risks  

and opportunities. 30–32, 40–42
S T R AT E G Y

Disclose the actual and potential impacts of  
climate-related risks and opportunities  
on the organizationʼs businesses, strategy  
and financial planning.

a. �	Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities the organization has identified  
	over the short, medium and long term. 79–81, 186–189, 195–196

b. �	Describe the impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on the organizationʼs 
	businesses, strategy and financial planning.

48, 53–54, 56–57, 72, 73–79, 79–81, 
186–189, 195–196

c.	� Describe the resilience of the organizationʼs strategy, taking into consideration different  
climate-related scenarios, including a 2 ° C or lower scenario. 53, 54–57, 72, 73–79, 189–196

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T

Disclose how the organization identifies,  
assesses and manages climate-related risks.

a. 	Describe the organizationʼs processes for identifying and assessing climate-related risks. 73–79, 186–189, 189–196
b. 	Describe the organizationʼs processes for managing climate-related risks. 189–196
c. �	�Describe how processes for identifying, assessing and managing climate-related risks  

are integrated into the organizationʼs overall risk management. 186–189, 189–196
M E T R I C S  A N D  TA R G E T S

Disclose the metrics and targets used to  
assess and manage relevant climate-related  
risks and opportunities.

a. �	Disclose the metrics used by the organization to assess climate-related risks and  
	opportunities in line with its strategy and risk management process. 40–43, 54–57, 72, 79–81, 110, 141

b. �	Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2 and, if appropriate, Scope 3 greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions,  
	and the related risks. 55–56, 72, 73–77, 306

c. �	Describe the targets used by the organization to manage climate-related risks and  
	opportunities and performance against targets. 54–57, 72, 73–79

1)	 Page references refer to the chapters and sections in the report containing TCFD-relevant information.

UN GLOBAL COMPACT INDEX
The UN Global Compact is the largest and most important initiative in the 
world for responsible corporate management. Upon joining the UN Global 
Compact in 2009, DB Group made a commitment to support its ten principles, 
and regularly reports on its activities and services in a Communication on 
Progress.

Page

H U M A N  R I G H T S

Principle 1	 Support and respect for international human rights 33–34, 43–52, 134–136, 204–206 
Principle 2 	 Exclusion of human rights abuses 134-136, 204-206
L A B O R  S TA N D A R D S

Principle 3 �����	 Preserving freedom of association and law on collective bargaining 98–116, 204–206
Principle 4 	 Elimination of all forms of forced labor 134–136, 204–206
Principle 5 	 Elimination of child labor 134–136, 204–206
Principle 6 	 Elimination of discrimination 43–52, 98–116, 204–206
E N V I R O N M E N TA L  P R O T E C T I O N

Principle 7 	 Preventive environmental protection 30–33, 40–58, 72–97, 173–176
Principle 8 	 Initiative for greater environmental awareness 30–33, 40–58, 72–97, 142, 149, 157–158, 169–170, 173–175
Principle 9 	 Development and dissemination of eco-friendly technologies 30–33, 40–43, 53–58, 72–97, 134–136, 141–142, 148–149, 156–157, 167–169, 173–175
A N T I - C O R R U P T I O N

Principle 10 	 Measures against corruption 30–33, 134–136, 200–206
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	 A
Accessibility

Understood as universal design, meaning a design of  
products, environments, programs and services in such  
a way that they can be used by all people. Accessibility  
at stations covers a wide range of aspects, from infor­
mation and service to structural design. The overarching 
objective is to dismantle all settings-based and environ­
mental barriers that prevent passengers from participating 
fully, effectively and equally in the rail system.

Airborne pollutants

Natural substances or airborne substances caused by human 
activities which may have a detrimental effect on the  
environment. Examples of airborne pollutants caused by 
combustion are soot particles, nitric oxides, hydrocarbons 
(reported as non-methane hydrocarbon) or sulfur dioxide.

Artificial intelligence (AI)

AI systems in the context of this common understanding 
are IT systems that evolve to fulfill their requirements 
through machine learning by continuously increasing their 
database with the aim of detecting patterns and drawing 
conclusions in order to prepare decisions for people.  
Generative AI systems are a sub-type of AI systems. They 
are characterized by the fact that they can be used to  
generate new content (e.g. texts or images). 

	 B
Biofuel

Fuel that is produced from biomass and is a climate- 
friendly alternative compared to conventional diesel.  
Biofuels that are produced exclusively from waste  
and residues and without the use of cultivated biomass  
are also known as advanced biofuels. HVO (hydrotreated 
vegetable oil) is an example of an advanced biofuel. 

Bond

Interest-bearing security used to borrow funds on  
the capital market. Helps mid-term to long-term debt  
financing by companies.

Bus kilometers (bus km)

The journey of a bus over a distance of 1 km.

	 C
Capital employed

Includes property, plant and equipment (including  
intangible assets) and net current assets.

Circular economy

A circular economy aims to reduce waste to a minimum  
and to use resources for as long as possible. Accordingly, 
circular systems employ reuse, sharing, repair, refur­
bishment, reprocessing and recycling to create a closed 
system. This enables the product life cycle to be sus­
tainably extended.

Climate

The entirety of meteorological events (e.g. temperature, 
precipitation, wind), which describe the average condition 
of the atmosphere at a certain location for a duration of  
at least 30 years.

Climate neutrality

DB Groupʼs understanding of climate neutrality is based on 
the net zero standard of the Science Based Targets initia­
tive (SBTi) and thus on an established standard. DB Group 
follows the principle of “avoid, reduce, neutralize.” This 
means reducing all greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 – 3) 
for which it is technically possible and economically rea­
sonable to do so and neutralizing the remaining emissions. 
According to the net zero standard, a maximum of 10%  
of emissions may be neutralized, i.e. removed from the  
atmosphere and permanently bound using technical or 
natural solutions. DB Groupʼs ambitious reduction path is 
compatible with the objective of limiting global warming  
to 1.5 ° C by 2040 (1.5 ° C compliant path).

Combined transport

Combined transport of containers or entire trucks on rail 
and road.

Comfort-relevant components

Train facilities that improve the comfort of passengers  
on board, e.g. air-conditioning, galley (on-board restau­
rant facilities), toilet facilities.

Commercial paper program (CP program)

Contractual framework or model documentation for the  
issue of short-term commercial papers.

Compass index

Measures the implementation of the “Compass for Strong 
Teamwork” principles at DB Group. It is a key indicator  
for the transformation of the organization as part of the 
Strong Rail strategy. It is collected annually as part of the 
employee survey and the culture barometer (since 2021). 

Compliance

An important component of corporate governance. This  
is understood as compliance with laws and directives, as 
well as voluntary codes of conduct in the company.

Condition grade

The condition of individual facilities is assessed on the  
basis of selected characteristics using a continual grading 
scale from 1.0 to 5.99. Each grade directly corresponds  
to a rating from “as good as new” to “poor.” The condition 
grades of individual facilities can be aggregated using a 
calculation logic to create an overall grade for any network 
section. For example, this makes it possible to compare 
lines, corridors or facilities classes with each other and 
prioritize them in terms of the measures required.

Contracting organizations

In Germany, the Federal states are responsible for ordering 
regional rail passenger transport services from transport 
companies. This is carried out by a total of 27 different 
contracting organizations. Public road passenger transport 
(including buses, trams and subways) is assigned to the 
municipal level in the Federal states. As a general principle, 
the ordering function is fulfilled by the districts or inde­
pendent municipalities. 

Costs of capital

Based on fair values as a weighted average of risk-adequate 
market returns for the minimum return requirement  
calculated for debt and equity capital. 

Credit facilities

Credit facilities granted by banks which can be utilized  
if necessary. These are firm commitments of credit lines  
with different maturities, some of which serve as liquidity 
reserves that are available at all times, while the “umbrella 
credit lines” are available in particular to foreign subsid­
iaries for working capital financing and as a guarantee line.

Credit rating

Credit rating assigned by rating agencies that affects a 
companyʼs refinancing options and costs.

Culture barometer

Germany-wide random sample survey in the Integrated 
Rail System in Germany. Short, compact and digital tool as 
a supplementary format in the years between the more 
comprehensive employee survey. The focus of the survey is 
the compass index, which measures corporate culture in 
relation to the “Compass for Strong Teamwork.”

GLOSSARY
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Customer satisfaction

Satisfaction of customers and partners with a product/ 
offer or service, surveyed on a representative basis and 
evaluated by independent market research institutes by 
telephone, in person or online on behalf of DB Group. This 
is given as a standardized grade on a satisfaction scale  
of 1 (very satisfied) to 6 (very dissatisfied). The actual 
surveys are business-specific and therefore in some cases 
uses difference scales. For example, DB Cargo uses a scale 
of 5 (very satisfied) to 1 (very dissatisfied) to ensure  
clarity for DB Cargo customers in other European countries. 
Customer satisfaction is managed internally using the  
satisfaction index (SI). This ensures the comparability of 
customer satisfaction figures from different survey  
types and enables a more precise control of developments 
for individual customer satisfaction issues.

	 D
Data protection

Data protection is a basic right. Data protection describes 
protection against the improper processing of personal 
data and protection of the right to data autonomy. 

Debt coverage

Key financial indicator that describes the relationship  
between the companyʼs current financial power and its  
financial obligations (adjusted net financial debt).

Debt issuance program

Contractual framework or sample documentation for  
the issuance of bonds. This guarantees a high degree of 
flexibility in issue activity.

Derivative financial instruments (derivatives)

Financial instruments, the price or value of which depends 
on the future rates or prices of other goods, assets or ref­
erence values (interest rates, indices). These are contracts 
in which the contracting parties agree to buy, sell or swap 
assets at specified conditions in the future, or alternatively 
to make value equalization payments.

Diversity

Refers to the variation within the workforce with regard  
to gender, ethnicity and social background, age, religion,  
sexual orientation and identity, as well as physical and 
mental ability. Diversity also encompasses employeesʼ  
variety of perspectives, values, professional experience 
and skills.

Do No Significant Harm criteria (DNSH criteria)

Requirements of the EU taxonomy, the fulfillment of which 
excludes significant impairment of the environmental  
objectives of the European Union.

	 E
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)

Operating profit/loss before interest and tax.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization (EBITDA)

Operating profit/loss before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization.

Eco Management Audit Scheme (EMAS)

System for environmental management and audit scheme 
developed by the European Union for organizations  
that want to improve their environmental performance.

Eco-power

Electricity generated from renewable energy sources.

Ecosystem (digital)

Ecosystems are networks of partners who work on  
common (or competing) value-added chains for a value 
proposition. In partnership-based value chains, the  
value created exceeds the sum of the isolated value-added 
chains, e.g. through a simple and better customer  
experience or increased efficiency in production.

Electricity mix

Composition of electricity by type of energy generation 
(e.g. renewable energies, gas, coal and others).

Employee satisfaction index (SI)

As part of the Group-wide employee survey conducted  
every two years, the index is calculated using questions 
about motivation, job satisfaction and (emotional)  
loyalty to the company on a scale of 1 to 5 (best possible 
value).

Employee survey

The employee survey has been conducted within DB Group 
every two years since 2012. The aim of the employee  
survey is to give the individual Board divisions, the business 
units and the entire DB Group an assessment of various  
organizational and cultural framework conditions. Another 
objective of the survey is the subsequent improvement  
processes, which are triggered by the discussion of the  
results.

Equity method/at-equity accounting

Procedures for the accounting of subsidiaries which are 
not included in the consolidated financial statements  
on the basis of full consolidation with all assets and liabili­
ties. The carrying amount of the holding is adjusted by  
the development of the pro rata equity in the holding.

Equity ratio

Key financial indicator based on the balance sheet  
structure: proportion of equity in the balance sheet  
total as a percentage.

ESG rating 

Assessment of sustainability, for example of a company. 
The degree of sustainability is assessed on the basis 
of the fulfillment of environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) criteria.

European Train Control System (ETCS)

Train control system through which the interaction  
between the vehicle and the line is standardized across  
Europe. The migration to ETCS affects vehicles and  
lines. ETCS offers a modular system of functions, clustered  
in levels and operating modes, the use of which depends  
on the rules and use cases of the respective infrastructure.

EU taxonomy

Uniform classification system for sustainable economic  
activities that can be assigned to the six environmental  
objectives of the taxonomy (climate change mitigation,  
climate change adaptation, sustainable use and protection 
of water and marine resources, transition to a circular 
economy, pollution prevention and control, and protection 
and restoration of ecosystems and biodiversity).

Existing network

Existing rail network and therefore core of the infrastructure.

	 F
Facilities in need of renewal 

Facilities with a condition grade of 4 or worse.

Fast-track program (Schnellläuferprogramm; SLP)

Economic stimulus program of the Federal Government,  
DB Group and the industry for the renewal of signaling,  
interlocking and level crossing technology within a very 
short time. 

Final energy

The energy form for which an end consumer receives  
an invoice, for example the quantity of fuel added, or  
the traction current obtained.

Floating rate notes (FRN)

Bonds with variable interest rates.
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Full-time equivalent

For better comparability, the employee figures are  
converted into full-time equivalents (FTE). Figures  
for part-time employees are included on the basis  
of their share of the regular annual working hours.

	 G
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)

An international organization committed to the distribution 
and improvement of sustainability reporting. The GRI 
standards are regarded as the most widely used and inter­
nationally recognized sustainability reporting standard. 

Global warming potential (GWP) 

The global warming potential of a chemical compound with 
an impact on the climate, such as methane, describes the 
relative warming effect on the Earthʼs atmosphere typically 
over a period of 100 years. The dimensionless figure  
describes the number of times a greenhouse gas contributes 
to global warming in comparison with CO₂. In the case of 
methane, for example, this is 28 times. The relevant status 
reports of the IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change) are decisive in this regard.

Greenhouse gas emissions (CO₂ equivalents (CO₂e))

Emissions of trace gases that contribute to the greenhouse 
effect on Earth. According to the Kyoto Protocol and GHG 
Protocol, this includes the following compounds: carbon  
dioxide (CO₂), methane (CH₄), nitrous oxide (N₂O), partly 
halogenated hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HFCs), perfluoro­
carbons (PFC), sulfur hexafluoride (SF₆) and nitrogen  
trifluoride (NF₃). The CO₂ equivalent (unit: CO₂e) is used 
as a measure of the relative contribution to the green­
house effect. In international standards, this is also referred 
to as GWP (global warming potential).

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol

Globally recognized framework for defining standards for 
the quantification and management of greenhouse gas 
emissions. 

Gross capital expenditures

Total capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets – irrespective of the type of financing.

Gross profit

Amount of revenues remaining after deduction of  
the variable (= revenue-related) costs or direct  
(= contract-related) costs.

	 H
High-performance network

Germanyʼs highly utilized network, which will gradually  
undergo general modernization and special maintenance 
measures by 2030 to significantly improve reliability,  
performance capability and the customer experience on 
this network. 

HVO (hydrotreated vegetable oil)

HVO (hydrotreated vegetable oil) is an example of an  
advanced biofuel. 

Hybrid bonds

A corporate bond which, under certain conditions, is 
counted as equity within the scope of IFRS accounting  
regulation. Hybrid bonds usually have very long maturities 
or no fixed redemption dates, but may be terminated by  
the issuer following expiry of a predefined minimum term. 

	 I
IFRS  16

An accounting rule of the International Accounting  
Standards Board (IASB) which, since 2019, has obligated 
companies preparing balance sheets in accordance with 
IFRS to record all lease agreements with a contract term of 
more than one year in their balance sheets. 

Infrastructure-related delays

A delay between two neighboring travel time measuring 
points or a delay occurring at the starting station of  
the train is referred to as an additional delay. Additional 
delays of 90 seconds or more are coded according to  
the list of causes. One lost unit corresponds to one coded 
delay notification. 

Interest-free loans

Loans from the Federal Government that have to be  
repaid but that are not interest-bearing. These result from  
financing contributions from the Federal Republic of  
Germany for capital expenditures for track expansion  
and replacement.

Intermodal competition

Competition between different modes of transport,  
for example between rail and air transport.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Internationally recognized accounting standards. Since 
2002, IFRS has been regarded as the overall concept  
of standards adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. Previously adopted standards are  
still cited as International Accounting Standards (IAS).

Interoperability (multisystem capability)

The ability of rolling stock to adapt to different technical 
standards (for example track gauges or power systems)  
so as to run as consistently as possible between different 
rail networks of individual countries.

Investment grants

Financing contributions from third parties in specified 
capital expenditure projects without future repayment  
requirements.

	 K
K brake shoe

Brake shoe made from composite materials (K); see also  
V brake shoe.

	 L
Law for the expansion of renewable energies

The Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare- 
Energien-Gesetz; EEG) is a Federal law to promote the 
supply of electricity from renewable energies.

LL brake shoe

Brake shoe made from composite materials (LL: low noise, 
low friction); see also V brake shoe.

Load factor/capacity utilization

Load factor describes the share of the capacity used  
by production equipment (for example train, bus) as a  
proportion of the total available capacity. In addition, 
the capacity utilization of lines describes the ratios of  
capacity usage and supply between two operating points.

Local transport

Transport services with regional and S-Bahn (metro) 
trains (DB products Interregio-Express (IRE), RB, RE and 
S-Bahn (metro)), buses, trams and subways as well as 
on-demand services.

Long-distance transport

DB transport services using the ICE and Intercity/Eurocity 
products. Also includes services from non-Group train  
operating companies.

Lost time injury frequency (LTIF)

Describes the relationship between accident frequency 
and hours actually worked based on one million working 
hours. 
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Lost unit

A lost unit (LU) is a punctuality-relevant delay to a train 
run involving a delay of 90 seconds or more. Each case  
constitutes a lost unit, meaning that several lost units can 
be created during a single journey.

	 M
Means of transport

In a broad sense, means of transport are any technical  
or organizational facilities that help passengers and goods 
to undertake journeys through changes in location.

Minimum safeguards (EU taxonomy)

Minimum principles in the areas of human rights,  
compliance, competition and taxation prescribed by  
the EU taxonomy.

Mode of transport

The type of route, for example road or rail. Modes of  
transport include the transport infrastructure that must be 
available for a specific transport or means of transport  
so that a transport service can be provided.

	 N
Net capital expenditures

Gross capital expenditures less investment grants from 
third parties, e.g. for infrastructure capital expenditures.

Net financial debt

Balance of interest-bearing external liabilities and  
finance lease liabilities as well as cash and cash  
equivalents and interest-bearing external receivables.

Nettable plan assets

Assets that are offset against gross pension obligations  
in the balance sheet. 

Net zero standard

The net zero standard of the Science Based Target initiative 
(SBTi) is the worldʼs leading framework for defining  
climate protection targets for companies. It includes 
guidelines, criteria and recommendations on defining  
science-based targets that are consistent with limiting  
the global temperature increase to 1.5 °C.

Noise

Noise which disturbs people and the environment or 
which, in extreme cases, is damaging to health.

Noise barrier

Installation of active noise protection on rail tracks, 
mostly made from materials such as aluminum, wood,  
concrete or wire baskets filled with stones (gabions). 

Noise reduction

Noise reduction through active measures at the source 
(e.g. brake shoes made of composite materials on  
freight wagons, known as whisper brakes) and to stop the  
spread of noise (e.g. noise barriers), as well as passive  
noise remediation measures (e.g. soundproof windows).

Noise prevention

Noise remediation measures on new and expansion lines 
based on legal claims. 

Noise remediation program

Voluntary program of the Federal Government imple­
mented by DB Group to reduce the noise on existing  
Federal rail lines.

	 O
On-demand services

Services that are provided to the customer when they  
need and request them. 

Operating leases

Off-balance-sheet financial instruments: leased or  
rented assets.

Operating income after interest

Key profit figure that also takes financing costs into  
account for a sustainable assessment of profits  
(particularly relevant in the infrastructure business 
fields). In comparison with EBIT, the operating  
interest balance is therefore also taken into account.

Other parts of the network next to the high-performance 

network

Part of the rail network that is not part of the  
high-performance network.

	 P
Passenger kilometers (pkm)

Unit of measurement for volume sold in passenger trans­
port: product of the number of passengers transported and 
the average travel distance. 

Personnel expense ratio

Performance indicator that measures the share of  
personnel expenses in the total value-added of a company 
and shows what proportion of the companyʼs resources  
are used for personnel expenses. It is calculated by com­
paring personnel expenses with the sum of revenues  
and internally produced and capitalized assets. 

Primary energy

Energy which is available in its original energy form  
or source, such as coal, natural gas, sun, wind and nuclear 
fuel.

Procurement volume

Net total of all order values from individual orders and 
batches from framework contracts that were concluded by 
the respective product areas.

Punctuality (operational)

Proportion of on-time stops in relation to all stops along
and at the end of lines in Germany. A stop is considered  
operationally punctual if the scheduled arrival time is  
exceeded by less than six minutes in passenger transport 
or by less than 16 minutes in freight transport. At DB  
Regional Rail, punctuality has been reported since 2024 
on a third-weighted basis between S-Bahn (metro)  
alternating current, S-Bahn (metro) direct current and  
DB Regional Rail without S-Bahn (metro). At DB Regional 
Road, buses that leave more than one minute early have 
also been counted as unpunctual with retroactive effect 
since 2020. For the arrival time punctuality of passengers, 
see punctuality (whole journey).

Punctuality (whole journey)

Passenger punctuality records the punctuality of the  
arrival time of all passengers throughout the entire 
long-distance transport travel chain. As with other means  
of transport, the threshold is 14:59 minutes compared  
to the planned arrival time.

	 Q
Quality of facilities

To ensure maintenance funds are used according to  
demand and to assess improvements stemming  
from implemented measures, the condition of structural  
and technical facilities is subject to periodic and  
event-based evaluations.

	 R
Renewable energies

Renewable energies are obtained from sources that  
renew themselves in the short term or whose use does 
not contribute to the depletion of the source. These  
include water, wind and sunlight.

308

Back on track To our stakeholders Combined management report Consolidated financial statements Additional information

Glossary



Requirement plan

New construction and expansion projects set out in the 
Federal Governmentʼs Transport Infrastructure Plan.

Resource

Aid, fund, reserve, raw material. 

Restricted speed section

Section of a line on which a different speed must be driven 
temporarily. This includes restricted speed sections in  
response to defects and officially ordered restricted speed 
sections.

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

Key performance indicator for value-based management. 
Corresponds to the yield on capital employed. Describes the 
percentage ratio of (adjusted) EBIT to the capital employed.

	 S
Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi)

The Science Based Targets initiative (SBTi) is a partner­
ship between the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP),  
the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC), the World  
Resources Institute (WRI) and the World Wide Fund  
for Nature (WWF). It defines methods for setting science-
based targets in line with the latest climate science  
and identifies and promotes best practices for emissions  
reduction and net zero climate targets.

Scope of consolidation

Subsidiaries of a group which are included in the  
consolidated financial statements.

Scope 1 – 3 (according to GHG protocol)

As part of carbon accounting based on the Greenhouse  
Gas (GHG) Protocol, emissions are divided into three scopes. 
For DB Group: Scope 1 = greenhouse gas emissions from 
our own assets (e.g. diesel-powered vehicles or stationary 
facilities for generating heat from natural gas), Scope 2 = 
purchased energy (electricity, district heating and cooling 
supply), Scope 3 = third-party emissions from business  
relationships, e.g. transport services provided by our sub­
contractors (commissioned transports) or purchased 
goods and services. We report the main transport-related 
emissions in Scope 3 due to our business model.

Senior bond

Bond which, in the event of insolvency, is serviced before 
other issued bonds of the same company with a lower  
rank (e.g. hybrid bonds) and therefore offers a higher 
level of security, but also a lower interest rate.

Sickness rate

Shows the share of labor that is lost due to illness  
in relation to overall labor and therefore only includes  
employees who are still paid a salary.

Specific

Relative to a certain (reference) parameter, e.g. based on 
the volume sold.

Stakeholders

Persons or organizations that are affected or influenced  
by the activities of a company. These include customers,  
suppliers, employees, investors and society as a whole.

Starting punctuality

Proportion of departures at starting stations with a  
deviation of less than six minutes. 

Stationary facilities

Buildings and facilities such as depots and stations.

Station pricing system

Transparent and non-discriminatory category pricing  
system for the use of passenger stations by customers  
depending on the respective transport segment and the 
train stops made.

Supplier engagement target

This target measures the proportion of Scope 3 emissions 
in categories 1 and 2 caused by suppliers of DB Group  
that have their own science-based climate targets. We aim 
to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions within our  
supply chain by engaging and collaborating with suppliers.

Supply chain

The stages of production presented as an orderly sequence 
of activities. These activities add value, consume resources 
and are connected with each other in processes.

Supply reliability

Measure of the reliability of the energy supply. Can also  
be used for sub-areas such as security of the energy supply 
in Germany or the energy supply of rail operations.

Sustainability

Guiding principle of reconciling ecological, social and  
economic objectives for sustainable and generationally 
equitable development.

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 

Political targets set by the United Nations with a view  
to ensuring sustainable development on an economic,  
social and environmental level. The goals took effect on 
January 1, 2016, and will run until 2030, and apply  
to all member states.

Swap

The basic concept for financial instruments that involve 
the exchange of future cash flows. This allows financial 
risks (interest, currencies, raw materials) to be hedged in 
a targeted manner.

	 T
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) 

The Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures  
is an initiative founded in 2015 to develop recommen­
dations for the reporting of material financial opportunities 
and risks arising from climate change for companies.  
With the publication of the 2023 Status Report on October 
12, 2023, the TCFD fulfilled its remit, disbanded and 
transferred the monitoring of the progress of companiesʼ 
climate-related disclosures to the non-profit International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Foundation from 
2024 onward. The recommendations of the TCFD remain 
in force. 

Ton kilometers (tkm)

Unit of measurement for the volume sold in freight transport: 
product of the freight carried (tons) and the distance  
traveled (kilometers).

Traction

Propulsion to move trains. Depending on the energy 
source, drive machine and power transmission, a distinction 
is made between electrical, diesel-electric and diesel-  
hydroelectric traction, among other things. Multiple units 
that, in addition to electric traction, also have diesel- 
assisted traction are also referred to as hybrid vehicles.

Traction current

Electric drive power supplied by DB Energy to intra-Group 
train operating companies in Germany.

Traction current grid

The DB traction current grid, as a nationwide rail infrastruc­
ture, provides traction current to multiple units at a  
frequency of 16.7 hertz. The traction current grid consists 
of the 110 kV power grid, transformers and converters, 
and the substations in which the electrical energy is stepped 
down to the voltage of 15 kV required to operate the  
train and fed into the 15 kV overhead wires running along 
the train tracks. The network operator is DB Energy.

Traction current mix

Composition of the traction current for all train operating 
companies in Germany supplied by DB Energy and other 
suppliers through the traction current grid.
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I N V E S T O R  R E L AT I O N S  A N D  S U S TA I N A B L E  F I N A N C E
Deutsche Bahn AG
Investor Relations and Sustainable Finance
Potsdamer Platz 2
10785 Berlin 
Germany
Phone: +49 (0)30 297 6 40 31
E-mail: ir@deutschebahn.com
Internet: www.deutschebahn.com/ir-e

This Integrated Report and the Annual Financial Statements of Deutsche 
Bahn AG, the Annual Reports of DB Fernverkehr AG, DB Regio AG, DB Cargo 
AG and DB InfraGO (only available in German) as well as up-to-date infor-
mation are also available on the Internet.

This Integrated Report is published in German and English.
The 2024 Integrated Report was published on March 27, 

2025 (editorial deadline: March 5, 2025) and is available online 
at db.de/ib-e.

C O R P O R AT E  C O M M U N I C AT I O N S
��Deutsche Bahn AG
Corporate Communications
Potsdamer Platz 2
10785 Berlin 
Germany
Phone: +49 (0)30 297 610 30
E-mail: presse@deutschebahn.com
Internet: www.deutschebahn.com/en/presse

D B  S E R V I C E  N U M B E R
DB Group provides its passenger transport customers in 
Germany with all telephone information at local rates. A 
hotline provides information about timetables, tickets and 
the BahnCard, and navigates passengers in a targeted way 
to the service team. 

	◊ DB service number: +49 (0)30 2970. Information about fares and time-
tables, information about Deutsche Bahn services and the BahnCard.

	◊ Mobility service number: +49 (0)30 652 128 88. Contact for planning 
accessible travel.

	◊ Passenger rights service center: +49 (0)30 586 020 920. Information 
on fare reimbursements under the EU Regulation on Rail Passengerʼs 
Rights and Obligations. 

	◊ Lost and found: +49 (0)30 586 020 909. For reporting lost or found 
items on the train or at the station. Customers can find answers to fre-
quently asked questions and other ways to contact us at bahn.com/
en/contact. 

S O C I A L  M E D I A
DB Group
DB Group has an extensive presence on various social media channels: Face-
book, Instagram, YouTube, LinkedIn, Xing, TikTok, X (formerly Twitter), 
Threads and Bluesky.

Passenger transport
Our passenger transport communications team is also available on various 
social media channels for conversations, discussions, and service and product 
questions. Find us on Facebook, Instagram, YouTube, WhatsApp, LinkedIn, 
Threads and BlueSky. 
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July 31, 2025 
Interim Results Press Conference,
publication of the Integrated Interim Report January — June 2025

March 26, 2026
Annual Results Press Conference,
publication of the 2025 Integrated Report

Paper from certified sustainable production. 
The printing company is certified according to FSC® 
and PEFC standards. Each year, suitable audits are 
performed to review compliance with the strict rules 
in place for handling certified paper.

Mineral oil-free inks.
This report was printed using mineral oil-free inks  
derived from renewable raw materials.

Conserving resources. 
Using no-process printing plates saves on development, 
cleaning and rubberizing after exposure. Chemicals and 
fresh water are no longer used to wash the printing 
plates and power consumption is reduced.

Energy-efficient printing.
An energy management strategy has been imple-
mented at the printing company and an energy audit 
was carried out in accordance with DIN EN 16247-1.
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�€ million 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

S TAT E M E N T  O F  I N C O M E

Revenues 26,203 26,087 52,085 47,075 39,901 44,430 44,065 42,693 40,557 40,403
Overall performance 30,342 29,552 56,200 50,959 43,465 47,596 47,156 45,593 43,298 43,102
Other operating income 5,764 3,028 4,157 5,901 3,439 3,030 2,998 2,954 2,834 2,772
Cost of materials – 12,997 – 12,662 – 32,017 – 28,419 – 22,757 – 22,262 – 22,258 – 21,457 – 20,101 – 20,208
Personnel expenses – 16,622 – 15,400 – 18,288 – 19,219 – 18,297 – 18,152 – 17,301 – 16,665 – 15,876 – 15,599
Depreciation 1) – 3,218 – 3,124 – 3,576 – 3,804 – 5,372 – 3,671 – 2,688 – 2,847 – 3,017 – 4,471
Other operating expenses 1) – 3,903 – 3,732 – 5,037 – 5,716 – 5,235 – 5,157 – 6,088 – 5,890 – 5,677 – 5,750
Operating profit/loss (EBIT) – 634 – 2,338 1,439 – 298 – 4,757 1,384 1,819 1,688 1,461 – 154
Result from investments accounted  
for using the equity method 13 8 – 7 – 10 – 21 – 12 12 14 33 22
Other financial result 24 31 9 48 – 91 – 36 – 14 – 30 – 16 0
Net interest income 1) – 770 – 555 – 351 – 528 – 615 – 655 – 645 – 704 – 772 – 800
Profit/loss before taxes on income – 1,367 – 2,854 1,090 – 788 – 5,484 681 1,172 968 706 – 932
Net profit/loss for the year – 764 – 2,351 – 227 – 911 – 5,707 680 542 765 716 – 1,311
Dividend payment (for previous year) – 650 – – 650 650 450 600 850 700
VA L U E  M A N A G E M E N T

EBITDA adjusted 1) 2,943 882 4,783 2,287 1,002 5,436 4,739 4,930 4,797 4,778
EBIT adjusted – 333 – 2,180 1,225 – 1,552 – 2,903 1,837 2,111 2,152 1,946 1,759
Capital employed as of Dec 31 1) 52,166 48,300 45,289 43,020 41,764 42,999 36,657 35,093 33,066 33,459
Return on capital employed (ROCE) 1) (%) – 0.6 – 4.5 2.7 – 3.6 – 7.0 4.3 5.8 6.1 5.9 5.3
Debt coverage (%) 6.0 0.8 11.8 4.3 0.8 15.3 17.6 18.7 18.1 19.0
C A S H  F L O W/ C A P I TA L  E X P E N D I T U R E S

Cash flow from operating activities 1) 4,567 3,044 5,644 3,900 1,420 3,278 3,371 2,329 3,648 3,489
Gross capital expenditures 1) 18,247 15,917 15,098 15,387 14,402 13,093 11,205 10,464 9,510 9,344
DB-financed net capital expenditures 1), 2) 5,944 5,341 6,524 6,342 5,886 5,646 3,996 3,740 3,320 3,866
B A L A N C E  S H E E T  A S  O F  D E C  3 1

Non-current assets 1) 61,300 60,966 59,044 56,149 52,964 53,213 46,646 45,625 45,290 45,199
	� thereof property, plant and equipment  

and intangible assets 1) 57,423 56,856 55,122 52,487 49,994 50,485 44,487 43,207 42,575 42,821
Current assets 22,598 16,506 17,259 15,694 12,471 12,615 11,881 10,811 11,034 10,860
	� thereof cash and cash equivalents 4,170 2,631 5,138 4,591 3,411 3,993 3,544 3,397 4,450 4,549
Equity 17,203 12,126 14,679 10,621 7,270 14,927 13,592 14,238 12,657 13,445
	 Equity ratio 1) (%) 20.5 15.6 19.2 14.8 11.1 22.7 23.2 25.2 22.5 24.0
Non-current liabilities 1) 41,629 42,369 39,145 39,631 37,686 32,820 29,104 27,510 28,525 28,091
	� thereof financial debt 1) 33,330 33,971 31,186 30,322 27,070 23,977 20,626 19,716 20,042 19,753
	� thereof pension obligations 3,318 3,492 2,970 5,031 6,517 5,354 4,823 3,940 4,522 3,688
Current liabilities 25,066 22,977 22,479 21,591 20,479 18,081 15,831 14,688 15,142 14,523
	� thereof financial debt 1) 4,793 4,137 4,087 4,164 6,254 4,716 2,618 2,360 2,439 2,675
Net financial debt 1) 32,574 33,953 28,827 29,107 29,345 24,175 19,549 18,623 17,624 17,491
Total assets 1) 83,898 77,472 76,303 71,843 65,435 65,828 58,527 56,436 56,324 56,059
R A I L  T R A N S P O R T  P E R F O R M A N C E  F I G U R E S

PA S S E N G E R  T R A N S P O RT

Passengers (million) 1,867 1,837 1,737 1,413 1,499 2,603 2,581 2,564 2,365 2,251
	 Long-distance transport 133 140 132 82 81 151 148 142 139 132
	� Regional transport 1,733 1,697 1,605 1,331 1,418 2,452 2,433 2,422 2,226 2,119
Volume sold (million pkm) 84,707 82,943 76,475 50,831 51,933 98,402 97,707 95,854 91,651 88,636
	 Long-distance transport 44,106 45,459 41,720 24,762 23,542 44,151 42,827 40,548 39,516 36,975
	� Regional transport 40,601 37,485 34,754 26,069 28,391 54,251 54,880 55,306 52,135 51,661
F R E IG H T  T R A N S P O RT

Freight carried (million t) 179.8 197.6 222.3 226.5 213.1 232.0 255.5 271.0 277.4 300.2
Volume sold (million tkm) 68,545 74,458 84,468 84,850 78,670 85,005 88,237 92,651 94,698 98,445
I N F R A S T R U CT U R E

Train kilometers on track infrastructure  
(million train-path km) 1,103 1,118 1,133 1,109 1,066 1,090 1,086 1,073 1,068 1,054
	� thereof non-Group railways 449 438 420 414 386 368 349 331 322 290
S O C I A L

Employees as of Dec 31 (FTE) 225,560 219,713 286,077 323,716 322,768 323,944 318,528 310,935 306,368 297,202
Employee satisfaction (SI) 3.8 – 3.9 – 3.9 – 3.7 – 3.7 –
G R E E N  T R A N S F O R M AT I O N

Absolute CO₂e emissions compared to 2019 3) (%)
	 Scope 1 and 2 emissions – 19.2 – 11.7 – – – – – – – –
	 Scope 3 emissions 4) – 17.0 + 8.2 – – – – – – – –

The comparability of the key figures is partially limited due to the implemented and planned portfolio changes (sale of DB Arriva and planned sale of DB Schenker). 
Individual figures are rounded and therefore may not add up.
1)	��� Since 2019, limited comparability with the previous years’ figures due to the IFRS 16 effect.
2)	� Excluding additional equity increases by the Federal Governmentadditional equity increases by the Federal Governmentµ 46 f. 46 f. for infrastructure financing.
3)	�� Includes DB Fahrzeuginstandhaltung GmbH from the Subsidiaries/Other area and DB Cargo AG and foreign subsidiaries without their stationary facilities of DB Cargo. 
4)	 Includes the material Scope 3 categories 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4 and 3.11. 
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https://kpi.deutschebahn.com/en/10-year-summary
https://ibir.deutschebahn.com/2023/en/additional-information/download-center/


Deutsche Bahn AG  
Potsdamer Platz 2
10785 Berlin
Germany

www.deutschebahn.com


	Deutsche Bahn 2024 Integrated Report
	About this report
	At a glance
	Contents
	Back on track
	Back on track with S3
	Turning the tide in infrastructure
	Significant improvement in quality of operations
	Significant increase in efficiency
	We are focusing on a new travel experience by 2027

	To our stakeholders
	Chairman’s letter
	The Management Board of Deutsche Bahn AG
	Report of the Supervisory Board
	Meetings of the Supervisory Board
	Meetings of the Supervisory Board
	Meetings of the Supervisory Board committees
	Corporate governance
	Annual financial statements
	Changes to the Supervisory Board and Management Board

	Open stakeholder dialog
	Clear guidelines for stakeholder dialog
	Dialog with policymakers and the public
	Dialog on sustainability
	Dialog with the DB Passenger Advisory Board
	Industry initiative: Capacity Round Table
	Memberships in sustainability networks

	Charitable commitment by the Deutsche Bahn Foundation
	Education
	Integration
	Volunteering
	DB Museum


	Combined management report
	Overview
	Important events

	DB Group
	Organizational structure
	Business model
	Sustainability management

	Fundamentals
	Sustainability reporting
	Development of business environment
	Legal topics

	Strategy
	Our inner ambition
	Back on track with the S3 restructuring program
	Our mid- and long-term targets
	Capacity expansion for a strong rail system

	Product quality and digitalization
	The customer is at the center of our actions
	Digitalization and technology
	Group security

	Green Transformation
	Green transformation of DB Group
	Climate protection
	Nature conservation
	Resource conservation
	Noise reduction
	Further disclosures
	EU taxonomy

	Employees
	Management approach and targets
	Talent acquisition
	Qualification, leadership and transformation
	Work of the future
	Other employee key figures

	Business development
	Business environment
	Income situation
	Financial position
	Key economic performance indicators
	Asset situation
	Procurement

	Development of business units
	Developments in the relevant markets
	DB Long-Distance business unit
	DB Regional business unit
	DB Cargo business unit
	DB InfraGO business unit
	DB Energy business unit
	Subsidiaries/Other

	Deutsche Bahn AG (HGB)
	DB AG as the parent company of DB Group
	Number and structure of employees (DB AG)
	ncome situation, financial positionand asset situation (HGB)
	Opportunity and risk report (DB AG)
	Management Board’s report on relationshipswith affiliated companies
	Outlook (DB AG)

	Opportunity and risk report
	Opportunity and risk management within DB Group
	Opportunity and risk categories

	Governance
	Service and financial relationships within DB Group
	Regulations within DB Group
	Compliance
	Human rights
	Data protection
	Corporate governance report

	Events after the balance sheet date
	Collective bargaining with Railway and Transport Workers Union (EVG) concluded
	Repayment of hybrid bond announced

	Outlook
	Overall statement of the Management Boardregarding economic development
	Future direction of DB Group
	Economic outlook
	Transport markets
	Procurement markets
	Financial markets
	General framework
	Development of DB Group


	Consolidated financial statements
	Consolidated statement of income
	Reconciliation of consolidated comprehensive income
	Consolidated balance sheet
	Assets
	Equity and liabilities

	Consolidated statement of cash flows
	Consolidated statement of changes in equity
	Notes to the consolidated financial statements
	Segment information
	Information by regions
	Basic principles and methods
	Notes to the balance sheet
	Notes to the statement of cash flows
	Notes to the segment information
	Risk management and derivative financial instruments
	Additional disclosures relating to the financial instruments
	Other disclosures


	Additional information
	Independent auditorʼs report
	Opinions
	Basis for the Opinions
	Material Uncertainty about the Ability of a Significant Subsidiary to Continue as a Going Concern
	Other Information
	Responsibilities of the Management Board andthe Supervisory Board for the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Combined Management Report
	Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined Management Report

	Assurance report of the independent German
	Limited Assurance Conclusion
	Basis for conclusion
	Responsibilities of the Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board for the selected sustainability information
	German Public Auditorʼs Responsibilitiesfor the Assurance Engagement on the selected sustainability information
	Summary of the Procedures Performed by the German Public Auditor
	Clause on General Engagement Term

	Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Index
	UN Global Compact index
	Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) index
	Glossary
	List of abbreviations
	Contact information
	Financial calendar

	10-year-summary
	www.deutschebahn.com


	Seite: 
	Zurück auf Kurs: 
	WInfo: 
	Stakeholder: 
	ZLB: 
	KA: 
	IVZ: 
	Suche: 
	vorhAnsicht: 
	vorhSeite: 
	näSeite: 
	Mail: 


